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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

In this brief, Appellant Michael J. Knecht will be referred to as “Knecht” 

and Appellees Gayle Evridge and Linda Evridge will be referred to as “Evridges.” 

Citations to the certified record as reflected by the Clerk’s Index are 

designated as “R” followed by the initial page number.  Citations to the 2015 trial 

transcript are designated as “TT” followed by the page number and citations to the 

2017 trial transcript are designated as “JT.” 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

Knecht respectfully appeals from: 1) the Circuit Court’s Findings of Fact 

and Conclusions of Law and Declaratory Orders dated January 11, 2016, (R. 

2209); 2) Judgment in Favor of the Evridges and against Knecht in the amount of 

$122,324,25 plus interest at 10% accruing beginning January 23, 2016, with 

Notice of Entry of Judgment on March 31, 2016, (R. 2400, 2401); 3) an Order on 

March 24, 2016, Motions Hearing , with Notice of Entry of Judgment on March 

31, 2016, (R. 2398, 2401) and; 4) the Jury Verdict and resulting final Judgment 

and Notice of Entry of Judgment dated August 22, 2018 (R. 4236, 4238).  

Knecht filed his Notice of Appeal and Docketing Statement on September 

21, 2018. (R. 4360, 4362).  This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to SDCL 

§ 15-26A-3(1) and SDCL § 15-26A-3 (4). 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

Michael J. Knecht respectfully requests the privilege of appearing before 

this Court for oral argument. 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

 

I. Whether the trial court erred in declaring the Supplemental Lease valid 

and enforceable when it was unlawful and void. 

 

Law Capital, Inc. v. Kettering, 2013 S.D. 66, 836 N.W.2d 642. 

Willers v. Wettestad, 510 N.W.2d 676, 680 (S.D. 1994). 

Nature’s 10 Jewelry v. Gunderson, 2002 SD 80, 648 N.W.2d 804. 

State ex rel. Meierhenry v. Spiegel, Inc., 277 N.W.2d 298 (S.D. 1979). 

 

II. Whether the trial court erred in ordering payment of funds where this 

void lease is not subject to restitution. 

 

Commercial Tr. & Sav. Bank v. Christensen, 535 N.W.2d 853 (S.D. 

1995). 

Thurston v. Cedric Sanders Co., 80 S.D. 426, 125 N.W.2d 496 

(S.D.1963). 

Smizer v. Drey, 2016 S.D. 3, 873 N.W.2d 697. 

 

 

III. Whether the trial court erred in granting Summary Judgment and 

dismissing the deceit and fraud claims. 

 

Stabler v. First State Bank of Roscoe, 2015 S.D. 44, 865 N.W.2d 

466. 

Poeppel v. Lester, 2013 SD 17, 827 N.W.2d 580. 

Arnoldy v. Mahoney, 2010 S.D. 89, 791 N.W.2d 645. 

Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 1997 S.D. 121, 573 N.W.2d 

493. 

 
 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

 Knecht brought this action asserting a breach of contract claim against 

Evridges, who counterclaimed for breach of contract. (R. 1, 3050). Upon 

stipulation of the parties, the Court bifurcated the trial of the matter into (i) a court 

trial on the declaratory judgment portion of the lawsuit to decide the legal issues 
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regarding the enforceability and construction of the two lease agreements entitled 

"Agricultural Lease" and "Supplemental Agricultural Lease” and (ii) a jury trial 

for any remaining issues including damages to be set thereafter. (R. 111). The 

court trial was conducted on August 24, 2015, August 31, 2015 and September 23, 

2015. (R.1203-1825).  

 The Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and 

Declaratory Orders on January 11, 2016, holding that 1) each lease constitutes a 

separate contract; 2) the Agricultural Lease is a valid and binding contact; 3) the 

Supplemental Lease is a valid and voidable contract, terminable by Knecht. 

(R.2209). Breach and damages, if any, were to be determined by jury trial. Id. 

 On January 12, 2016, Evridges’ filed a motion for Court to Release funds 

held by Perkins County Clerk of Courts. (R. 2229).  Several weeks later, Evridges’ 

filed a motion for partial summary judgment requesting that the court order 

Knecht to make the lease payments due on the Agricultural Lease and 

Supplemental Lease for the second half of 2015 and first half of 2016, plus 

prejudgment interest. (R. 2233). Knecht resisted both motions. (R. 2317, 2336). 

 A hearing was held on March 24, 2016, which addressed both motions. (R. 

2231) On March 30, 2016, the Circuit Court signed and filed an Order granting 

Evridges’ Motion for Court to Release Funds instructing the Perkin’s County 

Clerk of Courts to release the sum of $78,500.00 currently on file with the Clerk’s 

office, and issue a check made payable to the trust account of Evridges’ counsel. 
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(R. 2398). The March 30, 2016 Order also granted in part and denied in part 

Evridges’ Motion for Partial summary. (R. 2398). The Court held that Knecht 

owed 1) $43,845.25 for the second half of the 2015 Agricultural Lease obligation; 

2) $34,675.75 for the second half of the 2015 Supplemental Lease obligation; and 

3) $43,845.25 for the first half of the 2016 Agricultural Lease obligation. (R. 

2398). On March 31, 2016, notice of entry of order was filed. (R. 2405). 

 Knecht contested the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and 

Declaratory Orders and resulting Judgment, and filed an interlocutory appeal.  

That appeal was dismissed by the South Dakota Supreme Court for lack of subject 

matter jurisdiction by Order dated July 18, 2016. (R. 2614). 

 On February 24, 2017, Evridges’ filed a Motion for Summary Judgment 

alleging that they were entitled to judgment as a matter of law on counts III 

(Negligent Misrepresentation), IV (Deceit) and V (Fraud) of Knecht’s amended 

complaint. Knecht resisted the motion. (R. 2711). 

 On March 10, 2017, a hearing was held on the Motion for Summary 

Judgment. (R. 2711). During the hearing, Knecht’s counsel advised the Court that 

count III (negligent misrepresentation) of his Amended Complaint was to be 

withdrawn and dismissed. (R. 2961). At the conclusion of the hearing, the Circuit 

Court granted Evridges’ Motion for Summary Judgment holding that Knecht 

“fail[ed] to assert a colorable claim for fraud or deceit; thus [his] claim for 

damages [is] covered by the terms of the parties’ contracts.” (R. 2961). On April 7, 
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2017, the Circuit Court signed and filed its order granting summary judgement and 

the notice of entry of order was filed April 24, 2017. (R. 2979, 2984).  

 A Jury Trial on the remaining issues of this case was held from December 

13, 2017 to December 15, 2017 in Perkins County. (R. 3146). The Jury awarded 

Knecht $130,302.03 in damages against Evridges, plus post judgment interest. 

(R. 4236). And Evridges were awarded $68,626.91 in damages against Knecht, 

plus post judgment interest. (R. 4236). Of this amount, $20,000 was for alleged 

fencing damages and the remainder was for 2016 rent.  

 On July 26, 2018, Evridges’ filed a motion for new trial arguing that 1) the 

Court failed to properly instruct the jury; 2) the Court made prejudicial 

evidentiary rulings; and 3) the damage awards were not supported by evidence. 

(R.3382). Knecht resisted this motion. (R. 3422).  

 On August 22, 2018, Judgment on Jury verdict and Notice of Entry of 

Judgment was filed. (R.4236, 4238). Evridges’ withdrew their Motion for New 

Trial on August 31, 2018, with the intent of filing a motion for new trial pursuant 

to SDCL § 15-6-59B. (R. 4275). Six days later, Evridges’ refiled their Motion for 

New Trial. (R. 4279). There was no ruling on the Motion by the Circuit Court, 

although such motion is deemed denied by operation of SDCL § 15-6-59(b). 

 On September 19, 2018, Evridges’ filed a Notice of Appeal and Docking 

Statement, which is Appeal No. 28780. (R.4352, 4354). On September 21, 2018, 

Knecht filed his Notice of Appeal (case No. 28781). (R. 4360, 4362). This Court 
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consolidated the appeals by Order dated November 9, 2018.  

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 

 Knecht sets forth a very detailed statement of facts because the claims at 

issue require an understanding of the sequence of events and issues presented.  

 

Mike Knecht 
 

Knecht is a young rancher from Lodgepole, SD whose income is derived 

solely from raising cattle (R. 1203) (TT 4, 5). He purchased his first two cows at 

the age of 18 and has continued to grow his herd ever since. (R. 1203) (TT 5). In 

2014, Knecht owned and cared for about 400 cattle. (R. 292). As his operation 

continued to grow, Knecht sought ranchland suitable to foster and develop his 

heard. (R. 2936). 

The Agreement between Knecht & Evridges 
 

In late 2012, Knecht ran an advertisement in a local Ag paper seeking to 

lease ranchland on an annual basis. (R. 1203) (TT 7, 96). Several months later, 

Knecht received a phone call from Evridges, who told him they wanted to retire 

and rent out their ranch through a long-term lease. (R. 1203) (TT 97). Evridges 

also told Knecht that their land was tied to the Grand River Grazing Association 

(“Grand River”), which was especially attractive to Knecht because 1) it ensured 

his cattle would have more than enough grass and water during the summer 
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months1 and 2) Grand River would provide salt and minerals to cattle grazing its 

lands, so no additional supplements were necessary. (R. 1203) (TT 15, 16).    

After several phone calls between the parties, a viewing of the Ranch, and 

discussion of the terms, Knecht agreed to a lease the property. (R. 2209) (FF ¶ 9). 

The agreed upon yearly rent was $157,000, split into two semi-annual payments, 

with 10% down at the beginning of the contract, and the remainder due once 

Knecht’s grazing permit was approved by Grand River. (R. 799, 2209) (AFF ¶8) 

(FF ¶ 9). Evridges also informed Knecht that the $157,000 figure was calculated 

using Animal Unit Months (AUMS), which is the total number of grazing 

livestock the ranch adequately supports. (R. 1203, 2209) (TT 522) (FF ¶9). 

On December 3, 2013, Knecht met Evridges at their lawyer’s office to 

execute a lease agreement for use of Evridges’ ranch. (R. 2209) (FF ¶ 11). To his 

surprise, Knecht was presented with two sperate leases for the same ground: the 

“Agricultural lease” and the “Supplemental lease.” (R. 1203, 2209) (TT 9) (FF ¶ 

11). When Knecht questioned why there were two leases instead of one, he was 

told it was the only way Evridges could lease their ranch. (R. 1203, 2209) (TT 9, 

140) (FF ¶ 11). Regrettably, Knecht did not have a lawyer present at the meeting 

and did not have a chance to consult with one because Evridges were set on 

“wrapping things up that evening”. (R. 1203) (TT9). Knecht knew that Evridges 

were longstanding members of Grand River and their attorney reviewed the details 

                                                 
1 The Grand River permit provided Knecht use of federal grasslands to graze his cattle 

from mid-May until October each year. (R.1203) (TT 15, 16).  
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of each lease agreement with him, so Knecht reasonably believed that the leases 

were both necessary and proper. (R. 799, 1203) (AFF ¶ 7) (TT 140-141). As such, 

Knecht executed both leases that evening, providing Evridges with two separate 

checks totaling $15,700.00 as a down payment.2 (R. 799) (AFF ¶ 8). 

The Agricultural Lease 

The Agricultural Lease is a grazing lease, for a three-year term, beginning 

December 1, 2013, that leased 3,070 acres of Evridges’ ranch to Knecht at $28.55 

per acre, rather than in accordance with AUMS as previously discussed. (R. 592 

1203, 2209) (TT 522) (FF ¶9). A payment of $43,824.25 was due and payable on 

December 1st and November 10th of each respective year, for a total of $87,648.50 

per annum. (R. 592). The lease provided Knecht with use of the following real 

estate for his cattle operation:  

1) Twp. 21 N., Rge. 13 EBHM, Perkins Co., SD: 

a. Sec. 1: N1/2NW1/4; NW1/4NE1/4; S1/2NE1/4: N1/2SE1/4 

b. Sec. 2: E1/2NE1/4; NE1/4SE1/4 

2) Twp. 21 N., Rge. 14 EBHM, Perkins Co., SD: 

a. Sec. 5: All  

b. Sec. 6: All  

c. Sec. 7: NW1/4; NE1/4; SE1/4; NE1/4SW1/4 

d. Sec. 8: NW1/4; N1/2SW1/4 

3) Twp. 21 N., Rge. 13 EBHM, Perkins Co., SD: 

a. Sec. 36: All (shared use with LESSORS) 

 

(R. 592). And, it is subject to the following provision:   

GRAND RIVER GRAZING REQUIREMENTS: 

                                                 
2 Knecht issued separate checks for the Agricultural Lease and for the Supplemental 

Lease because Evridges told him it was necessary for tax purposes. (R.799) (AFF ¶ 8). 
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This lease contemplates LESSORS assisting LESSEE with issuance of a 

grazing permit tied to the above property and both parties agree: 

 

1. The Lessors and the Lessee hereby acknowledge that the Grand River 

Grazing Association may monitor grazing use of the based property 

included in this lease to assure that commensurability is maintained, and 

the stocking rates and management do not damage the rangeland. 

2. The Lessors and the Lessee jointly acknowledge and agree that this 

lease is for privately owned property only and that the grazing permit on 

the National Grasslands associated with this base property is waived to 

the Grazing Association and issuance of the permit is authorized by the 

Board of Directors.  

3. In the event a grazing permit is issued to the Lessee, said Lessee agrees 

to comply with all Association Rules of Management and to abide by 

any approved allotment management plans in effect on the grazing 

allotments involved. 

 

(R. 592). 

The Supplemental Lease 

The Supplemental Lease is similar to the Agricultural Lease in that it 

provides Knecht with use of the same 3,070 acres of Evridges’ ranch, for a three-

year term, beginning December 1, 2013, but it failed to specify a price per acre. 

(R. 596). Instead, the lease set forth a flat rate of $34,675.75, due and payable on 

December 1st and November 10th of each year, for a carrying capacity of 200 head 

cow/calf and six bulls that could be increased if conditions warranted. (R. 596). 

Like the Agricultural Lease, the Supplemental Lease included a provision 

regarding the Grand River grazing requirements. (R. 596). This provision was 

identical to the grazing requirements listed in the Agricultural Lease, however, it 

incorporated one additional sentence: “In the event the permit is not transferred, 

Lessee may terminate or renegotiate this lease.” (R. 596). 
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The Supplemental Lease is to be Kept Secret 
 

After the leases were executed, Evridges advised Knecht that the 

Supplemental Lease had to be kept secret and that he was not to talk to the 

neighbors or tell anyone about its existence. (R. 799, 1203) (AFF ¶8) (TT 154). 

When Knecht questioned why this was so, Evridges responded that they didn't 

want anyone knowing their financial business and it was just the way things had to 

be done. (R. 1203, 2209) (TT 154) (FF ¶ 13). Furthermore, when Gayle Evridge 

was asked about the Supplemental Lease during the August 31, 2015 trial, he 

testified: 

[T]heres got to be two leases, and it’s got to be hushed up, it’s got to be 

quiet, it’s got to be secret. Is this my wishes? No. I am extremely 

uncomfortable with this. I never plan [sic] in my life to have a second lease. 

This is not right, Its underhanded. There’s nothing good about it. But if 

people get old, their livelihood depends on it, they may have to do it. I did 

not sign those two leases with a good feeling in my heart. I signed those 

two leases because I could not work on my own terms. (R. 1203) (TT 517-

521). 

  

Grand River Grazing Association 
 

Grand River Cooperative Grazing Association is an entity regulated by the 

U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service with the authority to allow private 

parties access to government owned grasslands for grazing purposes. (R. 606, 

868). Grand River operates in accordance with a set of management rules that are 

approved by the Forest Service. (R. 606, 868). All members of the association 

must abide by these rules to be issued a grazing permit. (R. 606, 868).  
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Knecht had never been a member of Grand River and never grazed cattle on 

government land, therefore he knew nothing about the rules. (R. 1203) (TT 9-10). 

Rather, Knecht relied on Evridges to get his permit approved and ceased to delve 

into the requisites of the permit because he was not required to disburse the 

remainder of his first lease payment until his permit had been issued. (R. 2209, ¶8; 

2896 ¶7-8). Moreover, Evridges had been members of Grand River since 1991 and 

held a valid grazing permit for over 40 years. (R. 1203) (TT 516). For these 

reasons, Knecht trusted that Evridges would adhere to the necessary protocol for 

issuance of his grazing permit. (R. 2369, 2896 ¶¶7-8, 36). 

Violations of Grand River’s Rules 
 

Although Evridges were fully aware of the Grand River’s rules, they chose 

to blatantly ignore them. (R. 2209, ¶¶ 8, 19). First, Evridges knew that the grazing 

permit could not be subleased. (R. 1203) (TT 516). Nonetheless, they created the 

Supplemental Lease which purportedly did exactly that. (R. 2896, ¶8).  

Second, Evridges knew that all leases involving land attached to a grazing 

permit had to be approved by Grand River. (R. 1203) (TT 568). In fact, before the 

Supplemental Lease was executed, Evridges presented Grand River’s leasing 

committee with a hypothetical lease proposing $30 per acre cash rent for their 

land. (R. 1203) (TT 569).  The committee rejected Evridges’ proposed lease 

because the amount was too high. (R.1203) (TT 569). Knowing that Grand River 

would not accept a lease for $30 per acre, Evridges prepared the Agricultural 
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Lease at $28.55 per acre to ensure its approval. (R. 1203) (TT 569-570). They then 

created the Supplemental Lease, which leased the same ground, to receive 

additional compensation without Grand River’s knowledge. (R. 1203, 2209) (TT 

569-570) (FF ¶19). Evridges testified that one of the reasons they established the 

Supplemental Lease was to cover their overhead expenses from the ranch. (R. 

1203) (TT 519, 569).   

Third, Evridges were aware that Grand River had commensurability 

requirements limiting the number of livestock permitted to graze on their ranch 

during the winter months. (R. 2896, ¶65). Disregarding Grand River’s rules, 

Evridges overloaded the ranch with more than 400 cattle of their own for several 

months of the winter. (R. 2896, ¶65). 

 Lastly, Evridges knew that pursuant to Grand River’s rules of 

management, all leases had to be filed with the association by March 1st. During 

the August 31, 2015 trial, Evridges testified to the following: 

Q: Okay. And then go to the next page, which is 123 of Exhibit 4. It says, 

“All leases have to be in the Association Office by March 1st with 

appropriate documentation.” Do you see that?  

A: I’m aware of that. 

Q: And in your testimony, you admitted that you did not turn in the second 

lease; right? 

A: That’s correct.  

(R.1203) (TT 517-518).   

Evridges submitted the Agricultural Lease to Grand River to assist in 

transferring their grazing permit to Knecht but withheld the Supplemental Lease 
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because they knew it violated the rules and would be rejected. (R. 2209) (FF ¶ 17, 

19). 

Knecht Occupies the Ranch 
 

In January of 2014, Grand River approved the Agricultural Lease and 

granted Knecht’s grazing permit, authorizing 239 head cow/calf pairs and 6 bulls 

to graze on their land during the summer months. (R. 2896) (AFF2 ¶14). Knecht 

then tendered the remainder of his 2014 lease payment to Evridges. (R. 2896, 

¶14).  On February 28, 2014, Knecht brought around 200 head of cattle onto the 

ranch. (R. 799, ¶11). Shortly after, conflicts arose between Knecht and Evridges. 

(R. 799, ¶¶12-28). The most notable issue involves Evridges’ use of land leased to 

and paid for by Knecht, without Knecht’s consent. (R. 2896, ¶¶21-28).  

Specifically, during 2014, Evridges allowed 400 yearlings, 8 horses and 6 bulls to 

graze on the land Knecht leased, which prevented him from using significant 

portions of the ranch for his own herd. (R. 2896, ¶¶21-28). That year, Evridges 

admittedly used 40% of the land they leased to Knecht.3 (R. 3964) (JT 671, 683). 

Knecht Discovers He’s Been Duped 

Due to Evridges explanation of the leases, Knecht genuinely believed the 

Agricultural Lease was for use of Evridges’ ranch (3,070 acres) and the 

Supplemental Lease was for use of Evridges’ grazing permit with Grand River. (R. 

                                                 
3 In 2015, Evridges used slightly less than 40% of the ranch that was leased to and paid 

for by Knecht. (R.3964) (JT 671). In 2016, Evridges’ use of the ranch declined. (R.3964) 

(JT 671). 
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1203, 2896) (TT 154) (AFF2 ¶21-28). Evridges further explained that the Knecht 

would receive a small bill from Grand River for salt and oilers. (R. 1203) (TT 31). 

However, in April of 2014, Grand River sent Knecht an invoice for $14,047, 

which he paid.4 (R. 608, 1203) (TT 31). This unexpected expense caused Knecht 

to question other Grand River members about the association’s rules. (R. 1203) 

(TT 32). Thereafter, Knecht discovered that Grand River did not receive a copy of 

the Supplemental Lease. (R. 1203) (TT 33). And even though it was not Knecht’s 

responsibility to submit the Supplemental Lease to Grand River, he did so because 

it was required by the rules. (R. 1203) (TT 33). 

Evridges Reject Knecht’s Lease Payment for 2015 

On November 10, 2014, Knecht submitted the second half of the 2014 lease 

payment to Evridges, which they accepted. (R. 799, ¶28). In December of 2014, 

Knecht tendered the first half of the 2015 lease payment to Evridges, but it was 

rejected. (R. 799, ¶29).  Several weeks later, Evridges’ attorney sent Knecht a 

letter indicating that he was in violation of the lease agreements. (R. 945). The 

letter also explicitly stated that Evridges were aware Knecht had contacted Grand 

River, but wouldn’t change the terms of their contract with Knecht. (R. 945). 

Knecht Brings Suit 
 

In December of 2014, Knecht filed suit against Evridges and deposited the 

first half of his 2015 lease payment with the Perkins County Clerk of Court. (R. 1, 

                                                 
4 In 2015, Knecht received a second invoice from Grand River for $15,769.83, which he 

paid. (R. 2532, ¶24)  
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799, ¶28). In response to Knecht’s lawsuit, Evridges falsely alleged that Kencht 

violated several terms of the lease and sought to terminate the agreements. (R. 

2896, ¶¶32, 33).  Evridges attempted to force Knecht off the land on three separate 

occasions but were unsuccessful. (R.947, 970, 2238). Although Knecht 

undoubtedly received much less than he had bargained for, Knecht refused to 

cancel the leases because “he had nowhere to go and … had to run his cattle.” (R. 

3431) (JT 126). Knecht testified “you can’t just take cattle and box them up and 

put them away in [sic] a shelf for two years…I still had to have that lease.” (R. 

3431) (JT 126). 

Fences 
 

One of Evridges’ allegations was that Knecht violated a provision in the 

Agricultural Lease requiring him to repair fences on the ranch, so long as they 

were damaged by Knecht’s cattle and Evridges provided materials. (R. 592). In 

2013, before Knecht occupied the ranch, a series of events occurred that destroyed 

many of Evridges fences. (R. 2896, ¶80).  Specifically, in April of 2013, a prairie 

fire damaged 1,000 acres of Evridges’ ranch, including numerous fences. (R. 

1203) (TT46). Six months later, the Atlas snow storm further damaged Evridges’ 

fences. (R. 1203) (TT 72-73). That same year, Evridges ran more than 950 head of 

cattle on their ranch which also damaged their fences. (R. 2896, ¶80). Knecht 

testified that by the time he leased the ranch in 2014, Evridges fences were 

“horrid” and “in pretty tough shape.” (R. 1203) (TT 45). Even though Knecht’s 
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cattle did not cause the damage, he repeatedly requested Evridges provide him 

with materials to repair the perimeter fences. (R. 1203 (TT 46); 2896, ¶82; 3431 

(JT 127)). When Evridges failed to do so, Knecht repaired the fences at his own 

expense to ensure his cattle stayed within the boundaries of the ranch. (R. 1203 

(TT 47); R. 2896, ¶82). 

Grand River Terminates Knecht’s Grazing Permit 
 

On March 19, 2015, both Knecht and Evridges received a letter from the 

Grand River stating that the Supplemental Lease agreement violated the rules of 

management between Grand River and the United States Forest Service because it 

was not submitted to the association by March 1st. (R. 866). In addition to the 

violation of the lease, commensurability had been compromised by Evridges 

grazing on based acres which were to be used for winter grazing by Knect. (R. 

866).  Grand River further recommended that the parties operate solely under the 

Agricultural Lease agreement and terminate the Supplemental Lease. (R. 866).   

A month later, Grand River sent a second letter indicating that Knecht 

would have a conditional grazing permit for 2015, so long as the Court held the 

Agricultural Lease to be valid. (R. 798). This letter also stated, “under no 

circumstance shall the second Supplemental Lease be in force, nor shall Evridges 

receive any remuneration from this lease.” (R. 798). 

In August of 2015, Grand River suspended Evridges’ grazing permit, 

preventing Knecht’s use of the permit in 2016. (R. 1007). A month later, Knecht 
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appeared in front of the Grand River board to request that his grazing permit be 

reinstated for 2016. (R. 2369). On February 19, 2016, Grand River sent a letter to 

Knecht affirming their decision to suspend his grazing permit for 2016. (R. 2369). 

In that letter, Grand River stated the following: “… if [Knecht’s] request to have 

the 2016 permit was granted, the Court would require Knecht to pay Evridges for 

the amount in the Supplementary Lease which would create another violation.” (R. 

2369). Thus, Knecht lost his Grand River grazing permit for 2016. (R.2369, 2896, 

¶30). 

The Impact of Losing Knecht’s Grazing Permit 

 

The loss of Knecht’s use of the grazing permit in 2016 adversely impacted 

his cattle operation in that it cost him the hay needed to carry his cattle operation 

through the next year. (R. 3431) (JT 138). Knecht’s ability to use the benefits of 

the grazing permit in 2016, as specified in his lease, would have allowed him to 

save 800 tons of hay. (R. 3431) (JT 143). This hay would then be used to feed his 

cattle in the spring of 2017. Because Knecht did not have enough hay to feed all 

his cattle, some of Knecht’s cattle had to be sold. (R. 3431) (JT 142). However, 

Knecht’s testimony was stricken on this issue at trial and no further evidence was 

admitted. (R. 3433) (JT 144). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Both contract interpretation and construction are questions of law reviewed 

de novo.  See Laska v. Barr, 2016 S.D. 13, ¶ 5, 876 N.W.2d 50, 52; Ziegler 

Furniture & Funeral Home, Inc. v. Cicmanec, 2006 S.D. 6, ¶ 14, 709 N.W.2d 350, 
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354; Campion v. Parkview Apartments, 1999 S.D. 10, ¶ 23, 588 N.W.2d 897, 902.  

“Because [this Court] can review the contract as easily as the trial court, there is 

no presumption in favor of the trial court’s determination.”  Ziegler Furniture, 

2006 S.D. 6, ¶ 14, 709 N.W.2d at 354 (quoting Cowan v. Mervin Mewes, Inc., 

1996 S.D. 40, ¶ 6, 546 N.W.2d 104, 107).   

This Court reviews a lower court’s conclusions of law de novo and also 

treats mixed questions of law and fact, requiring the application of a legal 

standard, as questions of law subject to de novo review.  See Hanson v. Vermillion 

Sch. Dist. No. 13-1, 2007 S.D. 9, ¶ 24, 727 N.W.2d 459, 467.  It reviews a lower 

court’s findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard.  See id. 

 

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

 

I.  THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE 

SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE AGREEMENT WAS A VOIDABLE 

CONTRACT. 
 

The Circuit Court erroneously held that the Supplemental Lease was an 

enforceable contract, voidable at Knecht’s discretion.  See Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law and Declaratory Orders, R. 2209.  In analyzing the issues, the 

Circuit Court applied the wrong legal test. Because the Supplemental Lease was 

void, and not voidable or terminable at the request of a party, Knecht was wrongly 

denied declaratory judgment in his favor and damages available to him.  

THE SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE AGREEMENT IS VOID AS A 

MATTER OF LAW BECAUSE A) IT IS CONTRARY TO AN EXPRESS 
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PROVISION OF THE LAW; B) IT VIOLATES THE POLICY AND 

PURPOSE OF THE LAW; AND C) IT VIOLATES PUBLIC POLICY. 

 

A.  The Supplemental Lease agreement is void as a matter of law 

because it violates an express provision of law. 
 

The Supplemental Lease agreement is void because it violates federal 

regulation 36 CFR 222. In South Dakota, it is well settled that a contract is 

unlawful if it violates “an express provision of law or ... the policy of express 

law.” SDCL 53-9-1; Law Capital, Inc. v. Kettering, 2013 S.D. 66, ¶ 10, 836 

N.W.2d 642, 645.  Contracts contrary to statutory or constitutional law are invalid 

and unenforceable. Willers v. Wettestad, 510 N.W.2d 676, 680 (S.D. 1994) 

(citations omitted). And such contracts may be held void or voidable. Warra v. 

Kane, 269 N.W.2d 395, 397. 

Federal regulation, 36 CFR 222.1(a) provides that:  

 

The Chief, Forest Service, shall develop, administer and 

protect the range resources and permit and regulate the 

grazing use of all kinds and classes of livestock on 

all National Forest System lands and on other lands under 

Forest Service control. 

 

This regulation also authorizes the Forest Service to “recognize, cooperate with 

and assist…association-controlled land on which members livestock are permitted 

to graze.” 36 CFR 222.7(1). For a grazing association to be recognized by the 

Forest Service, it must create a set of management rules that govern its activities, 

which are subject to approval by a Forest Supervisor. 36 CFR 222.7(a)(3)(iv). 

Upon approval, the association’s rules of management are incorporated into and 
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become a term and condition of the grazing agreement established by the Forest 

Service. 5 Thus, any violations of the association’s rules of management are 

considered a violation of the terms and conditions of the grazing agreement. Id. 

The most recent Grand River Grazing Association rules of management 

were approved by the Forest Service under grazing agreement GRGA-2013 and 

became effective on March 1, 2013. All members of the association must abide by 

these rules. Evridges, who are longstanding members of the association, were 

cognizant of these rules but intentionally chose to disregard them.6 In doing so, 

they created the Supplemental Lease with the purpose of circumventing a 

provision in the rules limiting the amount charged per acre for rent. This lease 

directly violated the association’s rules of management. Because violations of the 

rules of management are considered a violation of the terms and conditions of the 

grazing agreement, the lease violated 36 CFR 222.3(c)(1)(vi), an express provision 

of the law.  An unlawful contract is void. SDCL § 53-5-3 and SDCL § 20-2-2. 

This Court must deem the Supplemental Lease void as a matter of law.  Nature’s 

10 Jewelry v. Gunderson, 2002 SD 80, ¶ 12, 648 N.W.2d 804, 807. The trial court 

allowed termination or renegotiation, but receipt of any funds by Evridges under 

                                                 
5 Eric Olsen, National Resources Division, Office of the General Counsel, U.S 

Department of Agriculture, National Grasslands Management, A primer. p.21 (1997), 

https://www.fs.fed.us/grasslands/documents/primer/NG_Primer.pdf (last accessed Nov. 

19, 2018). 
6 Evridges consulted with the grazing association prior to the execution of the any lease 

to inquire whether it would approve a rental rate of $30 per acre. When the grazing 

association rejected the per acre amount as too high, the Supplemental Lease was created 

and secreted from the association.   

https://www.fs.fed.us/grasslands/documents/primer/NG_Primer.pdf
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the lease violates the policy and purpose of federal law and this State. It cannot 

stand and must be declared void ab initio. 

B. The Supplemental Lease is void because it violates the policy and 

purpose of 36 CFR 222.  

The Supplemental Lease agreement not only violates 36 CFR 222, but also 

violates the policy behind its enactment. A law’s “policy is found in the letter or 

purpose of a constitutional or statutory provision or scheme, or in a judicial 

decision.” Niesent v. Homestake Mining Co., 505 N.W.2d 781, 783 (citation 

omitted). The purpose behind 36 CFR 222 is to provide the Forest Service with the 

authority to permit and regulate grazing on land within the national forest system. 

36 CFR 222.1(a). In this respect, the Forest Service approves a set of rules 

proposed by a grazing association and conditions the association’s grazing 

agreement on the premise that the rules will be enforced. 36 CFR 222.4(a)(4).  

The Supplemental Lease deliberately ignores the grazing association’s rules 

that the Forest Service ratified. It wrongfully allows Evridges to lease land within 

the national forest system at a higher rate than specified in grazing agreement. The 

lease’s modification of the rules outlined in the grazing agreement usurps the 

Forest Service’s authority to regulate lands within its purview, and instead 

attempts to self-regulate by creating a rule of its own. This is clearly a violation of 

the purpose and policy behind 36 CFR 222.1(a). Therefore, the Supplemental 

Lease must be declared void by this court. Funds received by Evridges were 
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unlawful and go directly against this policy and cannot be retained, as explained 

below in Section II. 

 C.  The Supplemental Lease is void under public policy. 

Even if this court determines that the Supplemental Lease agreement is not 

contrary to an express provision of law or policy of express law, it is still void 

because it negates public policy. SDCL 53-9-3.  “Public policy is that principle of 

law which holds that no person can lawfully do that which has a tendency to be 

injurious to the public or against public good.” State ex rel. Meierhenry v. Spiegel, 

Inc., 277 N.W.2d 298, 300. 

The South Dakota legislature has also addressed the public policy principle 

in statutory form: 

All contracts which have for their object, directly or indirectly, to exempt 

anyone from responsibility for his own fraud or willful injury to the person 

or property of another or from violation of law whether willful or negligent, 

are against the policy of the law.  

 

SDCL 53-9-3. 

The Supplemental Lease agreement served as a means for Evridges to 

disguise their wrongdoing from the grazing association and willfully defraud 

Knecht. Evridges convinced Knecht to enter into the Supplemental Lease 

agreement, knowing that the lease violated the grazing association’s rules, and 

would be invalidated if discovered. Regardless, they persuaded Knecht to commit 

to its terms and advised him to conceal the fraudulent lease to shield their actions 
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from the association.  This is precisely the type of agreement SDCL 53-9-3 must 

prohibit as against the policy of the law.   

Moreover, upholding the circuit court’s interpretation of the Supplemental 

Lease as an enforceable contract is akin to nullifying federal law, and to do so 

would be injurious to the public and against public good. What is the purpose of 

providing a federal regulatory agency with the authority to promulgate regulations 

if its rules can simply be avoided through contract? Federal agencies such as 

Forest Service fulfill a vital purpose in managing lands and the rules imposed on 

their behalf cannot be made futile.  This court must close the door and refuse to 

recognize the Supplemental Lease as a valid contract to demonstrate to the public 

that the laws endorsed or authorized by federal regulatory bodies are enforceable 

and must be followed.  Further, Evridges must disgorge unlawful funds paid under 

the lease. 

D.  Knecht is entitled to pursue damages for 2016 breaches due to 

the errors of law and the Judgment must be partially set aside as to 

Evridges’ Counterclaims. 

 

Knecht was awarded damages for breach of the leases by Evridges in 2014 

and 2015, but the jury awarded no damages for breaches in 2016. (R. 3149-50 

(verdict form)). The conduct of the Evridges continued in 2016, but Mike Knecht 

had to sell cattle, and was not allowed to address damages that resulted from his 

loss of grazing rights from the Association. (R. 3431-33) (JT 142-44). A proper 
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jury instruction informing the jury that the Supplemental Lease was void and not 

simply terminated by Knecht would likely have produced a different result. The 

jury instructions as a whole did not properly set forth the law upon which the jury 

decided the breach of contract action. Dartt v. Berghorst, 484 N.W.2d 891, 895 

(S.D. 1992) (must “give a full and correct statement of the applicable law.”) 

(citation omitted). 

 The jury heard that Knecht terminated the Supplemental Lease for 2016, 

not that it was void from the beginning.  The jury should have been allowed to 

consider that the breaches of the Agricultural Lease alleged by Knecht were duties 

that the Evridges had under that contract regardless of termination of the other 

lease. The error of law likely caused the jury to wrongly award no damages for the 

2016 breaches. Id. 

As to the counterclaim damages awarded, the jury found that Knecht 

breached the leases and that Evridges suffered $20,000 in damages for fencing and 

the remainder of lease payments due for 2016. The fencing requirements in the 

lease provided that Knecht perform labor using materials supplied by Evridges to 

install and make repairs of any fences damaged by his cattle on the leased 

property. Again, because the jury was instructed and heard evidence about a 

terminated Supplemental Lease, the verdict on the counterclaims is not valid. It is 

likely that the jury decided issues based on lease termination and “the jury 

probably would have reached a different verdict, one more favorable to [Knecht], 
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had correct instructions been given.” LDL Cattle Co., Inc. v. Guetter, 1996 SD 22 

at ¶ 35, 544 N.W.2d at 530.  Due to the error of law in not declaring the 

Supplemental Lease void, a new trial is necessary on 2016 damages and the 

counterclaims. 

II. THE TRIAL COURT’S ERROR IN DECLARING THE 

SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE AN ENFORCEABLE CONTRACT RESULTED 

IN WRONGFUL PAYMENT OF FUNDS TO EVRIDGES. 

 

Disputes arose early in the lease relationship and Knecht brought the 

lawsuit below to protect his rights after investing a significant amount in cattle and 

lease commitments. He had no other land available to raise his cattle, but Evridges 

sought to remove him and eventually refused to accept lease payments.  Evridges 

leveraged that situation by maximizing the uncertainty and costs faced by Knecht. 

When they refused his lease payments, Knecht requested and upon Court 

approval, paid certain amounts into the Clerk of Courts pending resolution of the 

lease claims. 

However, under the erroneous ruling that the Supplemental Lease valid and 

enforceable, Evridges obtained an order requiring the payment of those funds to 

them. Unfortunately, the Circuit Court required Knecht to pay those amounts 

despite Knecht’s correct argument that the funds available were not owed to 

Evridges. The Supplemental Lease was void and unenforceable, yet Knecht had 

paid lease payments to Evridges which should have either been credited toward 

other lease payments under the Agricultural Lease or refunded by Evridges. 
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Knecht also paid directly to the Association for the grazing permit in addition to 

his Supplemental Lease payments to Evridges. (R. 608, R. 2532, ¶24). Upon credit 

for the payments unlawfully received and retained by Evridges, no money was 

owed to Evridges. 

A. Lease payments for the Supplemental Lease were unlawful. 

As noted above, a void contract is unlawful from the beginning. It was 

never enforceable. Payments made under a void lease must be returned to the 

lessee. Courts “ ‘generally do not grant restitution under agreements that are 

unenforceable on grounds of public policy.’ ” Commercial Tr. & Sav. Bank v. 

Christensen, 535 N.W.2d 853, 859 (S.D. 1995), quoting E. Allen Farnsworth, 

Contracts, § 5.9 at 386 (2nd ed. 1990). 

If a contract is deemed void for noncompliance with a statute, 

it is a nullity conferring no right and creating no obligation as 

between the parties. A party thereto must then recover, if at all, upon 

an implied agreement on the part of the party receiving benefits to 

pay what the same were reasonably worth. 

 

Id., quoting Thurston v. Cedric Sanders Co., 80 S.D. 426, 429, 125 N.W.2d 496, 

498 (S.D.1963). The Supplemental Lease is an addition or supplement to the 

Agricultural Lease, which properly provides for the rent of the Evridges’ property 

and the Grand River Grazing Association rights subject to its rules. The 

Agricultural Lease was approved by that very organization, and Evridges knew 

that rental rates higher than those in the Agricultural Lease were not acceptable to 
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the Association. Thus there is no implied agreement allowing restitution by 

Evridges for any rent paid under the Supplemental Lease. 

Further, Evridge cannot receive any renumeration for the Supplemental 

Lease under the provisions of the Association’s rules and federal policy. Knecht 

explained this to the trial court in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Partial 

Summary Judgment, R. 2328-31:  

 

6. The GRGA attorney stated in his letter April 15, 2015, that in the 

instance the Court determines that the Agricultural Lease (Tr.Ex. 1) 

is in force, Mr. Knecht's permit will remain in effect for the 2016 

grazing season. "Under no circumstances shall the second 

Supplemental Agricultural Lease be in force nor shall Evridges 

receive any remuneration from this lease." (Tr.Ex. 2)(Italics added). 

 

*  *  * 

8. The GRGA attorney stated in his letter February 19, 2016, that 

GRGA has affirmed its decision to suspend the grazing preferences 

of the Evridges, which prevents Mike Knecht from using the grazing 

permit for the 2016 summer grazing. In response to Mike Knecht's 

request for GRGA to reinstate the 2016 grazing permit he states "if 

your request to have the 2016 permit was granted, the Court would 

require Knecht to pay Evridge for the amount in the supplementary 

lease which would create another violation." (Italics added) This 

means that the Supplemental Lease (Tr. Ex. 2) is unlawful, and that 

any payment of rent to Evridges under this unlawful lease would be 

a violation of the Rules of Management between GRGA and the 

United States Forest Service. (Knecht Aff. para 22, and letter 

attached) 

9. The Court stated in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 

that Evridges caused the violation of the Rules of Management, as 

follows: 

The Evridges have been members of Grand River 

Grazing Association since 1991. Evridges have had a grazing 

permit for over 40 years. Gayle Evridge knew the rules of the 

Grazing Association for obtaining and transferring the 

grazing permit. (F of F, 8) 
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Gale Evridge advised that the Supplemental Lease had 

to be kept secret. When Knecht inquired as to the reason for 

keeping the lease secret, Gayle Evridge explained he was 

sorry but that is the way it had to 

be done. (F of F, 13) 

Gayle Evridge further explained that only the 

Agricultural Lease would be submitted to the Grazing 

Association. Knecht had never been a member of the Grazing 

Association and did not know the rules of the association. (F 

of F, 14) 

Pursuant to the Grazing Association Rules, all leases 

had to be filed with the association by March 1st, 2014. Gayle 

Evridge filed the Agricultural Lease with the association to 

assist in transferring the grazing permit to Knecht for the 

three-year lease term. The association transferred the permit 

to Knecht. (F of F, 1 7) 

Gayle Evridge knew that the grazing permit could not 

be subleased through the lease of his ranch. Gayle Evridge 

knew that the association could limit the per acre lease value 

of the Ranch. Evridge presented a lease amount of $30 per 

acre for the Ranch, but the Grazing Association rejected the 

per acre amount because it was too high. (F of F, 18) 

The Supplemental Lease allowed Evridges to include 

the Grazing Association permit and receive compensation 

without the knowledge of the Grazing Association, which 

Evridge knew was a violation of the Grazing Association 

rules. (F of F, 19) (Italics added) 

 

10. The Supplemental Lease is unlawful and void from the 

beginning ...  

The Supplemental Lease violates the Rules of Management of the 

federal grazing land from the start, and is therefore an unlawful lease 

and void from the start, and no lease payments, or compensation, or 

remuneration can be 

made by Mike Knecht to Evridges under the Supplemental Lease. 

 

R. 2329-31.  Although Knecht argued this point to the trial court, it ignored 

the Association’s clear determination that receipt of funds by Evridges on 
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the Supplemental Lease was in violation of federal rules governing the use 

of Forest Service managed grasslands. 

 The trial court’s error in declaring the Supplemental Lease valid and 

enforceable resulted in a determination that rent was due under that agreement. 

Because this was void ab initio and not subject to restitution, the Evridges were 

not entitled to receive any payment for it and Knecht was entitled to an offset or 

credit for the amounts unlawfully received by Evridges under the Supplemental 

Lease. But even if an offset was not allowed, the trial court erred in ordering in 

release of the funds held by the Court because Evridges were owed nothing at the 

time. As explained by Knecht at R. 2333: 

14. Mike Knecht has paid for his use of the federal grazing permit.  

… Where GRGA billed Mike Knecht and he paid GRGA 

$29,816.83 for his use of the 2014 and 2015 summer grazing permit, 

he should not also be required to pay rent again to the Evridges 

under the unlawful Supplemental Lease. 

15. Mike Knecht has paid all of the lease payments required by the 

Agricultural Lease. The lease payments required by the Agricultural 

Lease are $87,648.50 per year. The lease payments for the 

Agricultural Lease for 2014 and 2015 and the first half of 2016 total 

$219,121.25. ($87,648.50 X 2.5) Mike Knecht has already paid rent 

of $235,500. (Tr.Ex. 3) He has already paid all of the lease payments 

required by the Agricultural Lease for 2014, 2015, and the first half 

of 2016, a total of $219,121.25, plus he has paid $16,378.75 more to 

be applied to the lease payment for the last half of 2016. The amount 

of rent Mike Knecht paid of $235,500, minus $219,121.25 rent for 

2014, 2015 and half of 2016, leaves $16,378.75 left over to apply on 

the last half of the 2016 lease payment due November 10, 2016. All 

of the lease payments required by the Agricultural Lease have been 

paid, plus Mike Knecht has prepaid $16,378.75 toward the lease 

payment for the last half of 2016. The last half of the 2016 lease 

payment on the Agricultural Lease is $43,824.25, minus the prepaid 

$16,378.75, leaves a balance of $27,445.50, which will not be due 
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until November 10, 2016, under the terms of the Agricultural Lease. 

(Tr.Ex. 1, p 2) There are no lease payments due under the 

Agricultural Lease at this time.  

  

The trial court made an error of law in failing to declare the Supplemental 

Lease void, compounded by ignoring payment of the Association’s separate 

invoicing of rent for the grazing acres. Id. and R. 608. When properly understood 

as a void lease, the payments made on the Supplemental Lease are owed by 

Evridges to Knecht. Summary Judgment was improper on these disputed facts. 

SDCL § 15-6-56.  This came at a critical time for Knecht, and he suffered 

significant financial hardship as a result of the loss of funds during the difficult 

2016 lease year. See n. 3, supra. 

At a minimum, the trial court erred in releasing funds prior to the final rent 

being due on the Agricultural Lease (before the November 2016 payment was 

due). Because the trial court wrongly determined the Supplemental Lease to be 

valid and enforceable, the release was an abuse of discretion. 

An abuse of discretion also occurs when the court bases “its ruling 

on an erroneous view of the law or on a clearly erroneous 

assessment of the evidence.” Cooter & Gell, 496 U.S. at 405, 110 

S.Ct. at 2461. 

 

Smizer v. Drey, 2016 S.D. 3, ¶ 14, 873 N.W.2d 697, 702. 

After the jury trial, the net verdict on the Agricultural Lease in favor of 

Mike Knecht was much greater than the amount of rent allegedly owed to 

Evridges, and the funds should have been held by the trial court until final 

judgment. R. 3149-50. This case should be remanded for entry of an order 
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declaring the Supplemental Lease void and requiring a new trial on the tort claims, 

including any damages resulting from loss of these funds or otherwise recoverable 

under the law. 

III. SUMMARY JUDGMENT DISMISSING THE FRAUD AND DECEIT 

CLAIMS WAS ERROR. 

 

 The trial court erred in its contract interpretation and in applying the law in 

this case. That error resulted in the grant of Summary Judgment to Evridges on 

Knecht’s tort claims. 

Summary judgment is appropriate “if the pleadings, depositions, 

answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the 

affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any 

material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a 

matter of law.” SDCL 15–6–56(c). We give no deference to the 

circuit court's decision to grant summary judgment—our review is 

de novo. 

 

Oxton v. Rudland, 2017 S.D. 35, ¶ 12, 897 N.W.2d 356, 360 (citation omitted). 

This Court views the evidence most favorably to the nonmoving party and 

resolves reasonable doubts against the moving party. Nicolay v. Stukel, 2017 S.D. 

45, ¶ 16, 900 N.W.2d 71, 78 (citations omitted). Here the Circuit Court erred in 

interpreting law and contracts to dismiss the claims, which this Court reviews de 

novo. Poeppel v. Lester, 2013 SD 17, ¶¶ 16-19, 827 N.W.2d 580, 584. 

SDCL 20–10–1, states that “[o]ne who willfully deceives another, with 

intent to induce him to alter his position to his injury or risk, is liable for any 

damage which he thereby suffers.” The Amended Complaint set forth claims for 
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Negligent Misrepresentation (Count Three)7, Deceit (Count Four) and Fraud 

(Count Five). (R. 1128). The Amended Complaint describes Evridges’ intentional 

withholding of material information and outright misrepresentation of the facts 

and legal requirements for transfer of the Association rights. It further describes 

promises about performance of the Agricultural Lease and the Supplemental Lease 

terms that Everidges did not intend to perform, or that were made to fraudulently 

induce Knecht to change his position in his own performance of the lease or 

decision to continue it. (R. 1128).  

The trial stated the issue as: “Whether the representations by the 

Defendants when they entered into contracts with Plaintiff, amount to a separate 

tort action based on fraud or deceit or whether the parties' remedies are contained 

in the contract?” (R. 2963).  The trial court erred in precluding claims that touch 

upon or include terms of the contracts at issue. The trial court then further erred in 

holding that Knecht must prove some fiduciary or other relationship; an 

independent duty arose in this business relationship. Poeppel, 2013 SD 17 at ¶¶ 

27-28, 827 N.W.2d at 587-88. 

We hold [Defendant] had a duty to the plaintiffs which arose outside 

the contract obligation, namely, the “legal duty which is due from 

every man to his fellow, to respect his rights of property ... and 

refrain from invading them by ... fraud.” Smith, 70 S.D. at 236, 16 

N.W.2d at 539. Simply put, a contract is not a license allowing one 

                                                 
7 Mike Knecht withdrew Count Three of the Amended Complaint (Negligent 

Misrepresentation).  This withdrawal, however, is not dispositive to the other counts, 

which set forth claims for intentional misrepresentations and otherwise established the 

elements for deceit and fraud. 
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party to cheat or defraud the other. 
 

Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 1997 S.D. 121, ¶ 22, 573 N.W.2d 493, 501 

(emphasis added). 

“[L]egal duty ... may spring from extraneous circumstances, 

not constituting elements of the contract as such, although 

connected with and dependent upon it, and born of that wider 

range of legal duty which is due from every man to his 

fellow, to respect his rights of property and person, and 

refrain from invading them by force or fraud.” 

Smith v. Weber, 70 S.D. 232, 236, 16 N.W.2d 537, 539 (1944) 

(quoting Rich v. New York Cent. H.R.R.R. Co., 87 N.Y. 382 (N.Y. 

1882)). “Whether a duty exists is a question of law, fully reviewable 

by this Court on appeal.” Fisher Sand & Gravel Co. v. State, 1997 

SD 8, ¶ 12, 558 N.W.2d 864, 867 (citing Tipton v. Town of 

Tabor, 538 N.W.2d 783, 785 (S.D.1995)). 

 

Delka v. Cont'l Cas. Co., 2008 S.D. 28, ¶ 15, 748 N.W.2d 140, 147. The Circuit 

Court misapplied the law.  

A.  Contract Breach and Torts Are Separate and Allowed Claims as 

Presented. 

 

 The Circuit Court decided a fact and declared Knecht was not deceived. R. 

2966 (“Even if there was deceit, the Association – which is not a party to this 

lawsuit – was deceived, not the Plaintiff.”). The deceit claim is not prohibited 

merely because the Association was also deceived, as the Knecht claims are 

separate and distinct. He suffered different harms from the Association and has 

claims based some facts different or additional to those relating to the Association. 

(R. 1128). 

A deceit within the meaning of § 20-10-1 is either: 
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(1) The suggestion, as a fact, of that which is not true, by one 

who does not believe it to be true; 

(2) The assertion, as a fact, of that which is not true, by one 

who has no reasonable ground for believing it to be true; 

(3) The suppression of a fact by one who is bound to disclose 

it, or who gives information of other facts which are likely to 

mislead for want of communication of that fact; or 

(4) A promise made without any intention of performing. 

 

SDCL § 20-10-2.  It was deceit to withhold the Supplemental Lease from the 

Association and not disclose it to Knecht. This was also fraud, as set forth below. 

SDCL § 53-4-5.  Knecht also alleged deceit and fraud based on actions taken 

during performance of the leases at issue, which is in addition to the inducement 

or would support it as evidence of a promise made without intention to perform it. 

SDCL § 20-10-1; SDCL § 53-4-5. 

Knecht consistently claimed that the Supplemental Lease was void, and he 

demanded refund or set-off of all rents paid under it. He did not elect rescission. 

(R. 2329-31). Further, the deceit and fraud impacted the Agricultural Lease terms 

and performance, raising separate issues in the alternative to the breach of contract 

claims. The Agricultural Lease was valid, covering both deeded acres owned by 

Evridges and their grazing permit from the Association. Knecht fought to keep 

Evridges from terminating the Agricultural Lease because he had no other options 

for feeding his cattle. (R. 3431) (JT 126). But his pursuit of lease contract breach 

and declaratory judgment claims to obtain what he was entitled under that 

Agricultural Lease do not preclude deceit and fraud claims.  
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This election of remedies rule does not prevent plaintiffs from 

pursuing “alternative remedies so long as no double recovery is 

awarded.” Ripple v. Wold, 1996 S.D. 68, ¶ 7, 549 N.W.2d 673, 674–

75.  

 

Stabler v. First State Bank of Roscoe, 2015 S.D. 44, ¶ 13, 865 N.W.2d 466, 475. 

The Circuit Court erred in allowing only contract remedies.   

B. Deceit and Fraud Were Properly Pleaded and Supported by 

Evidence. 

 

Whether a duty exists is a question of law; whether a defendant's conduct 

constitutes a breach of a duty is a question of fact. Janis v. Nash Finch Co., 2010 

S.D. 27, ¶ 8, 780 N.W.2d 497, 500–01.  Knecht properly alleged a duty for 

Evridges under the deceit and fraud claims. He pleaded and set forth a claim that 

Evridges had superior knowledge and failed to disclose it. This was done in 

abrogation of Evridges’ duties under the Association rules, despite their 

knowledge of such rules during their 40 years of membership, and despite 

knowledge that the Association would not approve a lease agreement that allowed 

the profit Evridges sought.  

Deceit was established by the facts discussed above, which also support 

fraud claims. “Fraudulent inducement entails willfully deceiving persons to act to 

their disadvantage.” Law Capital, Inc. v. Kettering, 836 N.W.2d 642, 646 

(S.D.2013). Fraud is one of the following acts: 

(1) The suggestion as a fact of that which is not true by one who 

does not believe it to be true; 
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(2) The positive assertion, in a manner not warranted by the 

information of the person making it, of that which is not true, though 

he believes it to be true; 

(3) The suppression of that which is true by one having knowledge 

or belief of the facts; 

(4) A promise made without any intention of performing it; or 

(5) Any other act fitted to deceive. 

 

SDCL 53–4–5; see also Poeppel, 2013 SD 17 at ¶ 827 N.W.2d at 587 (S.D.2013). 

Knecht alleged that defendants' fraudulent behavior induced him to act to its 

detriment. Johnson v. Miller, 818 N.W.2d 804, 808 (S.D.2012). This is an 

assertion of actual fraud. “Actual fraud is always a question of fact.”  SDCL § 53-

4-5.  This Court has confirmed that “Fraud as an inducement to enter a contract is 

a question of fact for the jury.” Poeppel, 2013 S.D. 17, ¶ 20, 827 N.W.2d 580, 

585, citing SDCL § 53-4-5. 

Evridges owed to Knecht full disclosure of their attempted lease approval at 

$30.00/acre and the rejection of that rate by the Association, and their use of two 

leases to obtain the equivalent rate rejected by the Association. Had Knecht been 

aware of the rules and rejection of the contract, he would have declined to enter 

into the agreements. Ducheneaux v. Miller, 488 N.W.2d 902, 913 (S.D. 1992) 

(deceit where material facts about inability to comply with law withheld, deemed 

“basic to the transaction.”). At trial, Gayle Evridge testified: 

[T]heres got to be two leases, and it’s got to be hushed up, it’s 

got to be quiet, it’s got to be secret. Is this my wishes? No. I am 

extremely uncomfortable with this. I never plan [sic] in my life to 

have a second lease. This is not right, Its underhanded. There’s 

nothing good about it. But if people get old, their livelihood 

depends on it, they may have to do it. I did not sign those two 
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leases with a good feeling in my heart. I signed those two leases 

because I could not work on my own terms. 

 

(R. 1203) (TT 517-521) (emphasis added). As noted previously, Gayle Evridge 

also responded to Knecht’s attempts to question breaches of the lease with a 

statement that “Maybe this is not the best lease for you.” R. 2223, ¶ 22. What 

followed were a series of conflicts, disputes and failures to perform lease terms 

which also support a finding of promises made without intention of performance. 

These facts support deceit and fraud claims. Additional facts would have been 

presented to the jury if the trial court had not erred in interpreting the law on the 

Supplemental Lease. 

The deceit and fraud claims were pleaded and supported with particularity 

to survive Summary Judgment, as this burden only requires production of a factual 

dispute under evidence admissible at trial. Schwaiger v. Mitchell Radiology 

Assocs., P.C., 2002 S.D. 97, ¶ 14, 652 N.W.2d 372, 378 (citing Bruske v. Hille, 

1997 S.D. 108, ¶ 11, 567 N.W.2d 872, 876 (specific material facts must be 

presented in order to prevent summary judgment on fraud and deceit claims)). 

Knecht amply provided such material facts. Witness testimony and the Affidavit 

of Mike Knecht (R. 2896), together with those Findings of Fact by the trial court, 

are summarized in the “Plaintiff’s Statement of Material Facts[.]”  R. 2936 (filed 

March 6, 2017). It was not the province of the trial court to take these claims from 

the jury. Arnoldy v. Mahoney, 2010 S.D. 89, ¶¶ 43-44, 791 N.W.2d 645, 660 

(reversing summary judgment on fraud and deceit claims where the record showed 
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disputed issues of fact on each tort; overruling declaratory judgment based on 

erroneous application of law). Knecht is entitled to a trial on the issues of deceit 

and fraud. 

CONCLUSION 

 The trial court erred in failing to declare the Supplemental Lease void and 

in dismissing the deceit and fraud claims. This Court must allow Knecht to seek 

his remedies to recover or set-off payments made under the Supplemental Lease 

and have a jury determine the tort claims and 2016 damages for breach of the 

Agricultural Lease. If there is a basis for a jury to decide matters in the 

Counterclaim, a new trial on the fencing claim is appropriate. The 2016 rent 

payments are a legal matter at this point and will likely be determined by the 

Circuit Court. For these reasons, the Judgment must be reversed in part and 

remanded. 

 

Dated at Sioux Falls, South Dakota, this 20th day of December, 2018. 

 

DONAHOE LAW FIRM, P.C. 

 

 

/s/ Brian J. Donahoe          

Brian J. Donahoe 

Daniel A. Weinstein 

401 E. 8th Street, Suite 215 
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brian@donahoelawfirm.com 

Telephone:   605-367-3310 

Facsimile:    866-376-3310 
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- Page 2971 -

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA i IN CIRCUIT COURT
lss.

COUNTY OF PERKINS E FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
i___i

I
MICHAEL J. KNECHT, ) COURT FILE NO.

Plaintiff, V 52CIV14-OOOO22
P

VS ' $335311 Ma?
) FEHIIIG l ?i

GAYLE EVRIDGE, and ) Hlijllfi?l?iiii
LINDA EVRIDG E, )

Defendants. A
__&%_i

This matter COI1'1 before the Court O Defendants? Motion for Summary

Judgment. The hearing W55 held March 10, 2017. Mr. Knecht (?Plaintiff?),

aPP@ared personally and W88 represented bY Mr. Robert Galbraith . Mr. Evridge

and Mrs. Evridge (?Defendants?), aPPBared personally and were represented b

Mr. Thomas Brady. Mr. Galbraith orally withdrew Count III (Negligent

Misrepresentation) of Plaintiffs Amended Complaint. This Order addresses

Defendants? Motion for Summary Judgment for the Fraud and Deceit Counts.

The Court, having reviewed the briefs, statements of undisputed facts, Findings

of Fact and Conclusions of Law, affidavits of the parti?S, and being fully

advised on the matter, issues the following:

FACTUAL lf=I;K0RUY;(?'iHli

The facts of this C886 WCI litigated by the parties during ' three-day

bifurcated COI.1 trial. The facts involving negotiation and signing of the

contracts are not in dispute. Defendants OWI a ranch in Perkins County, South

Dakota. Plaintiff and Defendants OVC { period of time discussed Plaintiff

leasing Defendants? ranch? t0 run cattle.

Two leases W61? entered into: The Agricultural I/ease, which allowed

Plaintiff to lease Defendants? 3,070 &CI' ranch at 8 rate of $28.55 Per acre for

H 7 201

k;n_li]{||f"(u knwu. {?g

W----_--????-?-?
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three y?afsr and the Supplemental Lease, which authorized Plaintiff t0 graze

200 head of cowl calf pairs and six bulls on Defendants? allotted Grand River

Grazing Association (?Association?) Permit. Both leases provide that the

transfer of the gr Permit W3 subject to aPP1'0va1 by the Association.

Prior to the signing of the leases, Plaintiff-?after consultation with his

banker?~agreed t0 the ?nancial terms of the leases. Defendants advisedJ

Plaintiff th?Y would only lease the land if EW leases WBf' signed. Defendants?

5 attomcy drafted both leases. Prior ? signing, Defendants? attorney went OVE

the lease provisions with Plaintiff. At the time the leases W61? signed,

Defendants advised Plaintiff that only the Agricultural Lease would be provided

to the Association C accomplish transfer of the Era-Zing permit. Defendants

WCT E.WB. of the Association rules; Plaintiff W3 not. Defendants advised

Plaintiff that the Supplemental Lease of the grazing permit had i0 be kept

secret and would not bg presented to the Association. B rule of the
J Association, all leases had to be presented for aPPr0va1 21 8 requirement to
\

transfer of the gr?-Zing permit.

I

K
Plaintiff aPPIied for and WH approved E B member of the Association in

E early 2014, before the lease WB approved bY the Association. See Trial

Transcript, 318211-24, August 31? 2015, 52CIV14-000022. The Agricultural

Lease W38 presented I the Association and the permit W3 transferred to

Plaintiff. Plaintiff F81 his cattle O1 the grazing permit for CW of the three ye6lI?s

Sometime after the permit WE transferred, the Association found out about the

Supplemental Lease and cancelled the permit for 2016, the last Year of the

Supplemental Lease. The Association cancelled the graling permit for the 2016

Year because the Supplemental Lease had not been presented ? the
4

Association for a- which W& 8 requirement. See also Trial Transcript,

311225-312:17. August 31, 2015, 52ClV14-000022.

Filed: 4/10/2017 10:42:29 AM CST Perkins County, South Dakota 52ClV14-000022
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After the Association cancelled the grazing permit for 2015, Plainfiff

terminated the Supplemental Lease pursuant 1 the lease terms. The

Supplemental Lease provides, ?[i]n the CVCT the permit is IIO transferred,

lessee may terminate O renegotiate this lease.? See Supplemental Lease, P. 4.

Because the Association would not issue the grazing permit in 2016, Plaintiff,

1 pursuant to the terms of the Supplemental Lease, voided the lease . See also
E

Trial Transcript, 16:21-22; 7:10-20, August 24, 2015, 52ClV14--000022.

Plaintiff could have renegotiated the lease.

I_[?I>?I

Whether the representations bY the Defendants when they entered into

contracts with Plaintiff, 81110111 to v separate tort action based on fraud O

deceit O whether the Parties? remedies EI'? contained in the contract?

&l;lQJJ];Y;1i [I1 ELKH

?[The South Dakota Supreme Court] [i]n reviewing 2 grant O 5 denial of

SL1Il'1II13 judgment under S.D.C.L. I 15?6?56(?). must determine whether

the moving Party demonstrated the absence of any genuine issue of material

fact and showed entitlement to Judgment O1 the merits E 8 matter of ]a.w_

Schliem U State 6 rel. Dep ?t of Transp., 2016 S.D. 90, ? 7 888 N.W.2d 217,

221 (citing Gades U Meyer Modernizing Co., 2015 S.D. 42, i 7: 865 N.W.2d 155,

157-ss) (quoting Peters U Great W Bank, Ina, 2015 S.D. 4. 1 5, 859 N.W.2d

6181 621)- ?{The Court] vi6W[S the evidence ?most favorably to the nonmoving

P9- and resolve[s] reasonable doubts against the moving party. ? J Gades, 1 7

865 N.W.2d at 158 (quoting Peters, 2015 S.D. 4, 1 5. 859 N.W.2d at 621)-

Pursuant to S.D.C.L 2 15-6-56(6)?

When ? motion for summary judgment is made and supported gq
provided in S.D.C.L. : 15-6-S6, an adverse Party may not rest
upon the IHCF allegations O denials of his pleading? but his
response, by affidavits OI El otherwise provided in S.D.C.L. 15-6-

56, must SE forth specific facts showing that there is & genuine

Filed: 4/10/2017 10:42:29 AM CST Perkins County, South Dakota 52ClV14-000022

APP. 012



NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER: GRANTING MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITH C/S Page 6 of 10

- Page 2974 -

issue for trial. If he does not VI respond, summary Judgment, if
appropriate, shall be entered against him.

IQ ?!;!&?(=3

6. Claims of Fraud and Deceit

An action for deceit requires proof of material misrepresentation in the

E formation of the COIIUHC and detrimental reliance. See Moss U Guttormson,

1996 S.D. 76, 1 8, 551 N.W.2d 14, 16; Littau 1 Midwest Commodities, ITIC 316

N.W.2d 639, 643 (8.1). 1982? Asch?ff U Mobil Oil cor?" 261 N.W.2d 120 (S.D.

1977y S.D.C.L ? 2O~10-1 states:

One who willfully deceives another, with intent t0 induce him to
alter his position t0 his injury OI ['iSk; is liable for any damage
which he thereby suffers.

S.D.C.L 7 2O~1O-2 StB1CS

A deceit within the meaning of S.D.C.L 20-10-1 is either:

(1) The suggestion, 8. a fact, of that which is not tru?, by 011 who
does not believe it I1 be true;
(2 The assertion, 9 fact, of that which is not tru?, bY 011 who
has T1 reasonable ground for believing it to be true;
(3) The suppression of g fact by 011 who is bound 1 disclose it, OI
who gives information of other facts which HI likely to mislead for
want of communication of that fact; O
(4 A promise made Without any intcntion of performing

Plaintiffs Amended Complaint QSSCIT claims of deceit and fraud;

however, it fails to specify what subsection aPp1ies. The essential elements of

deceit are:

[T]hat I representation WE made E K statement of fact, which W88
11I'.ltI'L and known to be untrue bY the Party making it, O else

recklessly made; that it WB. made with the intent to deceive and
for the Pufpose of inducing the other Party to 8.C upon it; and that
he did in fact 1'6]- on it and induced thereby to act [ his
injury OI damage.

Grynberg, 1997 S.D. 121, 1 24, 573 N.W.2d 493: 502; S. Croes Family TI'Ll

1 Dahl U Sittner, 474 N.W.2d 897, 900 (8.1). 19913 Small Bus. Admin., 446
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N.W.2d 55, 57 (5.1). 1989); Holy Cross Parish U Huether, 308 N.W.2d 575, 576

(S-D. 1981?

Even in the absence of ' ?duciary duty, a Party may be bound ?0 disclose

facts relating I0 the transaction. Lindskou U Lindskov, 2011 S.D. 34, 1 14, 800

N.W.2d 715, 719 (citing Schwartz U Morgan, 2009 S.D. 110, 1 10, 776 N.W.2cl

827,
831) ' (citing

Ducheneaux U Miller, 488 N.W.2d 902, 913 (S.D. 1992))- A

P311) t0 1 business transaction is under K dulb? t0 disclose facts basic to the

transaction: (1) if he knows that the other P3113 is about t0 enter into it under

r mistake to the facts; I2) if he knows that the other Party would reasonably

expect disclosure of the facts because of the relationship between 111161 the

CUSIOIH of the trade, O other objective circumstances; and (3) if the

information is not Otherwise discoverable by reasonable C8I." Id. (citing

F Schwartz, 2009 S.D. 110, i 10, 776 N.W.2d 827 at 531) (citing Ducheneaux,

488 N.W.2d at 918) (adopting Restatement (S?cond) Torts 5s1(2)(==))

Plaintiffs allegations for fraud and deceit BI based O Defendants

representation to Plaintiff, that Defendants would 0111 lease their land if it

W?l" done with {W leases and Defendants failure ?? provide the Supplemental

Lease $ the Association for aPprova1,

Plaintiff? s argument is that b) concealing the Supplemental Lease from

i the Association, Defendants W8I'? able ?? charge Plaintiff 8 larger rental amount

b) combining the Agricultural Lease and the Supplemental Lease. Todd
I

Campbell, the Executive Director of the Association, testi?ed that the grazing

5
\

permit is tied '? the land; 2 land OWTI CE sublease the grazing permit to

E SOITICOI aPPI?0ved b the Association. See Trial Transcript, 302:6-21, August

T 31, 2015, 52CIV14-OOOO22. There is I1 dispute that Plaintiff agreed t0 the
J

ICITII of both leases. The Supplemental Lease contains remedies in the ?V6l?

the grazing permit is not issued, Plaintiff may terminate the lease O

1
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renegotiate. Plaintiff chose to terminate the Supplemental Lease. Even if there

\'n1? deceit, the Association?which is not " Party C this lawsuit-?was deceived,

not the Plaintiff.

Plaintiff has not established 3 ?duciary dub? separate from the terms of

the contract. See Lindskov, 2011 S.D. 34, i 14, 800 N.W.2d 715, 719 (citing

Schwartz, 2009 S.D. 110, f 10, 776 N.W.2d 827 at 331)~ Additionally,

Defendants, bY the Plain language in both leases, disclosed to Plaintiff that

both leases WET subject ? the Association and its rules of management. See

Id. [Citing Schwartz, 2009 S.D. 110, i 10, 776 N.W.2d 827 at 331) (Citing

Ducheneawc, 488 N.W.2d at 913) (adopting Restatement (Second) Torts

I 551(2)(=)); W2 e-9' S.D.C.L 7 17-1-4 [noting eV?ry person who has actual nbtice

1 of circumstances sufficient E Put r prudent H181 upon inquiry t0 5
1 particular fact, and who omits to make such inquiry with reasonable diligence,

i is deemed to have constructive notice of the fact itself]; W Bank U RaDec
r

Const. Co., 382 N.W.2d 406, 410 (8.1). 1986) (noting * person has notice of f

1 fact when he has actual knowledge of it, has received 8 notice O noti?cation of

it! O from all the facts and Circumstances known t0 him at the time in

? question he has T88501 t0 know that it exists) .
I

Plaintiff at the time he signed both leases was F10 fully informed of the

rules of the Association OI the requirements for issuance of Q permit; however,

Plaintiff WE aware, by the explicit language in both leases that the leases W61

subject ? the BPProva1 of the Association. See Trial Transcript, 15:20-22,

| August 241 2015, 52CIV14-000022 (Mr, Hurley: And when Y?u (Mr. Knecht)

entered into Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 2, did the Evridges explain C Y0u about the
r

grazing permit? Mr. Knecht: The)? (the Evridg?s) explained SOIH about it Y?ah_)
1
1
1

1
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This Court previously found Plaintiff knew the Supplemental Lease

involved the Association permit. See Findings of Fact and Conclusions of LaW

i 12, January 11, 2016, 52CIV14?OOOO22. Moreover, Plaintiff applied for and

1 L'4'l aPP1'0ved E- g member of the Association in early 2014, before the lease

W3 aPProved b the Association. See Trial Transcript, 318:1 1-24, August 31,

2015, 52C1V14-000022. Lastly, the lease contained E remedy in the GVBI the

le?se was I?1 aPProver:l by the Association and Plaintiff exercised that remedy?

T
Plaintiff voided the lease.

Plaintiff fails to ?sscrt 1 colorable claim of fraud OI deceit; thus,

Plaintiffs claims for damages are covered by the terms of the Parties?I

contracts. l

{(0)153 1'13

1 The dispute between the parties is covered b the remedies included in

\ the terms of the contracts. Each Party can still assert claims of damages

arising from breach of CO1?1U?8 Plaintiff has failed ? identify a1'1 duty created

b law independent of the Parties? contractual relationship which would

i amount to ?= independent tort. Plaintiff had actual E Well E constructive

notice that the A?sociation in both leases had to apPI?0Vc the permit and if the

permit W88 not approved the remedy W3 provided for within the four-corners

A : general rule, punitive damages "-3 not recoverable in r breach o contract claim
Schipporeit V Khan, 2009 S.D. 96, 6, 775 N.W.2 503, 504- Grynberg U Citation Oi { Gas
COE 1997 S 121 ? 22, 573 N.W.2 493, 500 S8 SDC I 21-3-2. The public poncy ICZSO
fo this rule BI explained in Grynberg '= follows

First, breach of contract is generally " private il'1jur unlike K malicious tort,
which authorities have held t be E public injury- Second, our free market
system allows economically e?icient breaches o contract, for example, when it

I costs less for 011 Party to breach E unwise contract and to Pa) the other Party
1 compen satory damages than it would cost to completely perform the contract.

Third, qwlhilc COR] PEI]. damages encourage reliance on business
agreements, the threat of additional punitive damages would create uncertainty
and apprehension in the marketplace. "

1997 S 121, ? 17 573 N.W.2d at 500 (internal citations omitted].
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of the contract. The Court grants summary Judgment in favor of Defendants on

Counts IV and V (deceit and fraud) of Plaintiffs Amended Complaint.

Counsel for Defend ants shall draft judgment consistent with this

decision.
wk

Dated this April, 2017.

BY T
QNJRT:

O ndall c
Ci uit Court Jud

A'I?TES}P.\_ .:1a=/~?

"
J3! Y ll ?

Clerk of Courts F 52 b
BY

$\7
?? PK

D6Puty Clerk of Courts = P E
Z

Kid ?1
ivN W

[ 7 201

wyr aw? . ~ . - - - 1

B!.._._____._.______.

Filed: 4/10/2017 10:42:29 AM CST Perkins County, South Dakota 52ClV14-000022

APP. 017



APP. 018



APP. 019



APP. 020



APP. 021



IN THE SUPREME COURT 

OF THE 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

 

_____________________________________ 

 

Appeal No. 28781 

_____________________________________ 

 

MICHAEL J. KNECHT, 

 

 Plaintiff and Appellant, 

 

v. 

 

GAYLE W. EVRIDGE and LINDA M. EVRIDGE, 

 

 Defendants and Appellees. 

_____________________________________ 

 

Appeal from the Fourth Judicial Circuit 

Perkins County, South Dakota 

 

The Honorable Eric J. Strawn, Presiding Judge 

_____________________________________ 

 

BRIEF OF APPELLEES EVRIDGE 

_____________________________________ 

 

Brian J. Donahoe 

Daniel A. Weinstein 

Donahoe Law Firm, P.C. 

401 E. 8th Street, Suite 215 

Sioux Falls, SD 57103-7006 

Attorneys for Appellant 

Cassidy M. Stalley 

Dana Van Beek Palmer 

Lynn, Jackson, Shultz & Lebrun, P.C. 

909 St. Joseph Street, Suite 800 

Rapid City, SD 57701-3301 

Attorneys for Appellees 

 

 

 

 

Notice of Appeal filed September 21, 2018



i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

  Page 
 

Table of Authorities ........................................................................................................... iii 

 

Preliminary Statement ..........................................................................................................1 

 

Jurisdictional Statement .......................................................................................................1 

 

Statement of the Issues.........................................................................................................2 

 

I. Whether this Court has jurisdiction to consider an appeal from the circuit court’s 

Declaratory Judgment, which finally and completely adjudicated all issues relating  

to the validity of the parties’ Supplemental Lease. ........................................................2 

 

II. Whether Knecht waived his right to contest the validity of the Supplemental Lease 

by failing to raise this issue below. ................................................................................2 

 

III. Whether the Supplemental Lease is unlawful and void because it is contrary to an 

express provision of the law, it violates the policy and purpose of the law, and it 

violates public policy. ....................................................................................................2 

 

IV. Whether entry of summary judgment on Knecht’s claims of fraud and deceit 

 should be affirmed. ........................................................................................................3 

 

Response to Knecht’s Statement of the Case .......................................................................3 

 

Response to Knecht’s Statement of the Facts ......................................................................4 

 

Argument .............................................................................................................................5 

 

I. This Court does not have jurisdiction to consider an appeal from the circuit court’s 

Declaratory Judgment, which finally and completely adjudicated all issues relating 

to the validity of the parties’ Supplemental Lease. ........................................................5 

 

II. Even if Knecht has timely appealed the circuit court’s Declaratory Judgment – he  

has not – Knecht waived his right to contest the validity of the Supplemental Lease 

by failing to raise this issue below. ..............................................................................10 

 

III. Even if Knecht had raised the issue below – he did not – the Supplemental Lease 

is not unlawful and not void.........................................................................................15 

 

A. The Supplemental Lease is neither expressly prohibited nor contrary to the 

policy and purpose of law. .....................................................................................15 

 



ii 

B. The Supplemental Lease is not void under public policy. .....................................20 

 

C. Knecht failed to object to the jury instructions or propose an alternative on  

 this issue. ................................................................................................................21 

 

D. Even if the Supplemental Lease is void for legality – it is not – Knecht cannot 

recover payments made to Evridges. .....................................................................22 

 

IV. Entry of Summary Judgment on Knecht’s Claims of Fraud and Deceit Was Proper 

and Should Be Affirmed. .............................................................................................24 

 

Summary Judgment Standard of Review .....................................................................24 

 

A. Evridges Owed No Duty to Knecht Beyond the Contract. ....................................25 

 

B. Knecht Did Not Establish the Essential Elements of His Claims. .........................27 

 

Conclusion .........................................................................................................................29 

 

Certificate of Compliance ..................................................................................................30 

 

Certificate of Service .........................................................................................................31 

 

Appendix 



iii 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 
 

  Page 

Federal Cases 

Ets-Hokin & Galvan, Inc. v. Maas Transp., Inc., 

380 F.2d 258 (8th Cir. 1967) ..................................................................................... 2, 18 

United States v Dann, 

873 F.2d 1189 (9th Cir. 1987) ....................................................................................... 19 

United States v Gardner, 

107 F.3d 1314 (9th Cir. 1997) ....................................................................................... 19 

 

State Cases 
Action Mech., Inc. v. Deadwood Historic Pres. Comm'n, 

2002 S.D. 121, 652 N.W.2d 742 ......................................................................... 2, 10, 11 

Bozied v. City of Brookings, 

2001 S.D. 150, 638 N.W.2d 264 ................................................................................... 22 

Bradley Grain Co. v. Peterson, 

267 N.W.2d 836 (S.D. 1978) ..................................................................................... 2, 19 

Carver v. Heikkila, 

465 N.W.2d 183 (S.D. 1991) ....................................................................................... 2, 7 

Cowan Bros., L.L.C. v. Am. State Bank, 

2007 S.D. 131, 743 N.W.2d 411 ............................................................................. 24, 25 

Domson, Inc. v. Kadrmas Lee & Jackson, Inc., 

2018 S.D. 67, 918 N.W.2d 396 ..................................................................................... 20 

Fortier v. City of Spearfish, 

433 N.W.2d 228 (S.D. 1988) ............................................................................. 14, 16, 17 

Gabriel v. Bauman, 

2014 S.D. 30, 847 N.W.2d 537 ..................................................................................... 14 

Griffin v. Dwyer, 

88 S.D. 357, 220 N.W.2d 1 (1974) .................................................................................. 8 

Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 

1997 S.D. 121, 573 N.W.2d 493 ......................................................................... 3, 25, 26 

Hall v. State ex rel. S. Dakota Dep't of Transp., 

2006 S.D. 24, 712 N.W.2d 22 (collecting cases)..................................................... 14, 24 

Hasse v. Fraternal Order of Eagles No. 2421 of Vermillion, 

2003 S.D. 23, 658 N.W.2d 410 ....................................................................................... 2 

Husky Spray Serv., Inc. v. Patzer, 

471 N.W.2d 146 (S.D. 1991) ..................................................................................... 2, 14 

In re Estate of Siebrasse, 

2006 S.D. 83, 722 N.W.2d 86 ......................................................................................... 9 

In re Pooled Advocate Tr., 

2012 S.D. 24, , 813 N.W.2d 130 ..................................................................................... 9 

Klutman v. Sioux Falls Storm, 

2009 S.D. 55, 769 N.W.2d 440 ..................................................................................... 12 

Law Capital, Inc. v. Kettering, 

2013 S.D. 66, 836 N.W.2d  645 ................................................................................ 2, 21 



iv 

Lindskov v. Lindskov, 

2011 S.D. 34, 800 N.W.2d 715 ..................................................................................... 26 

Long v. Knight Const. Co., 

262 N.W.2d 207 (S.D. 1978) ........................................................................................... 6 

Long v. State, 

2017 S.D. 79, 904 N.W.2d 502 ................................................................................. 2, 12 

MGA Ins. Co. v. Goodsell, 

2005 S.D. 118, 707 N.W.2d 483 ..................................................................................... 7 

Midcom, Inc. v. Oehlerking, 

2006 S.D. 87, 722 N.W.2d 722 ............................................................................... 1, 8, 9 

Mortweet v. Eliason, 

335 N.W.2d 812 (S.D. 1983) ..................................................................................... 2, 14 

Niesent v. Homestake Mining Co., 

505 N.W.2d 781 (S.D. 1993) ......................................................................................... 20 

Norbeck & Nicholson Co. v. State, 

32 S.D. 189, 142 N.W. 847 (1913) ...................................................................... 3, 22, 23 

North Am. Truck & Trailer, Inc. v. M.C.I. Commc’n Servs., Inc., 

2008 S.D. 45, 751 N.W.2d 710 ............................................................................. 3, 6, 27 

Osdoba v. Kelley-Osdoba, 

2018 S.D. 43, 913 N.W.2d 496 ............................................................................... 12, 14 

Schaffer v. Edward D. Jones & Co., 

1996 S.D. 94, 552 N.W.2d 801 ..................................................................................... 21 

Schipporeit v. Khan, 

2009 S.D. 96, 775 N.W.2d 503 ................................................................................. 3, 25 

Schwartz v. Morgan, 

2009 SD 110, 776 N.W.2d 827 ................................................................................. 3, 26 

Taggart v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 

462 N.W.2d 493 (S.D.1990) .......................................................................................... 26 

Thunderstik Lodge, Inc. v. Reuer, 

613 N.W.2d 44 (S.D. 2000) ........................................................................................... 17 
 

Federal Statutes 
16 U.S.C. §580l ................................................................................................................. 20 

 

State Statutes 

SDCL 15-6-42(b) ................................................................................................................ 5 

SDCL 15-6-56(c) .............................................................................................................. 24 

SDCL 15-26A-6 .................................................................................................................. 6 

SDCL 15-26A-60(5) ........................................................................................................... 5 

SDCL 20-10-2(3) .......................................................................................................... 3, 27 

SDCL 21-24-1 ............................................................................................................. 2, 5, 7 

SDCL 21-24-3 ..................................................................................................................... 2 

SDCL 21-24-13 ............................................................................................................... 2, 7 

SDCL 53-5-3 ........................................................................................................... 3, 15, 17 

SDCL 53-9-1 ........................................................................................................... 3, 15, 17 

SDCL 53-9-3 ............................................................................................................... 20, 21 



v 

Regulations 
36 C.F.R. §222 .................................................................................................................. 20 

36 C.F.R. §222.3 ..................................................................................................... 3, 15, 18 

36 C.F.R. §222.3(c)(1)(i) .................................................................................................. 18 

36 C.F.R. §222.3(c)(1)(vi) .......................................................................................... 12, 15 

36 C.F.R. §222.4(a)........................................................................................................... 19 

36 C.F.R. §222.4(a)(2) ...................................................................................................... 19 

36 C.F.R. §222.7 ........................................................................................................... 3, 15 

 

 

 

 



1 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 
 

 This brief is in response to Plaintiff Michael J. Knecht’s Appellant brief.  

Plaintiff-Appellant will be referred to as “Knecht.”  Defendants-Appellees will be 

referred to as “Evridges.”  Reference to the record shall be as designated as “CR,” 

followed by the appropriate page number.  Reference to Knecht’s Appellant Brief will be 

referred to as “Knecht Br.” followed by the appropriate page number. 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 Knecht seeks to appeal from the circuit court’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions 

of Law and Declaratory Orders (“Declaratory Judgment”), dated January 11, 2016, by the 

Honorable Randall Macy, and specifically regarding the validity of the Supplemental 

Lease.  Knecht Br. 6; CR 2209.  The Declaratory Judgment determined, among other 

things, the validity of the parties’ Supplemental Lease.  CR 2209-16.  The Declaratory 

Judgment was signed and filed January 11, 2016.  CR 2216.  Notice of Entry was filed on 

January 12, 2016.  CR 2218. 

 The Court has no appellate jurisdiction to consider Knecht’s arguments as to the 

validity of the Supplemental Lease as determined by the circuit court’s Declaratory 

Judgment.  Midcom, Inc. v. Oehlerking, 2006 S.D. 87, ¶ 11, 722 N.W.2d 722, 725 

(citation omitted).  The Declaratory Judgment finally and completely adjudicated all 

issues relating to the validity of the Supplemental Lease.  CR 2216.  Appellate 

jurisdiction is entirely statutory, and failure to timely appeal strips this Court of its 

appellate jurisdiction.  Id.   
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. Whether this Court has jurisdiction to consider an appeal from the circuit court’s 

Declaratory Judgment, which finally and completely adjudicated all issues 

relating to the validity of the parties’ Supplemental Lease.   

 

The circuit court made no ruling. 

 

SDCL 21-24-1 

 

SDCL 21-24-3 

 

SDCL 21-24-13 

 

Hasse v. Fraternal Order of Eagles No. 2421 of Vermillion, 2003 S.D. 23, 658 

N.W.2d 410 

 

Carver v. Heikkila, 465 N.W.2d 183 (S.D. 1991) 

 

II. Whether Knecht waived his right to contest the validity of the Supplemental 

Lease by failing to raise this issue below. 

 

The circuit court made no ruling.  

 

Action Mech., Inc. v. Deadwood Historic Pres. Comm'n, 2002 S.D. 121, 652 

N.W.2d 742 

 

Mortweet v. Eliason, 335 N.W.2d 812 (S.D. 1983) 

 

Long v. State, 2017 S.D. 79, 904 N.W.2d 502 

 

Husky Spray Serv., Inc. v. Patzer, 471 N.W.2d 146 (S.D. 1991) 

 

III. Whether the Supplemental Lease is unlawful and void because it is contrary to an 

express provision of the law, it violates the policy and purpose of the law, and it 

violates public policy. 

 

The record does not show that Knecht raised this issue below.  The circuit court 

did not rule on this issue.  

 

Ets-Hokin & Galvan, Inc. v. Maas Transp., Inc., 380 F.2d 258 (8th Cir. 1967) 

 

Bradley Grain Co. v. Peterson, 267 N.W.2d 836 (S.D. 1978) 

 

Law Capital, Inc. v. Kettering, 2013 S.D. 66, 836 N.W.2d  645 
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Norbeck & Nicholson Co. v. State, 32 S.D. 189, 142 N.W. 847 (1913) 

 

SDCL 53-9-1 

 

SDCL 53-5-3 

 

36 C.F.R. §222.3 

 

36 C.F.R. §222.7 

 

IV. Whether entry of summary judgment on Knecht’s claims of fraud and deceit 

should be affirmed. 

 

The circuit court correctly held as a matter of law that Knecht failed to identify a 

duty independent of the parties’ relationship which would amount to an 

independent tort. 

 

Schipporeit v. Khan, 2009 S.D. 96, 775 N.W.2d 503 

 

Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 1997 S.D. 121, 573 N.W.2d 493 

 

Schwartz v. Morgan, 2009 SD 110, 776 N.W.2d 827 

 

North Am. Truck & Trailer, Inc. v. M.C.I. Commc’n Servs., Inc., 2008 S.D. 45, 

751 N.W.2d 710  

 

SDCL 20-10-2(3) 

 

RESPONSE TO KNECHT’S STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Likely anticipating Evridges’ jurisdictional argument, Knecht mischaracterizes 

the record.  Knecht asserts that he “contested” the circuit court’s “Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law and Declaratory Orders” related to the Supplemental Lease and 

“filed an interlocutory appeal” in 2016.  Knecht Br. 9.  This is incorrect.  The circuit 

court entered its Declaratory Judgment on January 11, 2016, conclusively establishing the 

terms, validity, and enforceability of the Supplemental Lease.  CR 2216.  Evridges filed a 

Notice of Entry on January 12, 2016.  CR 2218.  The record is clear that Knecht failed to 
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file any notice of appeal on the issue that he now contests: the validity and enforceability 

of the Supplemental Lease.  For him to suggest otherwise is a misstatement of the record. 

 While Knecht did file an appeal in 2016 (CR 2490-93), the appeal was not an 

appeal of the circuit court’s January 11, 2016 Declaratory Judgment, but an appeal of a 

judgment and order granting Evridges’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and 

Motion for Release of Funds, which only addressed the factual issue of recoverable 

damages.  Indeed, Knecht’s Notice of Appeal and Docketing Statement indicate he is 

appealing specifically from the March 30, 2016 Judgment and the March 30, 2016 Order.  

CR 2483-91; see also CR 2398-2400, 2323, 2337, 2354, 2356.  (There is no petition for 

interlocutory appeal in the record.)  Completely absent from Knecht’s 2016 Notice of 

Appeal and Docketing Statement is any reference to the circuit court’s Findings of Fact 

and Conclusions of Law and Declaratory Orders; the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law and Declaratory Orders are not even attached to the Docketing Statement.  CR 2483-

2500.  The March 30, 2016 Order and Judgment did not address, nor were they related to, 

the circuit court’s Declaratory Judgment conclusively establishing the validity and 

enforceability of the Supplemental Lease.  Instead, the March 30, 2016 Order and 

Judgment related specifically to Evridges’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and 

Motion for Release of Funds; in other words, the Evridges’ claim for damages.  The 

March 30, 2016 Order granted in part Evridges’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment 

for failure to pay rent, and ordered release of funds held by the Perkins County Clerk of 

Courts.  The March 30, 2016 Judgment was entered to enforce the March 30, 2016 Order 

granting partial summary judgment.  CR 2400.  
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RESPONSE TO KNECHT’S STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Knecht is required by statute to provide this Court with a statement of facts 

“relevant to the grounds urged for reversal” and which “must be stated fairly, with 

complete candor, and as concisely as possible.”  SDCL 15-26A-60(5).  Knecht fails to do 

so.  Instead, as he has done throughout the entirety of this lawsuit, Knecht dedicates 

twelve pages of his appellant brief to self-serving (and incorrect) facts that are largely 

irrelevant to any issue on appeal for the obvious purposes of coloring this Court’s view of 

the Evridges, blurring the issues, and distracting the focus of this Court.  For purposes of 

brevity, Evridges will provide this Court with reference to where errors in fact are present 

in Knecht’s brief which are relevant to the issues on appeal. 

ARGUMENT 

I. This Court does not have jurisdiction to consider an appeal from the circuit 

court’s Declaratory Judgment, which finally and completely adjudicated all 

issues relating to the validity of the parties’ Supplemental Lease.   

 

Nearly three years after its entry, Knecht seeks to appeal from the circuit court’s 

Declaratory Judgment determining, among over things, the validity of the parties’ 

Supplemental Lease.  To do so, as noted above, Knecht misrepresents the procedural 

background of this case.  But as the record reflects, and as a matter of law, Knecht’s time 

to appeal ran on February 11, 2016, thirty days after notice of entry of the circuit court’s 

Declaratory Judgment. 

Indeed, Knecht initiated this action seeking “a declaratory judgment pursuant to 

SDCL 21-24-1. . . . to determine and establish his rights under the leases,” as well as 

damages for breach of quiet enjoyment.  CR 2.  The parties stipulated, pursuant to SDCL 

15-6-42(b), to bifurcate Knecht’s declaratory judgment action from the parties’ damage 
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claims.  CR 111-14; see also CR 44-47, 3053-58, 3095.  The circuit court entered an 

order, specifying 

Trial for the declaratory judgment portion of this lawsuit, to include issues 

as to the validity of either of the two documents titled “Agricultural 

Lease” and “Supplemental Agricultural Lease,” or if valid, the terms of 

the agreement(s), will begin on August 24, 2015 at 9 AM . . . and will 

continue on August 31, 2015[.]  Trial for any remaining issue, including 

damages, if any, shall be set thereafter. 

 

CR 114.  And a court trial was held on August 24, 2015, August 31, 2015, and September 

23, 2015, with testimony related to the validity and terms of the agreements.  CR 1203-

1998. 

 On January 11, 2016, the circuit court issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law and Declaratory Orders, conclusively determining, as relevant here, the validity and 

terms of the parties’ Supplemental Lease.  CR 2216.  Evridges filed and served a Notice 

of Entry on January 12, 2016.  CR 2218.   

 As this Court is well aware, the statutory time for appeal is thirty days after a 

judgment is “signed, attested, filed and written notice of entry thereof shall have been 

given to the adverse party.”  SDCL 15-26A-6.  But until Knecht’s September 21, 2018 

Notice of Appeal, Knecht had never filed a notice of appeal of the circuit court’s 

Declaratory Judgment.  Knecht’s September 2018 Notice of Appeal comes 983 days after 

Notice of Entry of the January 11, 2016 Declaratory Judgment, and 953 days after the 

time for appeal ran.  Id.  Failure to serve a notice of appeal “before the time for taking an 

appeal expire[s] is fatal to the appeal.”  Long v. Knight Const. Co., 262 N.W.2d 207, 208 

(S.D. 1978) (citation omitted).  Indeed, “[t]his court is without jurisdiction of an untimely 

appeal.”  Id. at 209 (citation omitted).  As Knecht failed to timely appeal from the circuit 
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court’s Declaratory Judgment, this Court is without jurisdiction to consider Knecht’s 

appeal as to the validity and enforceability of the Supplemental Lease. 

It is anticipated that Knecht will assert (as he has in his statement of the case) that 

he attempted to appeal the circuit court’s Declaratory Judgment in 2016, and this Court 

dismissed the appeal as not a final order.  Knecht Br. 9; see also CR 2615.  But as 

addressed above, Knecht did not appeal from the circuit court’s Declaratory Judgment, 

but an order and judgment granting partial summary judgment, which addressed the 

factual issue of damages.  CR 2483-2500.  Summary judgment is, by its very nature, 

typically not a final judgment.  MGA Ins. Co. v. Goodsell, 2005 S.D. 118, ¶ 33, 707 

N.W.2d 483 (Zinter concurring).  And this case is no different.  Knecht fails to appreciate 

the unique nature of a declaratory judgment action.  

As a matter of law, the circuit court’s Declaratory Judgment was a final and 

appealable order.  SDCL 21-24-1 and 21-24-3 authorize declaratory actions to determine 

the rights of parties to a contract.  Like other judgments, declaratory judgments are 

subject to appeal.  SDCL 21-24-13.  In fact, declaratory judgments have “the force and 

effect of a final judgment or decree.”  SDCL 21-24-1.  “Like any other judgment, a 

declaratory judgment which is valid and final ‘is conclusive, with respect to the matters 

declared.’”  Carver v. Heikkila, 465 N.W.2d 183, 186 (S.D. 1991) (emphasis in original) 

(citation omitted). 

In this case, the parties stipulated to, and the circuit court so ordered, bifurcating 

Knecht’s declaratory judgment action from the parties’ breach of contract claims.  CR 

111-14; see also CR 44-47, 3053-58, 3095.  (Notably, Knecht’s prayer for relief on the 

declaratory judgment action requested “that the Court determine the rights of the parties 
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as to the Agricultural Lease contract and the Supplemental Lease contract.”  CR 2; 1143.)  

A court trial was held solely on Knecht’s declaratory judgment action.  CR 1203-1998; 

see also CR 2209 (“The purpose of the court trial was to determine the following issues:  

(1) whether the Agricultural Lease and the Supplemental Lease are valid, and (2) if valid, 

the terms of such leases.”).  From that, the circuit court issued Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law and Declaratory Orders, granting the only relief it could have 

granted on the declaratory judgment action:  the determination of the validity of the 

Supplemental Lease.  CR 2209-17. 

Without dispute, the circuit court’s Declaratory Orders “‘finally and completely 

adjudicate[d] all of the issues of fact and law involved in the’” declaratory judgment 

action.  Midcom, Inc. v. Oehlerking, 2006 S.D. 87, ¶ 11, 722 N.W.2d 722, 725 (quoting 

Griffin v. Dwyer, 88 S.D. 357, 358, 220 N.W.2d 1, 2 (1974)).  The Declaratory Orders 

“‘finally and completely’ adjudicate[d] all issues relating to the enforceability [and 

validity] of the [Supplemental Lease].”  Id. (citation omitted).  The Declaratory Judgment 

“end[ed] the [declaratory judgment] litigation on the merits and le[ft] nothing for the 

court to do but execute the judgment.”  Id. at 726 (citation omitted).  Indeed, Knecht 

recognized the finality of the Declaratory Judgment in his Affidavit filed in opposition to 

Evridges’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment:  “The Court made its decision on the 

validity of the leases in the Court’s Finding of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Declaratory 

Orders with Notice of Entry January 12, 2016.”  CR 2356.  See also CR 2323 (admitting 

“The first part of the trial is now over”); CR 2337.  Similarly, Knecht admitted during the 

jury trial that Judge Macy made a determination of the contractual relations of the parties.  

CR 3738. 
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Although a jury trial was later held on “remaining issues, including damages” 

(CR 114), this Court has recognized “[f]inality still inheres in the judgment or order even 

when there is a question to be decided after the judgment ending litigation on the merits, 

if it does ‘not alter the order or moot or revise the decisions embodied in the order.’”  

Midcom, 2006 S.D. 87, ¶ 15, 722 N.W.2d at 726 (citations omitted).  Nothing in the 

subsequent proceeding altered or revised decisions contained in the January 11, 2016 

Declaratory Judgment declaring the parties’ rights under the Supplemental Lease. 

Here, Knecht’s declaratory judgment action was bifurcated from his damage 

claim.  The circuit court fully and completely adjudicated the declaratory judgment 

action.  There was nothing left for it to do but execute on the Declaratory Judgment.  And 

the jury verdict on the parties’ competing damages claims certainly did not (and could not 

have) “alter the [declaratory] order or moot or revise the decisions embodied in the 

[declaratory] order.”  Id.  See also, In re Pooled Advocate Tr., 2012 S.D. 24, ¶¶ 23, 26, 

813 N.W.2d 130, 139 (applying the “law of the case” doctrine to a declaratory judgment 

order and explaining “the ‘law of the case’ doctrine . . . stands for the general rule that ‘a 

question of law decided by’” a court “becomes the law of the case, in all its subsequent 

stages[.]” “‘The ‘law of the case’ doctrine is intended to afford a measure of finality to 

litigated issues.’”); In re Estate of Siebrasse, 2006 S.D. 83, ¶ 17, 722 N.W.2d 86, 90 

(“The ‘law of the case’ doctrine is intended to afford a measure of finality to litigated 

issues.  It is a rule of practice and procedure which for policy reasons provides that once 

an issue is litigated and decided it should remain settled for all subsequent stages of the 

litigation”) (other citations omitted).   
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Knecht’s time to appeal the circuit court’s determination on the validity and 

enforceability of the Supplemental Lease ran on February 11, 2016, thirty days after 

notice of entry of its Declaratory Judgment.  Because Knecht failed to timely appeal, this 

Court does not have jurisdiction to consider his appeal on this issue. 

II. Even if Knecht has timely appealed the circuit court’s Declaratory Judgment 

– he has not – Knecht waived his right to contest the validity of the 

Supplemental Lease by failing to raise this issue below. 

 

For the first time in the entire four-years of this litigation, Knecht claims that the 

Supplemental Lease is unlawful and void as a matter of law because it violates a federal 

regulation and negates public policy.  Knecht Br. 23-28.  Indeed, nowhere in Knecht’s 

Appellant Brief, including his “very detailed statement of facts,” does he direct this Court 

to a location in the record where this specific argument was raised below.  And under this 

Court’s cardinal rule, “[a]n issue not raised at the trial court level cannot be raised for the 

first time on appeal.”  Action Mech., Inc. v. Deadwood Historic Pres. Comm'n, 2002 S.D. 

121, ¶ 50, 652 N.W.2d 742, 755 (citation omitted). 

When Knecht initiated this case, he sought a declaratory judgment requesting 

“that the Court determine and establish his rights under the leases[.]”  CR 2 (emphasis 

added); see also CR 1143 (“That the Court determine the rights of the parties as to the 

Agricultural Lease contract and the Supplemental Lease contract.”); CR 3738 (“Q. And 

you started a lawsuit in December of 2014 for declaratory judgment?  A. Correct.  Q. To 

get a determination of the contractual relations of the parties; correct?  A. Correct.  Q. 

And Judge Macy made a determination of the contractual relations of the parties, didn’t 

he?  A. Correct.”).  Notably absent from his Complaint (and later Amended Complaint) is 
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any claim or allegation that the Supplemental Lease is unlawful and void as a matter of 

law.  CR 1-14, 1128-1154. 

Following the order to bifurcate the matter, Knecht filed a Motion for Partial 

Summary Judgment.  CR 153-56.  Again, conspicuously absent from the motion was a 

single argument that the Supplemental Lease was unlawful and void.  Id.  

While his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was pending, Knecht also filed a 

Motion for Leave to File an Amended Complaint, which was ultimately granted.  CR 

315, 1096.  Nowhere in the Amended Complaint did Knecht raise or otherwise assert a 

claim the Supplemental Lease was unlawful and void.  CR 1128-154.  In fact, Knecht 

continued to request that “the Court determine the rights of the parties as to the 

Agricultural Lease contract and the Supplemental Lease contract.”  CR 1143. 

At the declaratory judgment trial, no evidence or argument was presented to the 

circuit court that the Supplemental Lease was unlawful and void as a matter of law 

because it violated a federal regulation or was against public policy.1  CR 1203-1998. 

Following the declaratory judgment trial, the circuit court directed the parties to 

submit proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, as well as a post-trial 

memorandum of law.  CR 1976-977.  Evridges filed Proposed Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law for Declaratory Judgment prior to the August 24, 2015 court trial 

(CR 455), as well as Revised Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law for 

Declaratory Judgment (CR 1171), Second Revised Proposed Findings of Fact and 

                                                           
1 Admittedly, testimony was presented that the Supplemental Lease was a “violation of 

the rules of management” of the Grand River Cooperative Grazing Association (“Grazing 

Association”).  See e.g. CR 1543-47; 1007.  However, no evidence, testimony, argument, 

or authority was made that this alleged “violation” was a violation of an express 

provision of law, making the Supplemental Lease unlawful and thus void as a matter of 

law.  This argument was simply never put before the circuit court. 
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Conclusions of Law for Declaratory Judgment (CR 2003), and Post-Trial Memorandum 

of Law (CR 1159) following the September 23, 2015 court trial.  Knecht, on the other 

hand, only filed one set of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, to which 

Evridges filed an objection.2  CR 2108, 2169.  Knecht did not file a single objection to 

any of Evridges’ proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law.  And most 

importantly, Knecht’s Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law did not raise 

the issue that the Supplemental Lease was unlawful and void as a matter of law, or even 

cite to a single authority in support of the same.  See Osdoba v. Kelley-Osdoba, 2018 

S.D. 43, ¶ 23, 913 N.W.2d 496, 503 (“An objection must be sufficiently specific to put 

the circuit court on notice of the alleged error so it has the opportunity to correct it.”).  In 

fact, Knecht’s conclusions of law plainly admitted “[a]ll of the essential elements of a 

valid contract are present in the two written leases prepared by the [Evridges] and their 

lawyer” and concludes that “the Agriculture Lease .  . . is a valid lease contract that is 

binding on the parties” and the “Supplemental Agricultural Lease . . . is cancelled, and 

the Evridges will not receive any remuneration from this lease.”  CR 2160, 2166-67. 

In sum, nowhere in the settled record is a specific argument made that the 

Supplemental Lease is unlawful and void as a matter of law because it violates an express 

provision of the law (i.e., 36 C.F.R. §222.3(c)(1)(vi)) or negates public policy.   

                                                           
2 In fairness, the settled record contains a document entitled “Evridges’ Objections to 

Knecht’s Draft Proposed Preliminary Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.”  CR 

1999-2002.  However, nowhere in the settled record is a document entitled, or arguably 

related to, “Knecht’s Draft Proposed Preliminary Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law.”  See CR.  As this Court is aware, this Court’s review is “‘restricted to facts 

contained within the settled record.’”  Klutman v. Sioux Falls Storm, 2009 S.D. 55, ¶ 36, 

769 N.W.2d 440, 453 (citation omitted).   “It is incumbent on the appellant . . . to present 

an adequate record on appeal.”  Long v. State, 2017 S.D. 79, ¶ 19, 904 N.W.2d 502, 510, 

reh’g denied (Dec. 19, 2017) (citation omitted).  And “[i]t is immaterial if the settled 

record contains references to or an acknowledgment of items omitted from the settled 

record.”  Klutman, 2009 S.D. 55, ¶ 36, 769 N.W.2d at 453. 
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Evridges acknowledge that following the declaratory judgment court trial and 

entry of Declaratory Judgment and Notice of Entry, in response to Evridges’ Motion for 

Partial Summary Judgment, Knecht did assert for the first time that “[t]he Supplemental 

Lease is in violation of federal Rules of Management of the federal grazing land” and 

then boldly concluded – without any authority or support – that the Supplemental Lease 

was thus “unlawful, unenforceable, and void[.]”  See e.g. CR 2324.  But other than his 

own unsupported, self-serving (and incorrect) assertions, Knecht never fully presented 

this specific argument or made a specific request that the circuit court address this issue.3  

The settled record is devoid of any attempt by Knecht to bring this specific issue to the 

circuit court and allow an opportunity to rule on it.  Knecht never made a motion, 

presented no testimony (particularly from anyone with the Grazing Association or U.S. 

Forest Service) or evidence, or even submitted a proposed jury instruction to this effect. 

“This court has said on countless occasions that an issue may not be raised for the 

first time on appeal.  Thus, an issue not presented at the trial court level will not be 

                                                           
3 Knecht completely misrepresented the Grazing Association’s position.  Relying on 

letters from the Grazing Association, Knecht asserted, “I have learned from the Grand 

River Grazing Association that the Supplemental Agricultural Lease Agreement . . . is 

unlawful” and “I understand that Rules of Management between Grand River Grazing 

Association and the United States Forest Service are based on federal law, and a violation 

is a serious matter. This means the Supplemental Agricultural Lease is unlawful[.]”  CR 

2358-59; see also 2360.  Knecht even went so far as to claim that “the Supplemental 

Agricultural Lease has been declared unlawful by the Grand River Grazing Association 

and such lease must be cancelled and void from the beginning[.]”  CR 2362.  But even a 

quick review of the correspondence shows this is factually untrue.  Consistent with the 

remedies afforded under the regulations (and Rules of Management), see discussion infra 

Section III.A, the only action the Grazing Association ever considered (and later 

implemented) was suspending and cancelling Knecht’s grazing permit for 2016, because 

the Supplemental Lease was not turned in by March 1.  See CR 1007.  The Grazing 

Association never “declared” the Supplemental Lease “unlawful” and directed that it “be 

cancelled and voided from the beginning.”  See CR 2369-73.  Moreover, the Grazing 

Association was never a party to this lawsuit, and its decisions were not binding on the 

circuit court. 
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reviewed at the appellate level.”  Mortweet v. Eliason, 335 N.W.2d 812, 813 (S.D. 1983).  

An “appellant must affirmatively establish a record on appeal that shows the existence of 

error.  He or she must show that the trial court was given an opportunity to correct the 

grievance he or she complains about on appeal.”  Husky Spray Serv., Inc. v. Patzer, 471 

N.W.2d 146, 153-54 (S.D. 1991) (citation omitted).  “Objections must be made to the 

trial court to allow it to correct its mistakes.”  Id. at 154 (S.D. 1991) (citation omitted).  

“An objection must be sufficiently specific to put the circuit court on notice of the alleged 

error so it has the opportunity to correct it.”  Osdoba, 2018 S.D. 43, ¶ 23, 913 N.W.2d at 

503 (citation omitted).  

Raising a legal argument for the first time in an appellate brief limits the 

opposing party’s ability to respond.  Had the issue been specifically raised 

below, “the parties would have had an opportunity to consider whether 

additional evidence was needed to decide the issue and certainly would 

have had an opportunity to brief the issue for the trial court's 

consideration.”   

 

Gabriel v. Bauman, 2014 S.D. 30, ¶ 23, 847 N.W.2d 537, 544 (citing Hall v. State ex rel. 

S. Dakota Dep't of Transp., 2006 S.D. 24, ¶ 12, 712 N.W.2d 22, 27 (collecting cases)).  

See also Fortier v. City of Spearfish, 433 N.W.2d 228, 231 (S.D. 1988) (holding “[s]ince 

this issue was not framed in the pleading and was not addressed by the affidavits in 

support of or resistance to the motion for summary judgment, we do not believe the issue 

was properly before the trial court.  Therefore, we will treat the issue as not being 

properly before us, and we decline to rule on the merits of the trial court's decision on this 

issue.”).   

Knecht’s issue regarding the validity and enforceability of the Supplemental 

Lease was not properly preserved for review.  Accordingly, it is waived. 



15 

III. Even if Knecht had raised the issue below – he did not – the Supplemental 

Lease is not unlawful and not void.   

 

A. The Supplemental Lease is neither expressly prohibited nor contrary to 

the policy and purpose of law. 
 

Knecht relies on SDCL 53-9-1 and SDCL 53-5-3 to argue that the Supplemental 

Lease is unlawful and void as a matter of law.  Knecht Br. 24-26.  Knecht claims that 

Supplemental Lease violated “a provision in the rules [of management] limiting the 

amount charged per acre for rent,” and in turn, “violated 36 CFR §222.3(c)(1)(vi), an 

express provision of the law.”  Knecht Br. 25.  Knecht’s argument is fundamentally 

flawed. 

By way of background, 36 CFR § 222.3(c)(1)(vi) authorizes the Forest service to 

issue permits for livestock grazing on Forest Service lands.  Any permit issued is subject 

to certain provisions and requirements prescribed by the Forest Service, such as:  

(A) The amount and character of base property and livestock the permit 

holder shall be required to own. 

 

(B) Specifying the period of the year the base property shall be capable of 

supporting permitted livestock. 

 

(C) Acquisition of base property and/or permitted livestock. 

 

(D) Conditions for the approval of nonuse of permit for specified periods. 

 

(E) Upper and special limits governing the total number of livestock for 

which a person is entitled to hold a permit. 

 

(F) Conditions whereby waiver of grazing privileges may be confirmed 

and new applicants recognized. 

 

36 C.F.R. § 222.3.   

Pursuant to 36 C.F.R. §§ 222.3 and 222.7, the United States Department of 

Agriculture, U.S. Forest Service, and the Grazing Association entered into a “Grazing 
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Agreement” “for the annual permitted use of up to 61,000 head months of grazing on 

National Forest Lands in the portion of the Grand River National Grassland.”  CR 868.  

As part of the Grazing Agreement, the Grazing Association “Develop[ed] the Rules of 

Management . . .  with the assistance of the Forest Service, as needed, to facilitate 

administration of the livestock grazing activities authorized under this Agreement.”  CR 

876.  The Rules of Management are “the set of policies, procedures, and practices 

developed by the Association for their use in administering livestock grazing on lands 

covered by this Agreement and are approved by the Forest Service.”  CR 869.  “The 

[Rules of Management] become[] a part and condition of the Grazing Agreement upon 

approval by the Forest Service.”  CR 876.  The Grazing Agreement expressly provides 

that “[v]iolation of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement may result in the 

suspension, cancellation or termination of this Agreement.”  CR 879.   

 Under the Grazing Association’s Rules of Management, members (“any person, 

partnership, association, corporation, or legally authorized agent of either thereof, owning 

or leasing forage producing land within or contiguous to the boundaries of the grazing 

district”) (CR 886) are permitted to lease their “base property.”4  CR 892.  The Grazing 

Association “has full control of all leases and permits.”  Id.  Among other things, the 

Rules of Management require that “[a]ll leases must be in written form, including the 

following:  [1] Land descriptions [2] Terms of the lease, including the price and length of 

time (a minimum of three years is encouraged). [3] [Required] clauses . . . .”  CR 892-93.  

“All leases have to be in the Association Office by March 1st with appropriate 

documentation.”  CR 893.  There is no express provision on the amount charged for 

                                                           
4 Base property is the “[p]roperty to which a grazing preference/privilege is attached.”  

CR 884. 
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leasing base property.  See CR 892-93.  In fact, the Rules of Management are completely 

silent as to amount charged for rent.  Id. 

 Knecht inaccurately asserts that Evridges “created the Supplemental Lease with 

the purpose of circumventing a provision in the rules limiting the amount charged per 

acre for rent.  This lease directly violated the association’s rules of management,” and in 

turn violated an express provision of the law, thus the Supplemental Lease is void.  

Knecht Br. 25.  Knecht’s argument is factually in error and legally flawed.   

 Pursuant to SDCL 53-9-1, “[a] contract provision contrary to an express provision 

of law or to the policy of express law, though not expressly prohibited or otherwise 

contrary to good morals, is unlawful.”  And under SDCL 53-5-3, “[w]here a contract has 

but a single object and such object is unlawful in whole or in part, or wholly impossible 

of performance, or so vaguely expressed as to be wholly unascertainable, the entire 

contract is void.”  This Court has made clear that contracts are to be construed to carry 

out valid contractual relations rather than be construed so as to render them invalid or 

impossible to perform.  See Thunderstik Lodge, Inc. v. Reuer, 613 N.W.2d 44, 48 (S.D. 

2000).   

 None of the provisions in the Supplement Lease are unlawful.  Moreover, the 

provisions comply with the Rules of Management requirements.  Indeed, the 

Supplemental Lease includes the description of Evridges’ deeded land, terms of the lease, 

including the price and length of time, the required clauses with language from the Rules 

of Management, and notarized signatures.  CR 8-12.  Nowhere in the Grazing 

Association’s Rules of Management is any provision limiting the amount charged for 

rent.  See e.g. CR 881-908.  Likewise, the regulations are silent on the amount charged 



18 

for rent.  See e.g. 36 C.F.R. §222.3.  In short, the Supplemental Lease, in and of itself, is 

simply “not expressly prohibited” or “contrary to the express provisions of law.” 

If anything, the failure to submit the Supplement Lease to the Grazing 

Association is the only action that runs contrary to the Rules of Management, and in turn, 

the Grazing Agreement.5  But this does not make the Supplemental Lease unlawful and 

void. 

It is axiomatic that “[a] contract in violation of a statutory provision generally is 

void or illegal only if the legislative body enacting the statute evidences an intention that 

such contracts be considered void or illegal.”  Ets-Hokin & Galvan, Inc. v. Maas Transp., 

Inc., 380 F.2d 258, 260 (8th Cir. 1967).  “Otherwise, even though the parties to a contract 

may be subject to a statutory penalty as the result of performing a contract, the contract 

itself remains in full force and effect.”  Id.  

Neither the authorizing regulations nor the Grazing Agreement and Rules of 

Management provide that contracts involving grazing permits are illegal or void when a 

member leasing base property is out of compliance with the Rules of Management 

leasing requirements.  As discussed above, 36 C.F.R. §222.3 governs the issuance of 

grazing permits.  Subsection (a) provides grazing must be authorized by a grazing permit.  

36 C.F.R. §222.3(c)(1)(i) provides that permits will be issued to persons who own  

                                                           
5 Knecht also inaccurately contends that Evridges violated the Rules of Management by 

“subleas[ing]” the grazing permit.  Knecht Br. 16.  But no violation for subleasing was 

ever noted by the Grazing Association.  See CR 2369-73.  In fact, the executive director 

of the Grazing Association plainly defined “subleasing” to mean that a “member cannot 

sublease out – cannot lease it to someone and that person cannot lease it to someone else, 

which would be a sublease.”  CR 1536.  This is not what occurred.  It is undisputed that 

Evridges leased their base property to Knecht, and Knecht only.  There was no sublease 

of the lease to Knecht.  Nor did Evridges charge Knecht for use of their grazing 

privileges.  See CR 1851, 1881. 
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livestock and the base property.  Under the regulations, as well as the Grazing 

Agreement, the Forest Service has the power to cancel, modify or suspend a permit.  36 

C.F.R. §222.4(a); see also CR 879.  When the permittee does not comply with permit 

requirements, the Forest Service may cancel it.  36 C.F.R. §222.4(a)(2); CR 879.  

Additionally, the Forest Service has other remedies against individuals who do not obtain 

permits.  It may sue a grazer for trespass.  See e.g. United States v Dann, 873 F.2d 1189 

(9th Cir. 1987).  It may also sue in equity for an injunction prohibiting grazing.  United 

States v Gardner, 107 F.3d 1314 (9th Cir. 1997).  Similarly, the Rules of Management 

provide that when a member fails to comply with the rules, the member’s annual grazing 

permit may be suspended or canceled.  CR 895. 

In this case, Knecht’s grazing on national grassland was undisputedly done under 

a permit.  The only possible regulatory (or even rule) violation during the term of the 

leases was that Evridges leased their base property to Knecht and did not submit the 

Supplemental Lease to the Grazing Association as required under the Rules of 

Management.  But this is a technical violation peripheral to the central purpose of the 

regulations.  The parties’ contracts did not require or result in grazing without a permit, 

which would have circumvented federal oversight of grassland grazing.  See Bradley 

Grain Co. v. Peterson, 267 N.W.2d 836, 838 (S.D. 1978) (holding contract valid and 

enforceable where it was merely collaterally connected to an unlawful purpose 

contemplated by statute).  The contracts merely involved a supplemental lease operated 

consistent with other permit requirements.  As a matter of law, the Supplemental Lease is 

neither expressly prohibited nor contrary to the policy and purpose of an express 

provision of law.  The Supplemental Lease is not unlawful and void. 
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B. The Supplemental Lease is not void under public policy.  

Knecht asserts, in the alternative, that the Supplemental Lease is void because it 

negates public policy under federal law and SDCL 53-9-3.  Knecht’s argument is 

nonsensical. 

“‘Public policy is found in the letter or purpose of a constitutional or statutory 

provision or scheme, or in a judicial decision.’”  Domson, Inc. v. Kadrmas Lee & 

Jackson, Inc., 2018 S.D. 67, ¶ 15, 918 N.W.2d 396, 402 (quoting Niesent v. Homestake 

Mining Co., 505 N.W.2d 781, 783 (S.D. 1993)).  16 U.S.C. §580l grants the Secretary of 

Agriculture the power to issue permits to graze on Forest Service land.  The regulations 

implementing this authority are at 36 C.F.R. §222.  SDCL 53-9-3 provides that “[a]ll 

contracts which have for their object, directly or indirectly, to exempt anyone from 

responsibility for his own fraud or willful injury to the person or property of another or 

from violation of law whether willful or negligent, are against the policy of the law.” 

First, what Knecht fails to recognize is that there is nothing in the regulations that 

even addresses leases.  While the Rules of Management require that all leases be turned 

into the Grazing Association, there is no rule that limits the amount charged for rent.  CR 

881-908.  Contrary to Knecht’s unsupported contention, upholding the circuit court’s 

interpretation of the Supplement Lease would not “nullify[] federal law” or allow 

Evridges to contract around the Rules of Management.  Knecht Br. 28. 

Moreover, although Knecht claims that the Supplemental Lease is contrary to 

SDCL 53-9-3 because it “served as a means for Evridges to disguise their wrongdoing 

from the [G]razing [A]ssociation and willfully defraud Knecht,” his argument 

misapprehends the applicable law.  Knecht Br. 27.  The plain language of the 
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Supplemental Lease neither purports to exempt Evridges “from responsibility for [their] 

own fraud or willful injury to the person of another” nor “from violation of law whether 

willful or negligent.”  SDCL 53-9-3. 

[T]his Court has cautioned ever since territorial days, “The power of 

courts to declare a contract void for being in contravention of sound public 

policy, is a very delicate and undefined power; and, like the power to 

declare a statute unconstitutional, should be exercised only in cases free 

from doubt.”   

 

Law Capital, Inc. v. Kettering, 2013 S.D. 66, ¶ 13, 836 N.W.2d 642, 645 (citations 

omitted).  “‘Until firmly and solemnly convinced that an existent public policy is clearly 

revealed,’ this Court's duty is ‘to maintain and enforce contracts rather than to enable 

parties thereto to escape from their obligation on the pretext of public policy.’”  Id., 2013 

S.D. 66, ¶ 14, 836 N.W.2d at 646 (citations omitted).  As a matter of law, the 

Supplemental Lease in this case did not contravene public policy and should not be 

deemed void. 

C. Knecht failed to object to the jury instructions or propose an alternative 

on this issue. 

 

Knecht claims that the jury’s award of damages to Knecht and Evridges are 

invalid because the jury was not instructed that the Supplemental Lease was void.  

Knecht Br. 28-30.  However, Knecht did not object or propose such an instruction at trial 

on these grounds.  See CR 2823-43.  This Court has made clear that “[f]ailure to object to 

the jury instruction or propose an alternative instruction waives the issue for appeal.”  

Schaffer v. Edward D. Jones & Co., 1996 S.D. 94, ¶ 15, 552 N.W.2d 801, 807 (citation 

omitted).  Therefore, this argument is waived for failure to preserve it at trial.   
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D. Even if the Supplemental Lease is void for legality – it is not – Knecht 

cannot recover payments made to Evridges. 
 

Knecht claims that lease payments he made under the Supplemental Lease were 

unlawful, and therefore the circuit court erred in determining that rent was due and 

ordering release of funds held by the clerk.  Knecht Br. 30-37.  He further asserts that the 

Evridges should be “disgorge[d]” from the “unlawful funds paid under the lease.”  

Knecht Br. 28.  Again, Knecht’s argument is legally flawed. 

This Court has recognized the fundamental principle that “absent a showing of ‘. . 

. , fraud, undue influence, or collusion, in making of the payment””  Bozied v. City of 

Brookings, 2001 S.D. 150, ¶ 20, 638 N.W.2d 264, 272, the general rule: 

is that illegal contracts–illegal by reason of being expressly prohibited by 

law–are unenforceable, and no one can acquire any legal right under such 

a contract.  If one of the parties has performed in whole or in part he 

cannot avoid the contract and recover from the adversary party a 

reasonable compensation for such performance.  No right, therefore, arises 

out of an illegal transaction even on the theory of constructive contracts.  

The law leaves the parties to illegal contracts where it finds them, and 

gives them no assistance in extricating themselves from the situation in 

which they have placed themselves–no recovery can be had for services 

rendered thereunder, either on the express contract, or on an implied 

contract, or on quantum meruit. 

 

Norbeck & Nicholson Co. v. State, 32 S.D. 189, 142 N.W. 847, 849 (1913) (emphasis 

added). 

In this case, there has been no showing of fraud, undue influence, or collusion.  

See CR 2961.  Moreover, both parties performed under the Supplemental Lease.  Knecht 

received benefits of the Agricultural Lease for three years and the Supplemental Lease 

for two years.  CR 2215. 

While Knecht claims he was “duped,” a review of the facts contradicts Knecht’s 

feigned innocence.  Indeed, the Agriculture Lease and Supplemental Lease have specific, 
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unambiguous provisions addressing the Grazing Association, which state in part, “In the 

event a grazing permit is issued to the Lessee, said Lessee agrees to comply with all 

Association Rules of Management and to abide by any approved allotment management 

plans in effect on the grazing allotments involved.”  CR 6, 11 (emphasis added).  The 

leases were executed on December 3, 2013.  If Knecht did not know about the Rules of 

Management prior to December 3, 2013, he was certainly put on notice that his actions 

were governed by the Rules of Management on December 3, 2013.  CR 2966.  Moreover, 

Knecht became a member of the Association sometime early 2014, before the Agriculture 

Lease was approved by the Grazing Association.  CR 1552, 2966, 3699-3700, 3707.  At 

that time, Knecht either knew about the Rules of Management or was placed on sufficient 

notice that such rules existed, and he failed to diligently inquire and follow the Rules of 

Management as well.  Why did Knecht not submit the Supplemental Lease to the Grazing 

Association when he became a member?  Knecht waited almost an entire year while 

enjoying the benefits of the same.  CR 3712. 

If the Supplemental Lease is illegal – it is not – Knecht cannot now recover for 

monies paid under the Supplemental Lease, or any further damages resulting from loss of 

these funds.  “The law leaves the parties to illegal contracts where it finds them, and 

gives them no assistance in extricating themselves from the situation in which they have 

placed themselves–no recovery can be had for services rendered thereunder[.]”  Norbeck 

& Nicholson Co., 142 N.W. at 849.  The circuit court correctly ordered release of funds 

held by the clerk.  



24 

IV. Entry of Summary Judgment on Knecht’s Claims of Fraud and Deceit Was 

Proper and Should Be Affirmed. 

 

Determinative of this appeal issue is the fact that Knecht never raised any of the 

arguments he raises on appeal at the circuit court level.  While he now argues on appeal 

that the contract breach and torts are allowable separate claims and that there existed 

sufficient evidence of fraud and deceit, the briefing below in response to Evridges’ 

Motion for Summary Judgment contains no such arguments; indeed, Knecht’s responsive 

brief does not contain any argument or authorities at all.  CR 2893-95.  As the Court has 

routinely held, issues not raised below cannot be considered for the first time on appeal.  

See e.g. Hall v. State ex rel. S. Dakota Dep't of Transp., 2006 S.D. 24, ¶ 12, 712 N.W.2d 

22, 26.  None of the arguments advanced on the issue of the propriety of the circuit 

court’s entry of summary judgment on the fraud and deceit claims were raised below, and 

the Court should decline to consider them now.  On this basis alone, summary judgment 

on the fraud and deceit claims should be affirmed.  If the Court were to consider this 

issue, the arguments are, in any event, without merit.   

Summary Judgment Standard of Review 

The Court in Cowan Bros., L.L.C. v. Am. State Bank, 2007 S.D. 131, ¶ 12, 743 

N.W.2d 411, 416, reiterated the standard of review on a motion for summary judgment: 

In reviewing a grant or a denial of summary judgment under SDCL 15-6-

56(c), we determine whether the moving party has demonstrated the 

absence of any genuine issue of material fact and showed entitlement to 

judgment on the merits as a matter of law.  The evidence must be viewed 

most favorably to the nonmoving party and reasonable doubts should be 

resolved against the moving party.  The nonmoving party, however, must 

present specific facts showing that a genuine, material issue for trial exists. 

  

 * * * 
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We will affirm the circuit court’s ruling on a motion for summary 

judgment when any basis exists to support its ruling. . . . However, 

summary judgment is not the proper method to dispose of factual 

questions. . . . Only when fact questions are undisputed will issues become 

questions of law for the court.  

 

Id., 2007 S.D. 131, ¶¶ 12-13, 743 N.W.2d at 416 (internal citations omitted).  Applying 

these standards to the circuit court’s entry of summary judgment on Knecht’s fraud and 

deceit claims, the dismissal of those claims should be affirmed on both bases set forth by 

the circuit court.   

A. Evridges Owed No Duty to Knecht Beyond the Contract. 

The Court has repeatedly explained that South Dakota adheres to the independent 

tort doctrine, which provides that “a breach of duty may arise from a contractual 

relationship, and while matters complained of may have their origin in contract, the gist 

of an action may be tortious.”  Schipporeit v. Khan, 2009 S.D. 96, ¶ 7, 775 N.W.2d 503, 

505 (other citations omitted).  The independent tort doctrine has two functions:   

First, it maintains the symmetry of the general rule of not allowing 

punitive damages in contract actions, because the punitive damages are 

awarded for the tort, not the contract.  Secondly, the independent tort 

requirement facilitates judicial review of the evidence by limiting the 

scope of review to a search for the elements of the tort. 

 

Id. (other citations omitted).  However, “‘[c]onduct which merely is a breach of contract 

is not a tort. . . .’”  Id. (quoting Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 1997 S.D. 121, ¶ 

18, 573 N.W.2d 493, 500).  Thus, to establish both breach of contract and tort liability, 

there must be “‘a breach of a legal duty independent of contract’ . . . This independent 

legal duty must arise ‘from extraneous circumstances, not constituting elements of the 

contract.’”  Id.  “ 

An independent legal duty may be related to a contract between the 

parties, but it must be :born of that wider range of legal duty which is due 
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from every man to his fellow, to respect his rights of property and person, 

and refrain from invading them by force or fraud.”   

 

Id. (other citations omitted).  

Although not entirely clear, Knecht appears to argue that his allegations establish 

both a contractual duty and an independent duty arising under tort, stating the “trial court 

erred in precluding claims that touch upon or include terms of the contracts at issue.  The 

trial court then further erred in holding that Knecht must prove some fiduciary or other 

relationship; an independent duty arose in this business relationship.”  Knecht Br. 37.  As 

to this issue, the circuit court concluded, “Plaintiff has failed to identify any duty created 

by law independent of the parties’ contractual relationship which would amount to an 

independent tort.”  CR 2977. 

The circuit court’s conclusion was correct, as a simple business contractual 

relationship such as that existing between Evridges and Knecht is not sufficient to create 

a duty.  See Schwartz v. Morgan, 2009 SD 110, ¶ 12, 776 N.W.2d 827, 831 (reiterating 

that “‘[t]his [C]ourt has never imposed a duty to disclose information on parties to an 

arm’s-length business transaction, absent an employment or fiduciary relationship.’” 

(quoting Taggart v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 462 N.W.2d 493, 499 (S.D.1990)).  See also 

Lindskov v. Lindskov, 2011 S.D. 34, ¶ 19, 800 N.W.2d 715, 720 (holding “an arms-length 

transaction between business partners with equal bargaining power” created no duty and 

holding defendant did not commit fraud or deceit as a matter of law).   

In this case, there was no employment or fiduciary relationship between Evridges 

and Knecht.  In fact, even now on appeal, Knecht has not identified any duty, other than 

through the parties’ agreements, that Evridges owed to Knecht and breached.  Knecht’s 

appeal brief is silent on this issue, other than to simply state “an independent duty arose 
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in this business relationship,” without any explanation of the genesis of such a duty.  

Knecht Br. 37.  Knecht has simply failed to demonstrate that the circuit court’s 

conclusion that Knecht failed to establish a “fiduciary duty separate from the terms of the 

contract” is in any way correct.  

For this reason alone, summary judgment was proper and should be affirmed.  

Additionally, even if such a duty beyond the parties’ contract did exist, which is 

explicitly denied, Knecht could not establish the essential elements of his claims of fraud 

and deceit, as a matter of law. 

B. Knecht Did Not Establish the Essential Elements of His Claims. 

As to Knecht’s claim of deceit, he was required to establish “The suppression of a 

fact by one who is bound to disclose it, or who gives information of other facts which are 

likely to mislead for want of communication of that fact[.]”  SDCL 20-10-2(3).  The 

elements of fraud are similar:   

[T]hat a representation was made as a statement of fact, which was untrue 

and known to be untrue by the party making it, or else recklessly made; 

that it was made with intent to deceive and for the purpose of inducing the 

other party to act upon it; and that he did in fact rely on it and was induced 

thereby to act to his injury or damage. 

 

North Am. Truck & Trailer, Inc. v. M.C.I. Commc’n Servs., Inc., 2008 S.D. 45, ¶ 8, 751 

N.W.2d 710, 713.  

 The basis for Knecht’s fraud and deceit claims is Evridges’ failure to disclose 

certain information to Knecht.  Knecht Br. 37.  There is no claim, however, of any 

assertion or representation of facts that were untrue.  See id.  The alleged suppression of a 

fact does not amount to fraud, however, which as noted above, requires an actual 

misrepresentation and not simply the failure to disclose.  See North Am. Truck, 2008 S.D. 
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45, ¶ 8, 751 N.W.2d at 713.  In any event, the record is devoid of evidence to support 

Knecht’s claims of fraud and deceit, and the undisputed facts demonstrate that the Knecht 

was fully apprised of the facts he claims were not disclosed by Evridges, and he could not 

have relied on such facts to his detriment. 

Knecht argues he was entitled to “full disclosure of [Evridges’] attempted lease 

approval at $30.00/acre and the rejection of that rate by the Association, and their use of 

two leases to obtain the equivalent rate rejected by the Association,” and that had he been 

so aware, he would have “declined to enter into the agreements.”  Knecht Br. 41.  But 

Knecht’s testimony at the declaratory judgment trial reveals he was aware of the Grazing 

Association and the permit: 

Q And when you entered into Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 2, did the Evridges 

explain to you about the grazing permit? 

 

A They explained some about it, yeah. 

 

Q Was that an attractive feature for you? 

 

A Certainly. 

 

CR 1217.  Moreover, as addressed above, Knecht was put on notice that his actions were 

governed by the Rules of Management when he signed the leases.  See supra II.D.  The 

Agriculture Lease and Supplemental Lease have specific, unambiguous provisions 

addressing the Grazing Association.  See supra II.D.; see also CR 5, 11.  Further, Knecht 

was well-aware that there was going to be two separate leases at least by November 2013, 

when Evridges provided him with draft leases at his home and urged him to seek counsel 

for review.  CR 1664-65, 1899-1901; but cf. CR 1340-41 (Knecht testifying that he was 

“possibly” provided a draft lease prior to December 2013).  And the Evridges have never 

denied instructing Knecht to keep the Supplemental Lease “quiet” or failing to submit 
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Supplemental Lease to the Grazing Association.  CR 1685, 1752, 1785, 1882.  Gayle 

Evridge explained to Knecht the reason for the two leases: 

It is customary that there is two leases.  One that’s presented, one that’s 

kept secret.  No different than I told Mike.  I said, “Mike, I’m sorry.  It’s 

got to be by the acre and it’s got to have – there’s got to be two leases, and 

it’s got to be hushed up, it’s got to be quiet, it’s got to be a secret.”  Is this 

my wishes?  No.  I am extremely uncomfortable with this.  However, to 

acquire 50 percent of market value, that second lease has to be there.   

 

CR 1752-53.  These facts are undisputed and establish that Knecht had knowledge of the 

very facts he claims were not disclosed and that constitute fraud and deceit.  While 

Evridges may not have been forthcoming with the Grazing Association, they were 

forthcoming with Knecht, and the basis for his fraud and deceit claims is plainly 

unsupported.  Knecht was indisputably aware of the facts he claims were not disclosed to 

him, and he could not have relied upon any such facts to his detriment, as a matter of law.  

The circuit court’s conclusions based on the undisputed facts should be affirmed.6    

For all these reasons, the circuit court’s entry of summary judgment against 

Knecht on his claims of fraud and deceit was correct and should be affirmed.   

CONCLUSION 

 Based on all of the above, Evridges respectfully request that this Court dismiss 

Knecht’s appeal of the circuit court’s Declaratory Judgement on the validity of the 

Supplemental Lease for lack of jurisdiction, or in the alternative, waiver.  Evridges 

further request that this Court affirm the circuit court’s entry of partial summary 

judgment on Knecht’s fraud and deceit claims.   

                                                           
6 Knecht’s Brief includes an argument on pleading fraud with particularity.  Knecht Br. 

42-43.  Evridges never argued he failed to plead with particularity, and the circuit court 

never so held.  As such, this argument requires no further response. 
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LWZTTE S'FA TES DEPAR'I"I\/EFT UF AGMQULTURE
U3, FOREST SERVIQT

MW

GRAND RIVER COOPERATIVE GRAZEJG ASSO?ZATION

GRAZING AGREEMENT # GRGA~20 13

THIS GRAZING AGREE%NT IS BETWEEN
THE

U.S. FOREST SERVICE, AN AGENCY
OF THT UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OP AGRICULTURE (HEREINAFTER l? 
FOREST SERVICE?), AND THE GRAND RIVER COOPERATIVE GRAZING
ASSOCIATION (HEREIN AF TER ?ms: ASSOCIATION?), A GRAZING COOPERATIVE
ESTABLISHED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA? THIS
AGREEMENT I THE ASSOCIATION?S TERM GRAZING PERMIT AND ESTABLISHES
THE WORKING RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE FOREST SERVICE AND THE GRAND
RIVER COOPERATIVE GRAZING ASSOCIATION.

THIS AGREEMENT I FOR THE ANNUAL PERMITTED USE OF UP TO 61,000 HEAD
MONTHS OF GRAZING ON NATIONAL FOREST SYSTEM LANDS IN THAT PORTION
OF THE GRAND RIVER NATIONAL GRASSLAND IN PERKINS & CORSON;
COUNTYQES) AS SET FORTH IN EXHIBITS A F ATTACHED HERETO AND
INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE HEREIN.

A DEFINITIONS. The words, 81' by category

Parties:

1 ?Forest Service W5)? IIICH the United States Department of Agn'cu1ture~Forcst Scrvica
(USDA-FS), represented by the Grassland Supervisor of Dakota Prairie/Grasslands.

2 ?Association? 11163 the Grand River Cooperative Grazing Association, represented by
the Board of Directors.

3 ?Association M?mb6r,, I1'1$3 8 member of the Grand River Coopem?ve Grazing
Association.

Lands:

4 ?National Forest System (NF$) Lands? 11188 federally owned forest, $8112 and related
lands and IBSOUIO throughout the United States and its tenitories. NFS lands include all
National Forest lands reserved O Withdrawn from the public domain of the United States,
all Nationai Forest lands acquired through purchase, exchang?, donation, O other m?ans,
the National Grasslands and Land U?lization Projects administered under Title H of the

\
Bankhsad-I ones Farm Tenant AC and Otha lands, waters, O interests tharein which ZI

2 Date Last Revised: Pebm?y 26, 2013

APP 1
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admiqistered by the Forest Service O 51 designated for ad.mi11istra?n' through the Forest

Service 8 f Part O the system. \../

5 ?Na?onal Grasslands? 85 P81 of the National Forest System and r?fcr I those lands

acquired and administered b the United States under Title III ofthe Bankheaddoncs

Fann Tenant Act other statutes, Executive Order 10046, and which 3I? I10? permanentiy

held and administered b3 the Forest Service.

6 ?Association Administered Lands? H168 all lands administered by the Association for

livestock U5 and rangeland I'?SOUIC including, but I10 limited ?? private, state, other

3g3I1C and NFS lands.

7 ?Association Controlled Lands? H163 private O state lands leased, owned, O waived {

the Association, by 2 member O non-member, for management P?rposes.

8 ?Waived Lands?, also known 3 self-furnished range lands 1'IlC& the private, state, and

other agency lands Withi 8 swing allotment OI which the Association permits livestock

numbers and S?8.SO of U8 through issuance of 8 Association Annual Grazing Permit.

The member O non-member relinquishes control of the waived lands, for graling

Purposes Only { the Association.

9 ?Allotment? 11168 8 {H6 of land, desigaatcd O 8 m3P which includes NFS and/or

non?NFS lands compdsing 3 logical management unit for livestock gwling and

management. \./

Documents:

10 cssfazing Agreement? i 3 tYP of ICY grazing p?rmit that can be issued for 8 pexiod

IIO I exceed 1 Y?ar b) the Forest Service I quali?ed grazing associations

established under state law.

11 ?Rules of Management (ROM)? is the set-of policies, procedures, and practices

developed b3 the Association for their U5 in administering livestock grazing O the

lands covered by this Agreement and 81 approved b the Forest Service.

12 ?Forest Service Policies and Procedures? include those applicable policies and

procedures established bf the Chief of the Forest Service (and supplemented b the

Regional Forester and Forest/Grassland Supervisor) in the Forest Service Directives

system for 1.1 managemenk and protection of NFS lands. With respect 1 rangeland

management and the administration of livesiock grazing O NFS lands, applicable

Forest Service policies and procedures ?I? set forth in Chapter 2200 of the Forest

Service Manual (FSM) and Forest Service Handbook, (F35) 2209.13 O .<;1'w'1 P?rmit

administration.

13 ?Forest O Grassland Plan? refers to the land and IESOUI management P18 requixed b?

the National Forest Management Act of 1976 ( 6 U.S.C. 1600), developed for each HI
\_/

' Date Last Revised: February 26, 2013
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of the National Forest System that provides direction for the manag?meni of the lands

and f6SO1l1" of that unit. The Dakota Prairie Grasslands Land and Resource

Management Plan 8 amended establishes the kind of management practices that ma)

GCC and the timing and location of thes? prac?ces. This ?Grassland Plan? became

effective in 2002 and includes the 2006 Livestock Grazing Record of Decision and will

apply to this agreement.

14 ?Allotment Management Plan (AM1?) is 8 document that speci?es the Program of

action designated { reach 3 gi'\/6 set of objectives. It is P?eP&re in consultation with

the Association and the Association Mcmb?T($ involved, prescribes the manner in and

extent I which livestock operations will be conducted in ardcr i0 meet the multiple-

US sustained Yield economic, and ofh?r needs and objectives 8 determined for the

lands involved; describing the Wpe location, ownership, and general speci?cations for

the range improvements in place O to be installed and maintained O the lands to meet

the livestock grazing and other objectives of land management; and contains such other

provisions relating to livestock grazing and other obj actives Z may be prescribed by

the Chic? Forest Service, consistent with apillicable law. (36 CPR 222. 1(2) The AMP

is based O the Decision Notice for the Environmental Assessment (EA) O Record of

Decision for the Environmental Impact Statement (BIS).

15 ?Annual Qpcrating Instructions (AOIs)? BI detailed, Forest Service approved,

instructions for livestock grazing administration { be implemented in ? giV$ Y?a O a

\
giV8 allotment developed b the Association. AOIs 31 based O the AMP and may
address the number of Iivcstnck permitted to graze, S?8.S of ?L1 responsibilities for

improvement construction O maintenance, and pasture rotation schedules.

Permits:

16 ?Association Preference (hazing Permit? is 8 document (grazing P?rmir) issued by the

Association authorizing the grazing of livestock under speci?c conditions. Preference

P6rmit3 shall be issued for the number cf livestock for which applicants have

established preference in accordance with the provisions of Section 2 & 4 in the

Association By-laws. The preference P?rrniz is issued $ 3 member authorizing

livestock grazing O certain lands covered by this Agreement for 6 speci?c period I10

I exceed ten Y?af O the expiration date of this Agreement, whichever is shorter. The

holder has for receipt of 8 IIG P?rmit upon expiration of the grazing P?rmi

provided the holder is in compliance with the YCII and conditions of the expiring

permit. If preferences E1 based wholly O Partially O leased COI11II16I1S' pI0P3rty?

the preference P?rmiz shall be conditioned upon the continuance of such leases O their

equivalent.

17 ?Association Annual G1&Zi P ermit? ? 8 grazing permit issued b the Association to 8
member ?ann\l?l1 authorizing livestock grazing OI certain lands covered b) this

Agreement for 8 sp?ci?ed period of time during the Cllff?ll Year grazing SEBS The

\
Annual Grazing Permit is usll?lly issued after the AOI?s have been aPPFOved 81 in

accordance with the AOL and after the member has Paid their grazing bill.

4 Date Last Revised: Febfll?fy 26, 2013
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18 ?Association T?mporary Grazing Pcmqit? is 3 P?nnii issued b the Association '\_
for & period not { exceed OD YC ? 8 member Q non-member, and that has I1
Pl'iOfjf for re-issuance.

Fees and Fee Comgurations:

19 ?Grazing Value? is the monetary QIDOU the Forest Service dctcrrnincs annll?- I be

the value of grazing (by head-month for 011 cow/horse and OI sheep/goat (the value
for 8 head month for ewes, IHX and/or goats equals 1/5 that of 8 adult coW) O the

National Grasslands covered by the Agreement before deducting costs of required land

11 practices.

20 <:GIaZin P??? i the ?iIY1O Paid by the Association to the Forest Service in ICUL for

the Privilege of grazing livestock on the National Grasslands covered b the

Agreement. The grazing fee i determined b mking the grazing value and subtracting

the expenses incurred by the Association in connection with land 11 practices

aPPIOVB b) the Forest Service.

21 ?Land Use Practices (LUPs)? HI those Forest Service approved administrative COS
and conservation practices undertaken by the Association 3. P61 of its management of

the livestock gmins activities O the National Grasslands covered b3 the Agreement.
Satisfactory completion of the approved LUPs will result in 2 reduction in the grazing

fee owed b the Association to the Forest Service.
\./

22. ?Conservation Practices 5)>, ZI 8 typ? of land 11 practice that may be used I
reduce the Grazing Fee O the National Grasslands covered by this Agreement.
Conservation practices ma) include strucfmra and non-structural rangeland treatments
and improvements OI Association administered lands that &I' approved in advance b

the authorized of?cer and BI necessary { pmperly administer the Agreement.

Conservation practices shall be designed and implemented { achieve desixed ICSOUI
conditions 8 described in the land and I?SO1.II' HIBHHQEID Plan, Pfvject decisions,

and mics of management. Examples of conservation practices include: fences, W?t?

developments, vegetation ma_nipulatiO1 land exchange, watershed protection, wildlife

habitat improvement, and studies I determine rangeland health and stocking rates.

23. ?Administrative Costs? 81 3 1YP of land US practice that may be used to reduce the

Grazing Fee for grazing OI the National Grasslands covered b this Agreement.
Administrative COS BI COS that would otherwise be borne by the Fomst Service if it

WCI directly administering ihe 813- permits of the Association members and may
include routine administrative and clerical expenses incurred b Q1 Association related

{ activities like issuance of grazing permits, collection of swing fees, monitoring

livestock use, enforcement of P?rmir terms, and record keeping- Administrative costs

IDU be approved b the authorized of?cer in mvance and may include, but 81 Z1

limited to, expenses incurred by {h Association fQ salaries and ben??tss Payroll ???X

postage, copyi- depreciation, of?ce: utilities, accountanfs fees, directors?
\/

5 Date Last Revised: Feb1?U? 26, Z01
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expenses related I adrniniste?ng the Agreement, and legal fees (Except for legal Q5

associated Vaig administrative G Zega challenges ;;g8iU. the Pores Service).

21 ?Animal-Unit (AU? is considered to be OI mature <1oo0~po1md CO O the

equivalent based upon average forage consumption of 26 pounds of ?1 matter Per da?

Five sheep O goats ZI the general equivalent of 011 cO\l\

25. ?Animal-Unit Month (AUM)7 refers K the amount of feed O forage required b3 an
animal-unit for 011 month.

26. ?Head.-Month (H1/1) is 011 montlfs US and occupancy ?f the rangeland by 011
weaned O aduit CO (wim O vsdthou Calf) bull, steer, heifer, horse, burro, In?- bison,

CW (wim O without lambs), rams 0 gioa (a head month for ewes, IEIII and/or goats
equals 1/5 of 3 adult QOW

27. ?Excess Livestock? 11163 a.n Jivestock owned
O controlled by the holder of 8 grazing

P?rrnir issued b the Association, but grazing O Association administered lands in

greater numbers, O at times O places other than authorized in the grazing

Grazing Agr6?m?T1t Annual Qpefa?ng Instructions, or authorized on the Bill for

Collection.

28. ?Unauthorized Livestock? IT1C3 any livestock that is not authorized by P?rmit { BT81

upon Association administered lands and which is 11 related t0 I18 authorized by 3
grazing P?rmit.

29. ?Unauthorized Use Rate? III?8.1 the grazing fee charged for CXCC O unauthorized

livestock 118

B. PURPOSE. The Plllposc of this Agreement is {

1 Authorize the Association to administer the permitted livestock grazing activities of its

members O the NFS lands covered b this Agreement consistent with aPPlicab1e federal

law, regula?om F Service policies and procedures, and direction in thc Forest 0
Grassland Plan and AMPs.

2 Extend sound practices of rangcland TCSOUI management through demonstration and b

worki?g with other federal, state, local, O private landowners { administer livestock

grazing activities consistently &CI'O rangelands regardless of the ownerships involved.

C TE PARTIES JOINTLY AGREE THAT:

1 Secu?ng sound 1'6SOUI management O all lands covered b) this Agreement is the

principal obj active of this Agreement.

\

6 Data Last Revised: February 26, 2013
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m Th@ will ceoperate with each other and assist individuals, focal, Stats, and Federal
agencies to demonstrate sound and practical Principles of land US and 1' \_
management O the lands covered b) this Agreement.

3 The vegstaticn I.'6SOUI W1 be developed to its reasonable sustainable potential 1
provide for all values and US that include, but 3I' I10 limited t0, livestock grazing.

4 Livestock grazing i 0H of the many recognized multiple 118 that OCC O the NFS
land? covered by this Agreement.

5 Managing for sustainable rangelands provides for stability of family ranches and the
communities of which th? K 8 Part; The presence of working ranches in the West is

necessmr t0 maintain the open spaces that 81 needed for vistas, recreation oppommities
and Y retain habitat and migration con-idors for native species.

6 A of the multiple \lS activities occurring O the NFS lands covered b) this Agreement

must be carried out consistent with the applicable laws and applicable regulations
govemillg the occupa?fl) and US of NFS lands.

7 The Forest Service?s authority to permit other IISC O activities besides livestock grazing

OI the NFS lands covered by this Agreement is not a?ectcd bi this Agzeement.

8 The Forest Service i responsible for and retains the authority for the administration of

grazing and all other US O NFS lands in accordance with applicable federal law,
\/

regulation, Forest Service policies and procedures, and Grassland Plan direction.

9 Through this Agx?ement, the Forest Service authorizes the Association to administer

livestock grazmg activities O those NFS lands shown in Exhibit A and described in

Exhibit B

10 B sntering into this Agreement, the Association agrees U act Z the Forest Service?$

permittee and agent in all II1&'C[ pertaining { the grazing permits it issues and the

administration of those permits with respect to the administration of livestock grazing O
the NFS lands described in Exhibit B Administration shall be in accordance with

applicable federal and state law regulation, Farest Service policies and procedures, and

Grassland Plan direction.

D FOREST SERVICE RESPONSIBILITES. The Forest Service will:

1 Make available to the Association the NFS lands shown in Exhibit A and described in

Exhibit B and the rangeland improvements described in Exhibit D for livestock gfaling

Purposes.

A Notify the Association < al Propose 3 wel 3. recent 5}33_n i land andfo improvement

include i the agreements an th TCZS { the changes

7 Date L85 Revised: February 26, 2013
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1 Although there m8 be other cimunlstances, this noti?cation is ITK often done annually
at the beginning of the I1? fee Y?a bscause it involves informing the Association of
additional improvements cons?ucted during the previous ?eld S?ZlS and 8 lisfmg O
NFS lands added O subtracted during the previous Y9?, if and when Wplicable, usually

8 3 result of 8 ?naiized land exchange. The District Ranger 03. inform the Association
b3 letter, but 5013 Districts U8 8 local form, esp?ciallfv f0! the annual updates.

As applicable, included with the notice:
I. A revised map of the EIB included in the Grazing Agreement.
2 A revised listing, b3 legal O other descrip?on, of acreages covered b3 the
agreement.
3 A revised listing of improvements 1 be main?ained b the Association.

3 Detcnninc maximum permitted number of livestock and SCHSO of US for tha NFS lands
shown in Exhibit A and described in Exhibit B in accordance with Forest Service policies
and procedures.

4 Assist the Association with the determination of maximum permitted number of livestock
and SB3.SO of US for the Association controlled lands described in Exhibit C.

5 No?fY the Association O O before the 1 day of March of each Yea of:

8 Required Land Use Practices (LUPs) for the upcoming SBES of US and how those
LUPs will be considered in the establishment of the grazing fee.

b. The estimated gmzing fee (Charged OI the head-month basis) to be Paid for livestock
US O the NFS lands shown in Exhibit A and described in Exhibit B for the
upcoming S?3SO of U5 taking into account the estimated costs of aPPr0ved LUPs O
the NFS lands described in Exhibit B.

C Additionai fees O credits accrued from the P??t grazing SCZS that WCI not re?ected
in the estimated grazing fee Paid at the beginning of the SCKS Such unanticipated
fees O credits may include adjustments if the BJIIOU of actual grazing US W8
gfeater than O less than the originally aunhon'2:? amount of RS (?nal fee
determination).

6 Prepare AMPs in consultation and coordination with the Association and the affected
mem.bcr(s) in compliance with the decisions reached in the NEPA process.

7 Review and approve the Rules of Management (RQM) develop?d by the Association that

33 consistent with the 1611 and conditions of this Agreement. Ifrequestcd, the Forest
Service will 86 8 8 I'6SOHI and assist in the development of the ROM.

8 Perform in- work, 8 deemed necessary 0: desirable, O NFS lands other than

\
those conservation practices that <'i the responsibility of ?? Association under this
Agreement.

8 Date Last Revised: Febnlaly 26, 2613
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9 Contact the Association, in xmting, when situations 5- found pelfaining t0 iivestock \..
grazing Oi NF lands that need administrative actions. Hewcver, if the Association does

D achieve compliance the Forest Service I"?S61' the right (but I10 the obligation) {
take aPPY0priat administra?ve action O I prosecute zm act O omission involving
violations of federal IaW yegula??n, O Forest Service policies 0 procedures pertaining

1 livestock grazing O NFS lands including, but H limited Y CXCC and unauthorized

L1 O noncompliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement O the ROM.

10 Authorize reductions in the annual grazing fee charged for grazing O National
Grasslands described in Exhibit B b Z much 8 75% for ?pprovcd LUPs in accordance
with ag?flcy procedure S6 forth in Chapter 20 ofFSH 2209. I3 in order 1 detenninc the
grazing fee due the PS. In the 1? C35 where the District Ranger decides 1 allow
gr??t?y than the 75% of the grazing value ( be used that Yea for LUPs the aPPf0val and
rationale for doing S should be documented in 8 letter I the Association from the
authorized of?cer.

11 Require the Association K implement conservation practices O Association administered
NFS lands that ZI necessaxy to Pfoperly administer the agreement.

12 Review potential conservation practices and administrative COS necessary I facilitate
such practices with the Association. Approve conservation practices that will improve

Pwper livestock US and ICSOIIT management.

13 Furnish the Association with appmpriatc technical assistance necessary for \/

implementation of required conservation practices, and provide updated speci?cations 8
th? become available.

14 ComP1) with the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and other relevant laws and
regulations when responding to requests from the public for information pertaining {
grazing administered b) the Association O NFS lands covered by this Agreement.

15 Audit the Associatioxfs records at least OI1 evflr ?ve Y?ar T EISS the Association is

in compliance with the $611 and conditions of this Agreement and the ROM.

16 Agree I review disputes between Association members and the Association regarding

the operation of this agreement 011 a?er the Association has made 3 good faith effort I
resolve the dispute. Disputes between Association members will 011 be reviewed after

the Association has had the opportunity I resolve the dispute.

17 Consult an cooperate with the Association, when needed, T develop annual operating

instructions (AOI P will approve the A01 that E i accordance with the AMP for the

allotment an will meet the objectives of the AMP an Grasslands Plan.

18 K66 the Association informed of applicabie NEPA PTOCES concerning the Dakota Prairie

Grassiands an rulemaking O major changes i Policy PFOCES related ? gmzing

management. ?J

9 Date Last Revised: Febr??- 26, 2013
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19 Provide civi right? information.

E ASSOCIA TIGN RESPOT\?$IBILITE?. The Association Will

1 Develop the Rules of Management (RUM) with the assistance ofthe Forest Service, B
needed, ? facilitate adrninistration of the livestock grazing activities authorized under
this Agreement.

2 Submit the ROM tn the Forest Service for review and 3PP1?0va The ROM becomes 5
Part and condition of the Grazing Agreement upon *1PP1?O by the Forest Scrvice.

3 Issue Association annual grazing permits for the lands covered by this Agreement for 8
period I10 I exceed ?H Y?ar O the date of expiration of this Agreemenl whichever is
shorter. The CILIT Association members 8!' listed in Exhibit E Update Exhibit E
a.n.n1l5l and provide it { the Forest Service b3 April 1 if 1' changes, 3 letter sta??g
such will su?icc.

4 Administer Association annual grilling Pennits in conformance with applicable federal
law, regulation, Forest Service PQHC and procedure, Dakota Prairie Grasslands Plan and
AMP direction, AOIS, and the approved ROM.

\
5 Reserve the option 1 participate in the NEPA process concerning any decision related to

the Dakota P..e Grasslands,

6 Consult and cooperate with the Forest Service regarding the development of AMPs for
the lands covered b this Agreement and implement the approved A}./IPs

7 Consult and cooperate with the Forest Service during Pasture meetings 0! other
subsequent meetings to discuss annual Qperaiing instructions (A015) that 3J in
accordance with the AMP for the allotrncnt ? Ill??i the objectives of the AMP and
Grasslands Plan.

8 Develop AOIs I be submitted 1 the Forest Service Pli?r i0 the begimlillg ofthe
permitted grazing $6350 for review and aPPY0Va

9 Regularly monitor compliance of livestock grazing activities authorized under this

Agreement 1 QSSD the) ZI consistent with direction in the approved AOIs, and the
ROM.

10 Snive 1 integrate Association controlled lands in order Y create natural management
units and demonstrate sound land management P1'0gIa1I and practices.

11 Timely Pay all fees due the United States under this Agreement. (Grazing fees ma) be

\
Paid in two installments 3 provided for in the ROM?)

I Date Last Revised: February 26, 20 '
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12 Identify potential consewation practices and administrazive COS 21606558 I facilitate

livestock graling O the Association administered lands covered by this Agreement and Y
submit 8 list O such land US practices ? the Forest Service for review and aPPI0va1

I3. Implement and consmlct in Z titn?ly I'H8l1Il Th required conservation practices aPPI0\/ed

by the Forest Service.

I4. Maintain existing improvements listed in Exhibit D in 8 ?m?b? 1Ti8I1I S that ?'16 SCT
their intended Purpose and iast for their expected lifetime.

15 Submit to the Forest Service b3 the Zg day of Febf??ly of each Year completed
Certi?cation of Costs of Required Conservation Prantices and Actual Administrative

Costs forms, for the previous calendar War, with supporfi?g infonnation 8 ma) be
required b) the Forest Service.

16 Promp?y investigate allegations of non-compliance of Association annual grazing pcnnit

terms and conditions by Association members

I7. Report T the Forest Service all claims of alleged non-compliance and the Associatiorfs
handling of those claims, including those of CXCC livestock US

18 Following the investigation of nomcompliancc and a?er 8 detennination that 8 violation

has occurred, take action { suspend O cancel Association annuai gwzmg Pennitsa i
whole O in pan, where aPP1'0priate Where takcz P?rmit action shall be in cooperation

~/
with the Forest Service and be consistent with the applicable policies set fozth in R
Interim Direcitiv and Washington Office Forest Service Handbook 2209. 1 at Chapter
10 Section 16

19 Attempt to resolve disputes between Association members O between 3 Association

member and the Association before requesting assistance ?-om the Forest Service.

20 Authorize Forest Service ently O Association controlled lands to determine whether the

livestock grazing activities Qccurring O the aiiotrnants in which these lands HI located

ET consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

2 1 Talc: al reasonable precautions 1 prevent unauthorized livestock 115
C?operate with

the Forest Sen/ice in the prosecution O defense 8. outlined in the ROM.

22 Maintain records consistent with Forest Service Handbook 2209.1 3 24(6) related { the

administration of livestock graling activities authorized by this Agreement that would

otherwise be retained by the Forest Service if it VJC directly administering livestock

grazing mrough Forest Service ?611 grazing permits.

23 Separate the Association records unrdat?id to the administra?on of livestock grazing

authorized b this Agreement from those records descxibed above.

1 Date Last Revised: Feb1'\l?l" 26, 2013
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24 Make availabie ? the Forest Smvice upon f?qusst the records id.cr1ti?e above for

inspection 841 copyillg? Than: Shai be I1 deletions O redactions in the records and they

shall be provided, to the Forest S . ?res of charge.

25 Pronzxpi forward any Freedom of
hionmtion

Act (EOIA) request received bf the

Association { the Forest Service and fxlll cooperate with the Forest Service in Lb timely

processing of FOIA requests for agency records pertaining I the livestock grazing

activities authorized under this Agraement that GI in the possession of the Association.

F. ADDHTIONAL REQUIRERHSNTS.

1 Association annual and/or preference grazing P?nnit holders must satisfy, at 3 minimum,

the SZII applicable eligibility and quali?cation requirements that al- to the holders of

Forest Service grazing Permits} subject I the Section 425, Pub. L. 110-161 except K

spelled out in the ROM. As stated in Section 425, Pub. L 110461, ?(I ?scal Y?a 2008

and thereafter, the Forest Service shall I10 change the eligibilty requirements for base

prop?nya and livestock ownership 3. th6 relate { leasing of base propeffy and shared

livestock agreements for grazing permits O the Dakota Prairie Grasslands that WCI in

effect 8 of July 18 2005.?

2 Association preference grazing P5I1I1i 111 be issued for uP { ten Y$a1 but ma) not

extend beyond the expiration date of this Agreement.

\ 3 This Agreement may be immediately terminated O modi?ed bi the Forest Sczvice if the

US of NFS lands shown in Exhibit A and described in Exhibit B 81 required for mi}ii?1'

0 national security Purposes.

4 This Agreement 111 be terminated b either Party six months a?er providing written

notice { the other P311 with T88503 for wanting to terminate. If the six month P?riod

expires bctwecn ME 1 and November 30, the e?ective date of the termination will be

Feblil?- 28 of the following Y?ar

5 This Agreement ma} be amended at any time b mutual consent of the P?f?es 0 by the

Forest Service '?bi1 ( 0) days after written notice to the Association in order ? bring the

Agreement into conformance with changes in law: regulation, executive order,

development O revision of ?ll allotment management Plan, O other management needs.

6 Failure of the Association T prompil)? inspect and enforce where necessary alleged HO

compliance of this Agreement O Association annual grazing P?rmix ICIIH and conditions

ma) lead I action b) the Forest Service I suspend O cancel this Agreement.

7 This Agreement may not exceed ten Y?ax in ksngth and expires O the Zg da of

February 2023, unless terminated 8. provided for above O cancelled in accordance with

applicable federal law O regulations.

\

1 Date Last Raviscd: Febmary 26, 20 3
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8 The perrnanent improvements 01 NFS lands idenii?ed in Exhibit D 81 Th prop?fty of

the United States unless speci?cally ciesignated otherwise (?0; example & Coopezative

Agreement) O authonlzed b 8 special US permit.

9 Yhis Agreement i subj { all applicabie ruies and regulations of the US Secretary of

Agriculture and may be suspended O cancelled, in whole O in pm: for noncompliance

therewith.

10 An? disagreement between the Association and the Forest Service regarding H
interpretation of applicable Secretary?s rules and regulations, the Forest Service shall LI
its interpretation. If Th interprctati on leads { a decision, the Association C8 than

exercise its remedies 8. described below.

11 Violation of any of the tenns and conditions of this Agreement ma) result in the

suspension, cancellation O tenninatrlon of this Agreement.

12 If the Association disagrees with 5 decision by the PS, it C8 pursue remedies, including:

3 Informal resolution with the authorized of?ccr O 8 providcd in any applicabie

MOU;
b. Administrative aPP?al when available in accordance with ag?ncy regulations such

8 36 CFR 215 and 36 CFR 25 .80

C Mediation when available under 3 CPR 2 1.10 O an) applacable MOU.

If mediation is requested by the Association US the South Dakota Department of

Agriculture Mediation Program when appropriate. Decisions subject 1 mediation will be

those Outlined in 36 CFR 25 .103 Mediation of term grazing permit disputes.

Nothing in this Agxcement shall constitute 8 waiver of the Associatioxfs rights under

federal law, including, but not limited 10 the Agriculture Credit and Mediation Act and

the Administrative Procedure Act.

I3. If 81 Association member disagrees with an Association decision, the member {H1 ?rst

seek review of the decision by the Association and 011 afrerwaxds request review b the

authorized ci?oer. Association members m8 I10 appeal Association decisions related {

the grazing authorized by this Agreement pursuant i0 36 CFR 25 1

14 Association members may I1 aPP6al Forest Service decisions related 1 the grazing

authorized b3 this Agreement pursuant I 36 CPR 251.

15 No member of Congress shall be admitted I any share O P81 of this Agreement O I

an? bene?t that may arise, unless it be made with 8 corporaticn for its general bene?t.

16 The Association shall Compn with ?th non~dis::rim.ination provisions of Tide VI of the

Civil Rights Act, appli?abk USDA regulations unaie Title VI, and Executive Order NO

1 1246: During the 1?.? and performance of th Agreement: ~,

1 Date Last Revised: Feb!- 26, 201
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8 The Association shall R discriminate against an P?fsons O organizations O Lh
basis ofrace, color, nationa origin, gender (i educational O training Pmgliims O
activities), 3g? O disability and shall oomph with the provisions of Title VI of the
Civil Rights Act of 1 964 Z amandcd, Section 50 ofthc Rehabi lita? Act of 1973
Z amended, Title IX of the Education Amendments Act of 2972 and th Age
Disoriminati Act of 1975

b The Association shall include and require compliance with the above
nondiscrimination provisions i a_n third P?- agreement made with respect Y
performance of this grazing agreement.

C The Forest Service shall have the right I enforce the foregoing nondiscrimination
? provisions by requesting voluntary compliance, suit for speci?c perfomaance,

cancellation of the Agreamcnt under 36 C.F.R 222/Kb), O by any other remedy
available under the laws of the United States O the State i which the detcnnination
of 3 breach O violation has been made.

17 The Association shall hold the United States harrnicss ?om all loss expense, liability, O
other obligation ofany nature axisin G ofany accident O OCCUITC causing injUI' I
persons O prOP6n and due directly O indirectly to the US and managcmcnt of the National
Forest System lands and improvements.

18 The Association wil be given ?rst priOI'it for receipt of XIC Grazing Agreement at the end
of the term period provided the Association i in cornpliancc with the terms and conditions of
the ?xpiring Grazing Agreement.

19 The Association may apply for renewal ofthis Agreement i accordance with the
Administrative Procedure Act, ( USC 55 and pursuant ? an) other applicable law
providing for renewal of pzrmits and 8gI??CI1?1

20 Exhibits F this Agreement include:

Exhibit A. Map of All Lands Covered b this Agreement
Exhibit B. List of National Forest System Lands Covered b) this Agreement
Exhibit C. List of State, Private, and Other Lands Covered by this Agreement
Exhibit D List of Improvements Owned b the Forest Sewice
Exhibit E. Association Membership List (membership list will be obtained ?om the

A015 O 3! annual basis)
Exhibit F. List of Preference HMs for National Forest System Lands, State, Private,

aild Other Lands O Allotments Covered b this Agreement

\

1 Date Last Rsvised: February 26, 2013
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G- RHYE C O O GRAZING ASSOCL/kT}IOI?
RULES OF E/MNAGEMENT

As 9f February 25 Z?ig
Page

I TERMS DEFINED 3

,. DISTRIBUTION OF GRAZ EN PRPJILEGES 6

HI. MEMBERSHIP 6

3 Eligibility '

b Quali?ed Aliplicant '

C Application Procedure 7

IV. BASE PROPERTY 8

H Transfer of Base Prop?ny 8
b Acquimment of Base Pro p??y by 8 Lending Agency 8

V. COIVINIENSURABILITY 8

VI. MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES 9

8 Members Shall 9
b Association Anti~Discrirm'.nation & Sexual Harassment Policy 1

\ VII. GRAZING PREFERENCE AND PERMITS 1

3 Grazing Preference 1
b Grazing Preference held by Estates 1

C Transfer in Ownership O Control of Commensurate Prop??y 1
d Leasing of Base Prop?m? I2

6 Adj ustmcnt of Grazing Preference 1
f Relinquishcd O underutilized Grazing Preferences 1

g Suspension O Cancellation of Grazing Preference O Permit 1

h. Grazing Permits 1

i Temporary Permits 1

j. Adjustments in Annual Permitted Numbers 1

k Non-Use of Grazing Permits 1

1 Applications for Nonuse will be in writing 1

III Association Fees Paid to the Forest Service 1

I Member Fees Paid i0 Association 1

O Grazing Fee Credit 1

VIII. OWNERSHIP AND STOCKING OF ANHVLAL 1

a Share Livestock 1

b Yearling Policy 20

\ C Bull Policy 20

c Animal Health 2

IX. EXCES S O L?\?A.UTHORIZED GRAZIN 2185 2

& Excess Livestock Grazing Use 2

APP 14



PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT(S): 23 Page 17 of 43

- Page 882 -

Gran Riva: Cooperativ Cvrazi 1i.ssocizii0
Rul of Managemsn

b Unauthorized Livestock Grazing Use 22

X. REMOVAL OF VIOLATIONS 2
\_/

Iii? ALLO IvfANAGEZ\&NT PLANg 2

XII. ANNUAL OPERATING INSTRUCTIONS Z

XIII. RANGE IMPROVEMENTS 24

& Grazing Value Credit 24

b Range Improvements O National Grassland Lands 25

XIV MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 25

8 Fences and Car Passes 2

b Salting 26

C H8) Cutting 26

XV. ASSOCIATION ADMINIS TRATIVE POLICIES 27

3 Association Examination and Copying of District Records Policy 27

b Policy OI Distribution of Meeting Minutes 27

Daz Las Revised Februar 26 203 2 1 P E EQ
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Grand Rive Cooperaiive Grazing Associaiie
Rule of Managem

RULES SF GEMENT

A provided in the gmms agrecmeni Section A, Documents # 1 Section E Clausefs # and #2, Q1 (hand

River Cooperative Grazing Association (Yh Associaiion), shall develop rules of management (RQM) for U5 b3

the Board in adLm1'nisten' the ?g pI?OgI? O al National Grassland lands controlled b5 the Assaciation

and submit the ROM t the Forest Service for review and approval,

The Association shall devlop Rules of Management simultaneously with development of ?le gvazins agreement
and U5 Chapter 10 20, and 30 of Forest Service 2209.13 8 8 guide.

Rules of Management is the S6 of policies, procedures, and practices developed b the Association for me? BS
in adrninistering livestock grazing [ its members O the lands covered by this agreement and approvgd by the

Forest Service.

K TERMS BEFINEI}
Allotment Means 31 8.11 of land, designated O 3 maP with included NFS and /or

n0n?NFS lands compri?i?g Z logical management unit for livestock
grazing and management.

Allotment Management Plan (AMP) A document that speci?es the P1? of action designated to reach 3
given S of objectives. It is Pmp?red in consultation with the Association
and the Association Memb?I($) involved, prescribes the HIBIIII in and

extent ?[ which livestock operations will be conducted in order to IDS the
xnultiple-use, sustained yield, economic, and other needs and objectives 2
determined for the lands involved; describing the type, location,
ownership, and general speci?cations for the mngc improvements in Mace

O t0 be installed and maintained O the lands to meat the livestock grazing
and other obj actives of land management; and contains such other
provisions relating to livestock grazing and other objectives 8 ma) be
prescribed by the Chief, Forest Service, consistent with applicable law.
(36 CPR 222.1(2)? The AMP is based O the Decision Notice for the
Environmental Assessment (EA) O Record of Decision for the
Environmental Impact Statement (BIS).

Annual Operating Instruc?ons (A015) Detailed, Forest Service approved, instructions for livestock grazing
administration to be implemented in 8 givt? Yea O 8 given allotment
developed b the Association. AOIs 81 based O the Al\/I and ma)
address the number of livestock permitted ?[ gTa1? SC8.S of 115
responsibilities for improvement construction O maintenance, and Pasture
rotation schedules.

Animal Unit (AU? Considered I be OT m (1000-pound) CO with O without 8 calf, O
the equivalent based upon avesrag forage consumption of 26 pounds of

\
dry matter P?r ?38 Five sheep O goats 81 the general equivalent of 01

CO

Da Las R?vi5?d Febmax 26 20 3 3 I P 8 1 C
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Gran Rive Coopera?ve Grazin Associatio

Rul of
I/Ir Month (AUM) refers $ the amoum of faed O forage required b3 8 am'mal~uni for 011

month.
The foilowing table shows the conversion factor for diffsrent classes of

'
livestock:

Cow 1. AUM
Cow/nursing calf 1. AUM
Yearling 6.70 AUM

Bull 1. AUMs

Horse 1. AUM s

Sheep/goat 0.2 AUM

Ewe/lamb Nanny/kid 0.2 AUM

Association Means the Grand River Cooperative Grazing Association and all of its

members, representsd b the Boax O Directors.

Association Administered Lands All lands administered b the Association for livestock U5 and
rangeland 1'?SOUI? including, but D limited 10 private, Sf?t? other

agency, and National Forest System lands.

Association Controlled Lands Means private O state lands leased, own?d, O waved { the
Association, by 8 member O 3 nonmember, for management

Purposes.

Association Member Means 2 member of the Grand River Cooperative Grazing Association. \_

Base Prop??y Prop?ni? { which 8 swing preference/privilege i attached.

Board Board of Directors of the Grand River Cooperative Grazing Association.

Commensurability Feed and forage necessaxy t maintain the grazing preference during the

Part of the Y?a I10 inciudcd in the established SLIIIIIII grazing period

O National Grasslands.

Common Allotment An allotment wh?re (? O II101 Op?1'E1 31 permitted 1 g1?
livestock, and where such livestock HI intenningled.

Dependency A livestock grazing operation shall be considered dependent O the

Association for summer grazing privileges I the extent that such unit

is unable to provide grilling during Th established S1llI1II grazing

Period for the applicant?s livestock and for which the headquarters

unit is COHIIIICHSUI

Excess Livestock A11 livestock owned O controlled b3 Th holder of& g??1".? permit

issued by the Association, but grazing O Association administered lands

in greatsr nmnberS O at times or places other than autbori zed in the

grazing pe3I?1? Grazing Agrsem?n? O authorized O the Bill for \...
Collection.

Dat La Rev i Februar 26 30 3 4 i P i 5 6
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Gran Riv? Cooperativ Grazin Associatio
Rul of Managsmeni

Head Month (HM) Term used for billing Pllfposes.
Head month is OD month"; U3 and occupancy of the r?ilgeland b OIl
weaned O adult CO {with O Without calf} bull, $166 heifer, horse, burro,
mul?, bissn, 5 ?wcs (Wit O without lambs), 5 rams, O S goats.

Animals not H101 than six months old O the ?rst day of M which 31 8
natural increase of the permitted livestock will not be counted.

Headquarters Propiir?? within O adjacent I the Association boundaries which includes
shelter, water and feed used for the wLnte:n'1 of livestock grazed OI
Association administered lands.

Grazing Permit Annual authorization t graze livestock and 3 record of stocking and fees.

Class A- II1?& 8 term pa?njt which maintains cq11i in the Association
and is based O preference numbers.

Temgorgy 13188 3 Piifmit issued for numbers exceeding preference
numbers O Class A numbers.

Fill-in- IIIGBJ numbers reallocated OI 8 annual basis ? membsrs in 3
p33tUI based OI 3PPr0ved IIOII- for personal convenience within that

\ allotment.

Grazing Preference Numbers originally issued based OI commensurability,
dependency, and of US and is also the basis for
determining equity in the Association.

All grazing preferences W61 established O 3 tweive month basis
with eight months in COIHIII grazing ?11' two months of winter
grazing and ?C months of winter feed O headquarters. Deviation
from this formula has been and is accepted because of management,
but the Y?a round operation D COHL'?I16I'1S and base pr0p?1'
does not change unless authorized by the Board.

Grazing Privilege Authorization { 8181 pcnnittcd livestock OI Association Administered
lands.

Non~use of Gazing Permit Stocking below grazing Permit.

(1) Absence of grazing 11 O CUI1'?I ear?s forage production.
(2) Lack of exercise, temporarily, of 2 grazing Privilege O Association

administered lands.
(3) A1 authorization '[ refrain, temperarily, ?rom placing livestock O

\ public ranges without loss of preference for ?xture consideration.

b};i<;L? E??xY'i P?brua1 2.6 20' 3 5 1 P I ? 6
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Gran Rive Cooperativ Grazin Associatio
Rul of Managemen

P8S?cui' Pasiuze Complex Consists of like nuznbered allotments and wouki also inohldc private
allotments bord?ring O in the vicim' of {h numbered allotments; and
includes all allotments in Corson and Perkins counties. '

Penni?cd Numbers Number of HM derived gnough current NBPA decisions which EI
implemented through AlviPs.

Private Allotments An allotment with 8 single Pemlit for 8 grazing term which may include
National Grasslands.

Stocking Rate (SR) Stocking Rate will be based O the following table:
Class Unit

Cow (Animal not mO tha si 1
month old O the ?rst day of
whic G G natural increase of

perm livestoc wil I1 b counted.)
One Bul 1.
One horse 1.
Five sheep I
Yearling animal less than .

1 manths of age O May 1

Unauthorized Livestock Any livestock that i not authorized by P?rmiz 1 .??Y upon Association
administered lands and which is I10 related U HS authorized b 8 grazing

permit.

UPP8r Limit Governs the size of 8 ICII O tempO1?aI Pgrmit that may be held b? 3

p?I?SO P??llership, O corporation.

II. BISTREUTION OF GRAZING PREVILEGES

The Association shall make K equitable 3 distribution of stock O each range allotment 8. possible S that each

member?s stock will have 8 fair share of the available grazing. This will be consistent with 800d land

management practices and givg full consideration I protection of the land from erosion and maximum

production of desirable forage O 8 sustained Yiel basis. Each P35113 O allotment is considered 3.

independent unit and will stand O its OV merit. Adjusnnents in U5 O an) 011 unit I10 affect an) other unit.

An change in distzibution of grazing Privileges O each range allotment requires aPprovg b Th Forest

Service.

HI. RHZMBERSKIP

Eligibilig

Eligibility for membership includes any Piirson, Partnership, association, corporation, O legally authorized

agent of either thereof, owning O leasing forage producing land O contiguous I the boundaries of the

gazing district (SDCL 40-23-12) maintaincz and operated b rini corporation may become 8 member upon
$2

Payment ofthe membership fee and upon compliance with the bylaws and with the regulations and limitations

detenqwingdv the Bead and by the t?IIT of the lease of leased land the area.

Dat Las Revised Fcbrlxax 26 201 6 P ? E 6
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W}:1 any member shall <iiSpO of all O Z Part 4 ?n iands owned O leased ?b the member S that another

individual O other individuals shali, by Th Pilf?hzs? and cwnersbip O lease of gu?l lands, acquire right {

membership in Thi grazing district, than the rights and interest in the mzing district involved shall be

determined by the bylaws of the Association, the Rules of Management, and the G1""aZ Agreement between

the Associa?on and the Forest Service.

Quali?ed Agglicant

Quali?ed aPP1ioan 11162 any citizen of the United States O any person who has ?led 8 declaration of intsntion

to become 8 citizen of the United Staics, an) 81' association, O corporation, eighty percent ofwhose capital

stock is owned b persons meeting the preceding citizenship requirements, and which is authorized I do

business in the State of South Dakota, provided the member i engaged in the ?mime of livestock wholly within

the bnundaries of the Association O 8 unit operated 3 headquarters dunlng the base period established for the

Pmiwt and has requested grazing Privileges from the Association. Applicants whose headquarters SI situated

outside the Association boundafy will be considered for grazing preferences and membership only 1 the extent

th? ?f? able to prove priority of US to Association administered land, 8 SC forth in Article VIII, Section 1

(<1 of these Bylaws (B)/~Laws, Anicle VIII, Section 1 (11)

APPh'cant must OW 0 lease base px?OP?n used for 3 Yea around operation of livestock I be grazed under

P?rmiz 01 Association Ai.. stared lands.

Applicant H11 ?unish proof of control of base pI'OP?I with 3 notazized copy of 3 ieasc, c0P of deed, COI1tI'

for deed, O other legal authorization to US the base pr0P61't

APP1i?ant
must OW O have 31 equitable share of O operational interest in livestock permitted to gfale O

Association Administsred lands.

A membership may involvc IEOI than OI individual, however, partnerships O husband, wife, and minor

children K B membership entity regardless of the legal interest of each in livestock O designated base

pIOP3rt (refer 1 Section VII Ownership & Stocking of Animals)

A minor who is the head of 3 family and its Principal 11163 of support wiil b? considered 8 having, for all

practical P1- the 88.11 status 3. 81 applicant of the Association legal age of eighteen (12).

When minors of an) age inherit base pr0P?IT. O share in 81 organization with 8 grazing prcfcrenoe, th6 may
be considered 8 having established 3 legal eniity for themselves separate and apart ?om that of their parents

O gU.8Idia; The grazing preference may be calried in the 1121 of the parents, guardian, 11'USt O P3-

until such time 8. the minor becomes of '1e age O the O tmst is dissolved. The gwillg

preference S 3~?q115 will IIO be charged against the uPP?r Limi of the parents O gllafdian.

Apglication Procedure

Appli?a?ons fQ membership and grazing preference shall be O forms furnished b the Association. The

applications shall sp??if? the basis for membership such 3 t??P of control of base pr0p?T1

Applicant 1I1U be infonned of the Association rule and regulations, Z well & the pertinent information

\ regarding the grazing a?otment and headquarters.

Recommendation for action O the app?cation for membesrsbip will be made by P<?i5f djrector(S) of the

P35?fU

Dat Las
Revised: February 26; 7 i P age
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ih? Board shall act O Q3 appiicazicm. "fh appiicant Wii be irfonnz? Q the Bea:d?s decision in wziting.

IE/ BASE PROPERTY ._?
Base property i designated property O which E swing preference V\/' established 3 original membam 0811

into the Association. Base property is idenii?ed in ?E Association rscczds O the oxiginal applications and

consisted of deeded ?iCI6

Loss of control of base pIOp?rt O any P?rt ofths base prOP5f: will result i 8 proportionate loss of swing

preference. Thi required reduction will be calculated O the percent of base p1'OP5rt lost.

Ifths bass Pmp?fql is Put { 113 other than to support 8 livestock grazing operation, the swing preference will

be adjusted according to these Rules of Management.

The Board may permit substitution of base prOp@1 vvi? lands acquted through exchange with the P for

lands O which the Permit WE originally based in the event that the land exchange provides for 3 H101 ef?cient

livestock 0p?r3.fi0n if lands a?quilbd Zif immediately equal O greater carrying gapaciiy and, ifthe headquarters

facilities 81 I10 involvad in the exchange.

Transfer of Base Progegty

When base p1'OpC is sold, the gl-Hing preference reverts to tha Association for allocation by the Board to the

116 OWII i accordance with the rules of management. When base propem? is leased the grazing preference

reverts t the Association for allocation by the Board Y the lessee in accordance with the rules of management.

Sub-division of existing base plbp??y will be examined bi the Board ? establish that the sub-division will

result in 3 bona ?de livestock grazing operation. Recommendation for action O the application will be made by _
the Pasture O allotment members concerned and/or directors of the P85tur? The Board shall act O the

application. The applicant will be informed of the Board? decision.

If the new owner/iessee of base p1'Op3I does not apply for the grazing preference within 180 days from

closing, the grazing preference will be considered relinquished. The responsibility for applying shall fall O the

HE owner/ lessee, but the Board will do its due diligence in notifying the individual of the oppor?mi1Y Y

apply

Acguirement of Base Progcgty bl 8 Lending Agency

I the event 3 lending ag?nsy accepts deed 0 aaluifes ownership ofthe base pIOp6l' it is understood that

such ownership i 11 for the Purpose of operation, but incidental t0 its principal lending function. When

control of base prop?11 P?Sse from 81 Association member ? the lending agen?y, the membership and

grazing preference O proportionate Pa? thereof which i based upon such prOp@1 will immediately be held

in D11 for the lending agen?i) for such temp0IaT period 8 the prOp61T is operated directly by the lending

agency.

Duxin suc tempOm1' ps{?i0 the grazing preference, which would ordinarily &CCI to the preference

holder, wi? be allocated 'E the lending 3g511C When the lending gg?flcy makes disposition ofthe pwpiirty

by saie O lease, the membership and grazing preference formerly based thereon will be allocated I the n?\?

operator i S fa 8 such allocation is consistent with the application of the UPPE limit pO1iC and provided

he/she otherwise 11165 the requirements of& quali?ed ?ppli Z de?ned by the Rules of Management,

V CO1?/EXQENSURABILIT

Dat Las Revised Fcbruax 26 !? I3 O I P ZQ ?
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,
X farm O ranch unit shall be commensurate fer the number of animal units for Whi i C31 under sound L15
nonnzlly provide feed and forage during 113 ponion Q the y??f not included i ths established summer wring

period ?ro lands owned O Eease within O adj { {E boundaries of the Association. Commensurate

prop???? shall include i ranch headquarters of sheitez, W?ii- and feed and shall be used for the wintering of

livestock El?lcd O Association administered lands.

Subdivision of existing commensumte pr0p$1'Y will be examined by the Board { establish that the subdivision

will result in 8 bona ?de livestock grazing operation.

Commcnsurabilijcy table based O stocking I318 #

L calculating the commensurate raiing of the privateIy~0wncd O leased lands used for wintering Pvfposes, the

follovving 1- will be 3~PP1ie

AUMs

@ 8011 C?__n3g' cagacigg of gasture unit

I KC irrigated alfalfa 8

1 851 bottom land subject ? ?ooding 6

I &Cl native hii 2

1 321 cultivated d1'5??la forage 5

20 &CI' ?r0P aftermath 1
Cash crops 0

*Morrison's Feeds & Feeding ratings used b Association since 1949

1 3.CI feed crops (wm sorghllms, bats, bar1?Y 2.5 AUM
I 801' crested wheatgrass O upiand native hay 1 AUM

1 801 hay creek -?ooded O sub-irrigated 3 AUM \
3 ECI grassland for winter grazing 1 AUM
1 8.61 QIO afterrnath 113 1. AUM

1 8?1' alfalfa ha 1. AUM

No commensurate rating will be giv?n for feed crops which are fed 1 other than the opcratofs permitted

livestock O sold.

At least {W months of winter feed and forage requirements necessary for each animal unit should be in the

form of stacked food.

VI. I@lV$ER RESPONSEELITIES

Members shall:

Comply with the By-laws, Rules of Management, policies and allotment management Plans of the Association

HO in effect O which may hereafter be adopted.

Do all i their power independently and voluntarily to prevent ?re O Association Administered lands O other

lands within the grazing aI?& and shall require their employees to do likewise. They ma? take initial actions,

\ within the} capab?ities, and in 2 safe and prudent manner, to prevent 3 wild?re ?om becoming larger and

D10 complex until arrival of the local ?re depariment O Forest S ervi personnel.

ASSUI responsibility for the loss O in} vi O damages by Pemlitted liveswzzk except & provided by the

Dggm Revised? 26 283 9E P E
2 6
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State Uni.fom Limitrsr Liability Conapzm Act South Dakota Codi?ed Laws, Chapter 47-34A.

Not obstruct the Forest Service in the admL1*l and management of the Naiional Grasslands.

Exercise diligence i preven?0?. detec?ng, an I6pOITm unauthorized iivezstoc US O Association

Administered lands.

Rcpo? prompib? to the Association Q?ice my change of cormnensurability O base PFQP

Cooperate with the Association and the Forest Service in counting livestock.

Not obstruct the general pubhc in the lawful U5 ofthe National Grasslands.

Conform { the Association?s Anti?~Discrimination and Sexual Harassment Policy described 3 foliows

The Association?s ?mti-Discrimination & Sexual Harassment Policy

Anti-Discrimination Poiicy

The Grand River Cooperative Grazing Association (Association) is an equal opportunity employer. The

Association will I10 discriminate in employment, recruitment, and advertisements for employment,

compensation, temmination upgr promotions, and other conditions of employment against an employee

O job aPP1ica. on the basis of I305 creed color, national Origin D SC

Sexuai Harassment Poiify

I.

Sexual harassment is unacceptable and shall not be tolerated. No member of the District may sexually harass

another. Any employee O Association Board of Directors (Board) member will be subject 1 disciplinary

action for violation of this p01iC

If anyone feels that she/he is being discriminated against O the basis of Sex she/he O their personal

representative should feel free I contact the President O Vice-President 0 an) of the Board.

II.

Sexual harassment is herein de?ned 3 unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other verbal

O Physical misconduct of asexual nature including the following:

3 Submission to such conduct in made either explicitly O implicitly 8 term O condition of E individual?

employment O grazing privileges, and/or

G Submission T O rejection of such conduct b3 E individual i used 8. the basis for academic O
employment decisions affecting such individuals, and/or

? Such conduct has the PuIP0sc O effect of unreasonably interfering with 8 individual ? work

performance O (X681 and intimidating, hostile O offensive environment.

HI.

Sexual hamssment is illegal under both Sc?li Dakota and Federal law. In SOIT cases, i may also be liable i0 ?-

prosecution under criminal statuto1' law. The Board has established 8 nomretaliatory grievance procedure for

Dat Las Revised Februar 26 2 E3 1 ~ P 8 Q ?
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?1a.ndh' sexual harassments complaints. All rcpofned incidents of ssxuzi harassment Vii be promp'f1 and

inoroughly investi gated and all substantial acts of sexual harassment Wii result in immediate: and ?1?PI0pria?

corrective ac? on, including sanctions.

Con?dentially consistent with due process will be rn aintained.

IV.

The employees and Board members of the District 81 responsible for mainiiallll? ? an environment free fzo

sexual harassment. It is the obligation of each employee and Board member 1 become 1311 informed of the

provisions of this poliiiy and ? KSSU individual compliance. To GSSU disseminaiion of the p0li?Y copies wih

be distributed I all employees and Board members. Copies will also be Posted at aPP1'0priate locations

throughout the Association and the POBQ will be announced in a~PP1?0pri Association publications and at the

HC Annual Mae?llg of the members.

V.

A11 employee who feels that he O she has been subj sct I sexual harassment O the work pliifl should report

the incident immediately to the President O Vice~PresidenI of Association. If either of them is involved i the

8,CtiVit the violation should be reported to the S ccretary/Treasurer of the Association O to Associatioxfs

attorney.

VII. GRAZBVG PREFERENCE AND ?El'%.1?viE

?GRAZING PREFERENCE

The maximum grazing preference uPP?r limit shall be based OI I800 head months for cow/calf operations. This

includes any swing Privileges gf?llted by 2.1 other association. (300 cow/calf Pairs X 6 m0n1hs=18O

cow/calfpair H1viS

Members who OW O control grazing lands in COIDIH allotments may P00 such lands for COHJIH grazing,

but its grazing capaCi'f will I1 count toward the maximum grazing preference of the member and will be

considered ? self-furnished mngc.

G"?*?Z Prefercgge held bi Estates

Not {H01 than three 3/Ear will be allowed for settlement of ?ST.8 during which time stzict compliance with

membership quali?cations mil) not be required. If IDOI than three Y?af BI required { settle the estate, the

Board shall review the continuation of the grazing preference.

Durinf; the three Y?a period, I1 permit will be issued except 1 8 legall? aPPOinted administrator, executor O

Pe1?50n representative of the CSK who has aPP?8Ied at the Association of?ce and gi?/6 proof of authority.

This person may designate 8 representative who will do business with the Association O behalf of the estate.

A copy of the Final Decree O Distribution will be ?led at the Association office.

Transfer in Ownershig O Control of Commensurate Property

Ifthc n?v OV\"I O controller operates D other farm O ;ranC O adj acent 1 the Association bozmdaries,

he/she shall be eligibie for reallocation of the preferences fQ1?ID,? based thereon, uP I ihe maximum limit.

t>a1?L5s Raised: Februar 26 201 1 ? 8 g C
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if Th new OWE O controller operates 5 fann O ranch O adj 1. the Association boundzrias and the

newly acquired prop?lf? and the original farm O ranch wili be operated b3 the DE OVv'Il O controller, he/she

may be gmllted the preference formerly based upon the acquired dependent COH]J'.l16I1S? PIOP insofar 8 it . ?
is needed in establishing 3 total operafion which will 11 exceed the UPPS limit.

However, if the newly acquired unit is to be operated by another Pan? under 2 bona ?de lease contract with

'[6IT similar T those in COHHT practice in the area, the lessee of the prop61? may be granted the preference

8 provided above if he/she otherwise quali?es under Leasing of B35 Pr0p@11

Leasing of Base Progegg

The basic intent of leasing ( provide the oppommily for the lessee 1 eventually become E ranch OVVI
operating in the local ar?a, utilizing Pfilkliples learned O the National Grassland.

Undc- the authority granted in the Bylaws and Rules of Management, the Board has full control of al leases and

permits.

Gygzing perrnits U6 tied directly { the base prOp@T and not the individuz? member. Upon leasing of the base

prOP@n and headquarters of operator, the grazing P?mxi is relinquished 1 the Board who C2 reissue the

pemzit { the lessee. Grazing privileges C8l1I1 be subleased through the leasing of the base prOp6nY

Surrcndcring the P?rrniz in H Wil jeopardizes the mcmbcfs P3r1ni[ If 8 member COIIIIIICI opcraiillg

the headquaners again, O selis the headquarters unit, the Board C8 reissue the penmx { the member O

Z the HB OWI1 upon an approved Application for Membership.

Member operators have the option ?( winter either OI their OV headquarters O lease headquarters, O both,

provided leased headquarters remain commensured for permitted numbers.

A member lessee must winter permitted Iivcstock O the leased headquaners for 3 minimum of four

months.

Based on reasonable conditions, all leases must show intent 1 maintain 8 existing livestock operation O start 8

IIG operator in the livestock business.

Leases shall be for 2 three Yea minimum, and ZI subject { review b the Board at least eV61' three Years

The Board may consider leases for 3 shorter time for special needs. The lease IDU be for private lands only

and CZIXI Purport 1 assign O transfer 3 grazing preference. These policies HI sub ect ? revision 8 the

Boax deems necessary.

All leases ITX be in written form, including the following:

6 Land descriptions

? Terms of the lease, including the pri?c and length of time (a minimum of three y38I is encouraged).

C The foliowing clauses:

[ The lessor and the lessee hereby acknowledge that the Grand River Cooperative Grazing

Association ma) monitor grazing US of the base propfffiy included in this lease 1 ZISS ?(h

cormnensurability is maintained 311 that stocking I?8.? and management do not damage the

remgcland.

F The lessor and the lessee joi11? acknowledge and agree that wig lease is for privately-owned -2

pIOP51n only and that the grwg Permit O ?1 National Grasslands associated with this

Da Las Revised Fcbruaz 26 301 1 l P 2 S ?
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base prop?f?? is Wei $ the Giann River C0Op?I&Ii\? Crzwg Association. Such grams
P?zmit ma) be issued { fb? lessee for the duration of this lease provided the lease is
a?PI0ved b3 the Grand River Cooperative Grazing Associa?on and issuance of the P?rmiz is
authorized by the Board.

1 In the event 3 grazing P?rmit is issued 1 the lessee, said lessee agrees i0 Comply with ail
Grand River Cooperative Grazing Association Rules of Management and I abide by 3.2
aPPr0ved allotment management Plans and annual Qparawg instructions in effecg O the
grwlng allotments involved.

Q Notarization of the signatures of all parties involved, inciuding the dating of the document.

Leases IZIU contain 8 statement that lessee will be subject { Association contra of base propef?? 1 3531. 111
stocking rates and overall management . . commensurability and provides for development and
retention of healthy range conditions which demozgstrate 800d grasslands agriculture. Lease agreements will
m?c the lessee subject ( all Association Rules and Regulations including the compliance with any approved
allotment management Plan and annual opera?llg instructions.

All leases have to be in Association Oi?ce by March 1 with 3~PPY0p1i documentation.

Upon termination of the lease: the base prop??y owner, upon app?ca?om shall again be issued the swine
preference provided the necessary requirements of the Association K H16

Adiustrnent of Grazing Preference

Increase in 8 membcr?s grazing preference shall be governed b) the Association upper limit. The member II1l1
bc OO1'I1H1CI1S for any increase: and the increase must be documented in the AM? O amendment ? the AMP
and by Board action. Any member shall be entitled ?I retain his/her preference Permit S 101 8 he retains
control of the base ptOp9rt upon which such P?rmit is based. A member with 8 total 0p?I?1iI1 unit less than
the Association UQP limit may increase his/her total Qp?fa?llg unit within the EH to the maximum limit but
I1 beyond.

Decrease in 3 member's swing preference IIUJ be documented through the AMP O AMP amendment, O
b) Board action. Reductions of grazing preference Wil be made ifa member's base pr?p?rty (3338 { be
commensurate for the full preference O ifthe member loses control of an) Part of the base propB!T

When the Association releases control of 3 T1' of land in the COIIIIII grazing arm, 3 DC lessee O OWII
may utilize the land not subject { the Association regulations provided the TI6 is fenced out of the COIIHII
grazing 815 If the OWH O lessee is 8 member of the Association, the grazing preference will be reduced
prgportionately.

Before any speci?c action i taken by the Board to adjust 3 member's grazing preference, the member shall be
noti?ed in writing of the Pmposed change and giV6 the 0ppO1'11lI1 ? aPP6ar and be heard by the Board. If the
member's grazing preference is based O leased 0 mortgaged headquarters, H action which would adversely
affect the grazing prefcrence will be taken by Th Bond until the OWD of the headquarters propefty and
recorded mortgagor have been noti?ed and given 6 opp0I'fuI13' Y safeguard their interest in having the grazing
preference maintained. Within T115 ( 0 days of the said meeting? the member shall be noti?ed in writing of
the change, if an? in the prsfercncc of his/her livestock grazing operation.

\
Rclinauished U Underutilized Permitted Numbers

Dat Las RE?/ise Februar 36 3 1 1 i P E E (
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Distribution of relinquishcz O uzzdsmtilized pennifted numbers shall be governed by Th following
priorities:

C First consideration will be given { the need for range protection 8. detennined bi the Association in
consultation with the Forest Service.

C Second consideration will be gi\? O Z Pr T2 basis { members in the allotment whose
pennitted numbers have been reduced for range protection. Member permits have

C Third consideration wil be giv?n to members in the allotment where the relinquished O
underutilized pcrrnitted numbers ?N located, provided th6 HI commcnsmate for the increase and

3I within the ?PPM limit. If this consideration is selected b) the Board, al allotment mcmbem will
be noti?ed of the oppor11miT Applications must be made b interested members and
commcnsurability shown. The relinquished permitted numbers would be divided equally I those

who apply and ZI eligible. Member permits have pfiQrity'

5 Fourth consideration will be given { members in the p35fL1 complex where the relinquished O
underutilized permitted numbers BI located, provided thfi) SI COIIIIIISIXSII for the increase and

8.1 within the ?PDQ limit. If this consideration is selected b the Board, all allounsnt members

will be noti?ed of the opporfuniw? Applications must be made by interested members and
commensurability shown. The relinquished permitted numbers would be divided ?qwlly I those

who apply and 8.1 eligible. Member permits have p1io1'it The P9Tmit?{ numbezs would be

prorated based O preference, commensurability, and ?PP6r limit (Pasture Complex Identi?cation

Sheet).

6 Fi?h consideration will be given I members outside the Pasture Complex, but within the
Association where the relinquished O underutilized permitted numbers BI located, provided th?y

3.1 COII1II1?I1S\l for the increase and 81 within the ?PPM limit. If this consideration i selected

b the Board, all allotment members will be noti?ed of the oppO1'T1lI1 Applications IIIU be made ._
by interested members and commensurability shown. The relinquished pennjtted numbers would

be divided D? to those who apply and ?'1 eligible. Member permits have p1- The

permitted numbers would be prorated based OI preference, commensurability, and uPP6r limit.

Q Sixth consideration will be given I non-members within the Association boundaries where the

relinquished O underutilized permitted numbers 3.1 located. Applicagtg HIL be eligible for

membership under Article VIII ofthe Bylaws of the Association. Applicant would qualify for

temp01'a1' ?ll-in permits 0111

All application forms must be returned I applicants, 11051 intent I 8.0CC O re gilt within 3 W
week period.

Suspension O Cancellation of Grazing Permit ( Grazing Aggeement, Section E Clause L8

Suspension and cancellation guidelines BI 1 be employed when informal attempts ?[ resolve the DO
compliance situation have not been success?ll. The ?rst opp0I?1I1it to remedy OCCU when the HO
compliance situation is determined and documented and the member i contacted by phone O in person and

provided imbrmation regarding the noncompliance and instructions for resolution. These informal discussions

Z1 ? be documented. Normally i is 011 when the infonnal attempts 2 rcso1ution H6 unsuccessful that the

actions will IIIOV to the suspension and cancellation guidelines. The guidance below generally 3.SSLlII that

infonnal resolution has 11 been successful.

The guideline obj actives are: \__

Dat Las Revised Februaz 26 3 13 1 5 P ? S C
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Z To Qbiai consistency O adminisirative: actions taken O non-conypliance with the T?ZT and

conditions of the grazing permit.

2 To provide 8 ?lm but fair approach that will encourage compiiancc.

The annual gwzius Permit of 8 member 111 be suspended O canceled for any of the following I??8.SO

Q Failure I comply with the Bylaws, Ruics of Management, Policies ofthe Association, the

{BE of the annual grazing permit, O AMP of the allotment O headquartws.

( Failure I repcm any changes in commexwnrab?ity and base prOP@Y

6 Failure I fmnish the required number of bulls for the established S6880 E S by the local

Pasftlrc O allotment, O b) the Rules of Managemem whichever is applicable.

$ Deviation from the Pmr, including, but 11 limited C GXCC numbers and exceeding the

SCZS speci?ed in the P?nnir.

Q Failure I comply with the Rules that all female livestock entering the 818 administered by

the Association IIILI be calf-hood vaccinated for brucellosis and II1?? all other state health

requirements.

As directed bi the Board because of loss of vegetation due to drought, ?r?, O SOII' other 21 of God, O
withdmwal of any lands from Association Administered lands.

An) other speci?c C386 included in the Rules of Management, but not listed above.

Grazillg Privileges that have been suspended O canceled may be restored 3 the discretion

\ of the Board. All penalties which OCC for unforeseen circumstances O hardships BI
subject to relief from the rules if SCC S b the Board.

GRAZING PERMITS

Preference % Permits

A Grazing Permit is tied directly ? the base pr0P?1't and not an individual member. Surrendcring the

Permit 1: the control of the Association in D wa) jeopardized the P?rn1i If 8 member sells the base

p1?OP9rt the I1?3 OWII will be issued the preference upon 83 approved AppliC8?O! for Membership (5?

Application procedure, in Section IV. Membership.)

If B member C/OIILDZI opera?ng the base pr0P<?3 again, the P?rmit will be re-issued ?u- the

following process.

1 Upon the decision of 8 member I re-establish livestock operation L order { ?ll the allotment, I0-
application must be made to regain the Permit.

2 The member musi appear in p?fSOn before the Board, with written Application and intent.

3 Permit will be re-granted providing the regulations of the By-Laws and Grazing Agreement 8I met.

Annual Grazing Permits

Permits for grwlllg of livestock O the Association administered lands wili be issued annually by the

\Association.

Annual permits, 5p6Ci?/ing brands O the permitted livestock, will be issued when the member Pays their

gazing bill; Billing i s?tn out in April and due 1 days Pficr T the UJI O date. Credit will be allowed for

Dat Last F 26, 20 3 ?15 P 3
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changes i stonzi- O S?8SO and applied { the RC years grazing biil.

Permits will be bassd upon PT U3 of the range T?SOUI and commensurability of the headquarters.

Crazing P?nnig may be issued ? quali?ed members
u ( but I10 exceeding their preferancs numbers.

Numbers above their preference will be issued B tempOI8- numbers.

1f.?@22@ Pennits

Tcmp01?3I Permits may be issued only a?er review and agreement by the Association and Forest Service.

Temp?fal? pennits may be issued I members and nonmembers O 8 annual basis but wiil 11 be the
basis for establishment of grazing preferences O permanent increase of an established grazing preference.

TempOY3 Pelrnits ma) be granted in BX.C of the ?P13 limit and/or preference based O increased gr?-
capa?ity resulting from reseeding O other range improvements which 31 bene?cial I the rang? and 8. long 8
the continue { be effective.

TcmpOmI3 P?rmitg O headquarters, where NFS lands am fenced in with the headquartem, may be gmnfed if the
range condition of the NFS lands, 8. mutually agf?ed upon by the Forcst Service and the Association,
demonstrates good grassland condition. There m? be other NP land parcels O the headquancrs that are 11 in
apilroved condition. If the condition and trend of the NFS land deteriorates 8 8 result of the temporary
increased 115 it will automatically result in total I1OI1~ of the NF land parcel until the range is returned 1
satisfactory condition. The fee shall be based G the percentage of NF lands listed O the P?rmit times the total
head months I be gmled times the current annual rate.

Permit for temp0fa1' grazing must be O form provided b) the Association and ITIU indicate Th kind and
number of 3I1i!1'la the S?8SO of Use location of gwling ar?a, and an) other information requested b3 the
Association. On headquarters under lease, the application must show CO11CUI'1' of the landowner.

Temporary pennits in COIYIHI grazing 8138 121 be granted if there is surplus forage remaining a?er meeting
protection needs and restoring permits previously reduced for range protection. Such P?rmits will be issued 01 8
Pr mta basis of the mcmbcr?s COIIIIIL dependency.

When 3 member QWII purchases O leases lands in the COIIIIH grazing area which &I 11 administered by
the Association O its members, the member shall be entitled I the Association established stocking rate of the
lands O 8 temporary P?nnit.

Other temp?fary P?nnirs may be issued 8 the discretion of the Board based O the stocking rate

Adiustments in Annual Authorized Numbers

Annual adj us?nent of stocldng rates will be recommended by the Association. Actual annual stocking will
be determined between the Forest Service and Association and must be consistent with applicable NEPA
decisions. The 3iT1O\l of actual forage U3 up { 50%, O the allotment OV 8 period of Y?ar will be
considered in this determination.

If 8 mutually agreeab} stocking I31 cannot be deterrnined, the Association Natural Resources Comznittcc
wil review the records and the range O the allotment and make recommendations '? the Board. The Board

\_/
may C in quali?ed range specialists for further evaluation. If 3 mumally agreeable stocking ?8. C3I1I1 be
decided, ifrcquest?d b3 the Association, the Forest Sen/i cc will I15 the Squt? Dakota Department of

D2- Las Revised Fehruaa 26 101 1 J P 3 EC
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lkgyiculture t faci in negotiation. If after facilifatioaa 3 stocking rate C&D.I be agreed ?Polk than

the Forest Service will make the decision.

Incrsmed grazing cap&<Ii resulting from improved management, improvements in range conditions from

reseeding? O other range improvement work will be recognized E belonging 1 Q1 members of the allotment

showing the increase, provided that permits shall be issued and charges made & the current grazing fee rate
for the stock $ pennitted. Determination of swing (;3,p&Ci shal be b3 mutual agreement between the

Association and the Forest Service.

lucrcased grazing capacity will be recognized 8 belonging { the allotment. Th? increased capacity will be

distributed among the US$ of that unit where preference had been reduced for protection and who ?f? using the

unit at the time of restoration.

Use of increased cap??ity may consist of increased forage for existing numbers of animals, increase in

permitted animals, 0 increased lengih of S63SO

Pennining gf?ater numbers for 8 shorter S?3SO is 81 allotment decision under & AMP O AOI.

When the total 811101 of available forage O 8. allotment necessitates 8 reduction in the total numbcrs to be

grilled? {emp0T3- permits issued to utilize 6XCC forage will be ?rst I be reduced O eliminated. If elimination

of all temp01'5f? P?rmits issued { utilize 6XC6 forage is insuf?cient 1 accomplish the required reduction,

annual Penznir will be reduced O 8 Pro rata basis until the n?cessary reduction i made. Reduction may be made

b3 either 3 shorter SCHS O Pro mta C1 in numbers, O both.

?I 81 emerg6I1? situation such 8 loss of SL1II1I' range due to an) disaster, animal units may be distri-

buted through the Association administered land 8. determined by the Board, in consultation with the

Forest Service and allotment 0 members concerned.

Non-Use of Grazing Permits

Nonusc for 1 percent 0 less of 3 preference need not be requested and will I1 reduce the preference.

Non-use of grazing permits may be taken O an annual basis for rarige protection O personal

convenience.

Any Planngd I1OI1~ of annual P?xmit numbers must be requested P150 to March 1 O at the spring P8-

mcctings, whichever is later. Failure T do S may result in the member being liable for the current year?s

grazing fees.

Apglications for Nonuse will be in Writing.

When DOB- i g?mied within COLIIIH a_r63 the member ? whom it is granted shall not be liable for grazing

fees in the ZIIIOU of the I101)- permitted. The member gfantgd I101'1* will continue to share Pro I?& CO

of permanent improvements and annual maintenance CO O the full dependency in 00111111

Non-use for range protection ma} be aPProved for 3 period of ?ve (5) cc nsecutive Y??if Such 11011- will

be covered b3 5 wrimzn Memorandum of Undarstauding between the member, the Association and the

\:OI?? Service.
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?* ? ,._ . I0 p?iI?SOI 8ODVCD?? CZBH exceed four consecutive Y$2I Nomzss O ths fourth Y?a Wi
require Board and Forest Service approval This IHGZI that at least nin6? (90) percent of grwbag P?rmime
numbers {D1 b stocked 01 Y?a i ?ve. Except under sp?ci circumstances, I1OI1~ OV ten ( 0 permzn of .
{h cstaltlished grazing pcrmitted numb for 8 period in ?XCC of four Y?er will result in the preference
being r&duc? ? the number of units grazed in the year in which the ieast F:OD~ W8 taken.

The Board and the Forest Service may authorize ?lling in behind I1OI1~ for P'3r8on convenience. Notice
and pg?o1?i for ?lling in behind H021- will bc giv?n: (1) I a?lotment members, (2 { pasture members,
(3 I the Association members 8 8 whole, and (4) ?( nonmembers who 1'I1 become 8 member { have i
grazing P?rmit

Nonuse O account of foreclosure where the member has 11 waived his/her preferance ? the Association will
be granted for, but not { exceed, 011 full gya?ng S?8SO following the foreclosure.

Non-use rules will automatically be waived when the Forest Service requests reduced stocking for mnge
protection and O swing preferences in estate $1311

Association Fees Paid to tha Forest Service

The grazing Y?a is from May I { the following April 30. Payment i0 the Forest Service will be in ZV
substantially equal HM Payments whi will be due 01 April 26 and September 26.

Member F Paid to the Association

Members grazing fees E due I days before the grazing 563.80 starts. A amine P?rnni will net be
issued until al fees have been Paid.

Insuf?cient funds checks do I10 constitute payment and H6 liable I the rules of the Association for
failure to Pa) fees Pficr to the deadline date.

Any Association Administered Iands allocated I 8 membcr?s headquarters for winter grazing O
private 811111 allocation shall be charged at the current Association rate for full 0811315 capavify,
unless otherwise detcm?ned by the Board.

Development C08 for permanent developments and maintenance of these developments that BI for the
bene?t of 3 speci?c allotment O member shall be charged back L the allotment C member. In COIDIH
grazing allotments, the COS will be pro-rated according K COIYLT dependency regardless ofthe annual
stocking rate b3 the individuai member O allotment 8. 8 whole.

Annual COS such 8 salt, range rider, Oil supplemental feed, ?tc- will not be Paid from Association funds.
The allotments ma) ESSE funds to be deposited in alldtrnent checking QCCOU which the Association

treasurer will disbuxse and who will 1<e? records of the QCCOU

Grazing Fee Credit

Credit will be allowed for head months (HMS O whiCh the Association is granted credit. Since this is IIO 2
cash credit, but i shown O the following Y?a Forest Service billing, the credit I the member will be posted

{ his/her 'c3.CCO Cash Payl?ent fo unused grazing fees will be given to individuals who have ieased O sold
their headquartem, if their ZLCCO i Paid. .

The procedure ? receive credit for unused grazing will be 8 follows:

Dat Las Revised Februar ?\/ 301 1 i P E E C

APP 31



PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT(S): 23 Page 34 of 43

- Page 899 -

Gran Rive Cooperativ grazing Associatio
Rim of Managemen

1 Association Wii mail 8 Credit Application form if requested.
2 Each Member will be responsible (Ho the Association) for ?ning in the Credit APPlica?or,

obtaining directors signature and returning form ? Th Association b December I5.
3 Credit will be allowed 011 OI the percentage of federal land in QOIIIITI 8I?8 & the CDITE Pores

Service rate.

JILL OWNERSIDIP AND STOCKING OF Al~?Hw/{A

Al livestock P?rmittgd O Association Administered lands shall be branded with the owner's registered South
Dakota brand. The Association will maintain i brand book O have 8 brand beok computer ?le showing the kind
and location of each owner's brand. Sheep will be satisfactorily marked to identify ownership. (S65
Associatiozfs branding poli?y for additional information)

Livestock owned b members of Th immediate fami1 of the holder of the grazing preference may be gT&Z
under the grazing preference. Numbers P?rmitted I graze under this provision wiil be limited 1 not IZIO than
fl?y (59) percent of the grazing preference. in I1 C33 will the P?rmit hokic} OW less than 50 percent of the
Iivcstock except 8 provided for share Livestock The intent is to allow minor children to establish 3 livestock
herd of their OV and ? eventually acquire 3 ranch operation in the local area and thereby expand the
demonstration and practice of good grassland agriculture. The Association must annually advise the District
Ranger of ownership of livestock ? be gf?z?d under this provision. Noti?caticn will include the number of
animals and the brands O other identifyillg marks 1 provide for veri?cation of permitted livestock during range
inspection.

Other owned livestock will be allowed OI Privately owned lands, including headquarters, T ?th carrying capacity
of the privat?ly owned lands.

Share Livestock

Share livestock operation may be authorized b) the Board. The preference hoider ma) Hm livestock owned by

SOIIRE else, other than 3 provided above, with the provision that the member will manage the livestock and
shax in the ownership of the offspring of Suc livestock. A11 share agreement must be in writing and aPPr0ved
by the Board. Applicants must 3.1313 in person before the Board O O before March S1 with their Share
Agreement. The Agreement will indicate that the livestock 31' managed b3 the member OI 2 Y?a around basis
and will indicate the percent of the offspring which ER { become the prop?ff) ofthe member and will 9311'
his/her brand. Livestock permitted under this Wil of agreement shall consist of females two y53Is old O older
which meet all state health requirements, including calf-hood xfaccination for brucellosis. This provision is to
provide 8. opportunity for the member I build uP their herd and t0 alldw for eventual replacement of share
livestock with livestock owned b3 the member. Share livestock agreements may also be authorized where
required 8 Part of 8 lease agreement. The general intent of share livestock agreements is t0 provide &
oppommiw for the member to acquire ownership of their herd OV 8 period of time. No Share Agreement will

be aPPf0v?> b3 the Board with less than 50 percent of o?spriflg to the members. In C386 where HIO than 50
percent of the Pmllitted livestock 81 under 8 share livestock agreement, this agreement H11 provide for
Smdual replacement of the share livestock with livestock owned by the member. The Association will monitor
this intent t be SUI ownership of the herd is accruing ?[ the member 8 3 rcasonable 131

Share livestock OVVD shall not exceed the 180 HM UPPEI Limit in aggf?gate OI the Association
?Administered lands O M33 1 Both P?fiieg must brand their share of the offspring with their registered South
Dakota brands. After aPProvg of the Share Agreement, the livestock I111/ be inspected by the Pasture

before the permit may be issued and cattle famed O Z Association Administerad lands.
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If 8 iendilif agency acquires the iivsstock of n lnember, the Associatien and the lending 336116 ma? EH1 into
8 1emp01?8 grazing agreement for the balance of th? current SEZS The sole Pllfpcse Of?"ii agreement is $
aliow the lending agancy 8. orderly diSpOSifiO of the livestock. This 8.?3'6?II1? shall not be considered as 5 -violation of the miss of the Association O jeopardize the preference S?L8. of the base pr0p?I?1

Yeariing E..@.I

The UPPE limit 1' for y?a.r1ing will be based O 300 head divided b 0.7, which equals about 430 head, for 3
six~month grazing period. The stocking rate formula i E cow/calf AU divided by 0.7, gqualing yearlillg AU.
All alloiments may quali?? for the 0.7 conversion ratio upon the approval of the Pasture membership.

The 2;r- fee for Y???ings will be the SHI P?r head E for cow/calf. The Forest Service mandates that 8
y?arlillg HM be charged the $311 5. 8 cow/calf HM.

For community allotments, there must be 8 10 percent vote of members in that allotment ? H1 Y?arling
(steers and sp??/s heifers). If Yeariing heifers ZI nltb th?)' must ihrnish the bull. If SP?- heifers 81 run,
T11 will be classi?ed 8 steers.

All operations m1lS comply with 2 commcnsurabiiity pol icics of the Grazing Agrecment~ th6 must
also be 0OXI1TI}?I1S O private land. A minimum of 3 months commensurability ?om private lands i
required for yea- operations. Hay and feed IIHJ be harvested and not sold below commensurability.

All ycaxling operations must be declared I the Board by Febnl?ly 1 Yeariing operations may be declared in
01 O ITlO pastures. 100 percent of allotted livestock numbers mUS be O headquarters 01 O before March I.

Compressed 81' alin SC&SO will I10 be allowed for GXCC of Th 430 head uPP?r limit in COIIUII pastures.

The Board and Th Forest Service have ?nal discretion 01 all applications.

Bull Policy
9/3

Bash allotment will decide b $?i!1? maj OI- the br??dj <1W11 ratio of bulls { COW and SCES of bull

US Each Pasture Member will be allowed only ONE vote OI an decisions Pmaining I bulls. If I1
majority is reached, the Board will make the decision.

? X? 69
kw ?Cl, g$?L?_

Z
Only purebred O registered sires of the aPP1'0ve breed will be permitted O Association Administered lands
which 8I grazed by livestock owned by IHOI than 011 member. They shall conform T the requirements of the
Association and shall be furnished in the number and II13I3Il prescribed by the Board. Not less than 011
ycarlillg bull P5! twenty ?ve (25) CO O 011 tw0~ycar-old O OV P6: th5?Y*?ve (35) CO will be Pmniued
i an COIDIH grazing HIB

A tum~in date between June I and June 20 may be S? b3 & two thjxds rnaj vote of the Pasture Membership.
It will take 8 unanimous V0 of the Pasture Membership for 8 tum-in date Prior to O following the time ?ame
of June 1 to June 20.

A removal date may be S b3 8 two thirds m2j01'i vote of the Pasture Membership which i ?om 6 days to 9
days following the turn-in date S? pursuant t0 the P8I&gr6.p above. A femoval date may be S? which i less

than 6 days O 1?11 than 90 days following the turn-in date S8 pursuant to the Pal?9~gIa abovc, upon 2
unanimous VO of the Pasture Membership

'
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it Wii ~:a: 3 T thirds maj V01 ofthc Pasture Membership order { change the breex of buli. Upon E
chang? of breed, Tha breed ITL be maintained for 8 of three (3) Y?ar and 2 member will have 2
wansg?cn P?fiod of W1 Ye?f { incorporate the HE breed.

An) chenga for imndn date, O the brsed O bull 1111 IIl?? 5 Winte pasture meetillg deadklne.

It i malxiatory that all bulls be removed b3 the scheduled removal date. A bull O bulls may be removed up I
7 days p1?i ? removal date without P50: 3PPI?Ova An? bulis removed earlier than 7 days must be aPPFOve
b 2/3 maj0I'it? vote of the members in that Pasture. A breach of this section will result in 3 $500 Pmliy fee

P?r bull. This pwliy will be automaticaliy assessed and charged { Th Membefs @815- fee the following
Y A11 Y?qne for 8 waiver of this 1><?= must b6 presented in writing i0 the Pasture Director Pfior to the

OCCUITCI of 3 violation. An) two (1) Directors ma} extend the removal ciate however, if in their discretion
fh? request i based upon ex/ent($ beyond the comm} O the reques??g Member including Wi?hou limitati on:
weather O illness.

When leasing 3 bull, the Association o?icc 1111 receive written noti?cation of such and the Ownefs brand
1111 be stated. Aside ?om share cattle, all other bulls must be branded with the Mcmbcr?s brand.

My Member of 8 Community Pasture is entitled { make requests for Bull Inspection in 3 residing P3~$IU with
the expectation such action will be taken.

A standi?g committee will act O written requests for review of sires. The allpfaisal will take into
consideration the age, P?digree, fertility, quality, condition, birth weighk number of bulls and period of time

the bulls have 1'U in the $88. The decision of the merit of 8 bull by the committee will be ?nal.

Animal Health

All female cai?e brought onto the Association adminiswred lands and all self-owned replacement female cattle
shall have been calf hood vaccinated for bruoellosis and shall comply with the State animal health Iaws.

The Board m~? refuse 1 E73- grazing preference and/or annual Pmnit ( an) applicant/member whose herd
is infected with any contagious disease. The Board will oomph? with all SD State laws before rc~issuanoc of
mzing preference O annual Permit,

Infection of 2 herd b) 8 contagious disease during the w?zing $6350 will be considered bi the Board and th?)
ma) require the removal of infected livestock from the COII1II1 allotment and the unused portion of the
grazing fees may be refunded? If fcasible, the local P8.S1.? 0 allotment ma} provide 1;empOT3 isolation 3IC
for infected livestock. If 8 member shows up with infected livestock and they infect the rest of the herds in the
COIILIII allotment, that member will withstand the entire 005 for cleanup of the contagious disease for all
members cattle.

IE EXCESS O UNAUTHORIZED LIVESTOCK GRAZING USE

Excess Livestock wing Use

Any member gazing livcstock in GXCC O deviation of his/her AOL
whether on

private or in 8 COIIEIII
gra- allotment, is in 6XCC US and is in violation of the Grazing Agcement.

Grazing oflesser number of livestock 0 shorter SBES i EO 8 deviation ofthe grazing P?rmiz O &
annual basis. However, the I2OI1"ll rules app}?

Dal L33 Revised Februaa 26 201 ?\ 1 x
6 E 6

APP 34



PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT(S): 23 Page 37 of 43

- Page 902 -

Gran Rive Cc- Grazin Associaiisn
Rul of Mwagsment

Wfmi EXCE L1 is I in I the of?ce, ?i1l1 vcrbaiiy O in W1?iTi the foliovhng sicps will be taken

T }7?U the Association member i0 compiiance 3 quicldy 3 p0SSibl6

1 The A.ssocia?tio secretary will notify Th Pasture Director for the 8l? where the 6XC? U5 has
tak?n P15 and tbs Pasnue Director O Secretary oftha Association will Cal O 80 S6 the
member who i responsible { resolve the situation.

2 This will be followed LI with E letter t0 the member, with 8 copy 1 4,1 Forest Scwioe,
documenting the call O visit and what needs { be done { correct the issue. If the call O visit
does not resolve the situation, then the ?iXC? US i I be reported to the president and/or vice
president of the Association.

3 When the president and/or vice president feel there 81 adequate grounds for investigating T3
ported CXCC RS the Excess Use Committee will be aPPOinte by the president O vice
president shall be informed and take action.

4 The committee will investigate whether such CXCE L1 W8 willful O unintentional.
Unintentional EXCE US ma) be settled O the gmund and settlement reported to the Board.

5 If the committee determines the CXC? H5 is will?xl O intentional, glgwallcge overagc shall be
removed immediately, and proof of such removal presented attheg?ce within three (3) days,
pending Board action.

6 The Board will arrange for 8 h?aringa including notice I thg suspected vioiator I aPP?ar and be
heard. /

7 Ifthe Board decides that CXC? U5 has occurred and the vidlator is 3 member of the
Association, the Board shall apply the rules. If the violator is t 8 member of the
Association, this violation will br handled under rules of UI1?T?hOI?i grazing KS

8 Violators shall be assessed ?ve times the Association monthly swing fee Per animal for the ?rst
?ve units and I6 (10) times the grazing fee P?r animal for each OV ?v?? and/or suspend O
revoke the member's permit. The ?ne is { be reassessed ?V?Y threc (3) days until the violator

proves he is
9 If CXO6 U5 is detcnnincd, the violator will be assessed all C05 involved. If I1 6XC6 US is

found, the CO will be assumed b3 the Association.

IO Stray livestock found OI the range for which ownership CZDD be established ma? be

impounded and disposad ofby the Association in accordance with the State law.

11 The Association shall report p1'0I11P I0 the Forest Service an) violations by its membexs O
others of an ?XCC RS OI the National Grasslands. If the Association is unable, under existing

SIA laws, Y prohibit further EXCE 1.1 b) legal action O otherwise, it will cooperate with the

Forest Sezvicc in seeming evidence and supplying witnesses S that legal action in the Federal

CODI may be completed.

Unauthoxized Livestock Grazing Use

Any non-member swing livestock O Association administered lands is considered unauthorized livestock

grazing US and i in violation of the grazing agreement.

When unauthorized U5 is reported in ?[ the of?ce, either verbally O in writing:

1 The Association secretary will notify the Pasture Director for the 636 where the unauthorized

11 has taken place and the Pasture Director O Secretary of the Association will call who is

responsible ? resolve the situation.

2 This will be foilowed u with 3 letter Y Th violator, with E QOP ? the Forest Service, \_/

documenting Th cal O visit and what needs ?( be dons I COl'1'? the issue. If the call O \n'si
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/
does 11 resolve the situation, than the unauthozized U3 is ? be reported { the president
and/or vice president ofthe Association,

3 The Association shall report promptly to the Forest Service any violations by others of any
unautlzozme {B O the National Gmsslands. If the Association is unable, under cxi?ing state
laws, t0 ?mher unauthorized 11 b) legal action O otherwise, it Wii cooperate with the
Forest Service in securing evidence and supplyi?g wimesses S that legal action in the Federal
COL may be completed.

X REMQVAL GB VZGLATIO N?

If I1 ?zrther violations OGC Within 3 Y?ars ?ISt offense ietters C3 be removed from the Association
members ?le.

XI. ALLOTIVENT MANAGEMIENT PLANS

An allotment is the smallest division of the range for U8 planning, and management Pvmoses. The two basic
categories of allotments HI COIIHII allotments and Pr vats allotments.

An adjustments of allotment boundaries will be 318T upon by the Association and the Forest Service,
with al changes subject T aPPI'0V b3 the Forest Service.

AMPs will be developed by the Association and the Forest Service for eV<? allotment and will be
completed O 8 prioriiy basis within the guidelines contained in the CUIT6 Gmssland Plan including the
Demonstration Project (DEMO)- The DEMO Pmject W8 developed cooperatively with the grazing
associations and other livestock grazing interests H 8 vehicle I implement the livestock amine portion
of the Grassiand Plan and develop Alv??? while meeting all applicable laws and regula?ons. (See 2006
Livestock Grazing Record of Decision)

AMPs may inciude the following:

1 Inventory analysis of vegetative
stmcmre, seral condition, Proper Functioning Condition

(PFC) status, apparent livestock U5 patterns, 1(6 wildlife ZI63- and existing range
improvements for the allotment S it 08. be included in the objectives for the U63 it WE
analyzed in the AMP Pmject.

2 M3? of the 816 with the boundary of the allotment and B mi- of the AMP PTO}:- 336 of which the
allotment is 3 Part of

3 Grazing system to be implemented.
4 Necessary range improvements and Pmposed Conservation Practices (C?) construction

schedule.
5 Vegetative monitoring schedule for the HC 1 Year for the alloiment?
6 Baseline monitoring data.

The signature of the Association president and authorized agent ofthe Forest Sen/ice will indicate
3PPI0va1

Ab/?P that ZI IIQ acceptable in the Association will be resoivsd per the dispute resolution in the
Grazing Agreement.

APPIoved AIVIP C8.D1 be altered b3 changes in Forest Sezvicc personnel O the Association. Changes
i AMPS will be made ihrough ihe AMP planrmng pfOC6S

Dat La? Revised Februar 26 Q Z3 2 I P 3 QC
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Pas?lrc D'n"eot0 O their designated reprcsentaiives will monitor and shack F compliancs with the
Ab/E hzcluding monitoring, the rotaiion schaduie, moving dates, salting and riding afforts, and an)
H6C?$Sg consmzction. \

HI. Al\?I??UA OPERATPNQ EQSTRUCTIQNS (AQD

Allotment Annuai ()p?I?8Tli Instructions ZI dev?kip?i at the spring P35111 meetings vdth the Forest Service,
Association Pasture Directors, and Association members Participating in those meetings. Whatever is ag?ied

I in those meetings will be documented and included in the AOI for that allotment. Whatever is II mutually
agf?ed upon by the Forest Service, Association Pasture Directors and member will be brought to the Board for
review. An) adjustments in the AOI will be negotiated between the Forest Scrvics and Board, especially
annual stocking I316 Grazing issues addressed include livestock numbers, SEES of use, Pa?mre rotations,

HE construction and maintenance of improvements, and any other information neadcd for the annual
management of the gazing allotment. AOI?s E submitted ( ihc F 01- Service for ?nal aPPYOva

mi. R./%NG IMPROVEMENTS

Grazing Value Credit

In determining tbs annual grazing fees to be Paid f0 the Forest Service, 8 credit against the grazing value may be
allowed for the necessary administrative COS and required Conservation Practices (CPs) performed b3 the
Association under the C\lITC Forest Service supplement u I 8 combined total of ??y (59) percent of the

CUITC grazing value. This percentage may be increased with Forest Service aPP1'0vaI

Require that CPs alone will usually be limited '[ 5 percent of the annual grazing value; this is designed t0 be

comparable ?I the 50 percent of the grazing fee that COIH back $ National Forest units through the Range ~
Bettenncnt Fund. Administrative costs will usually be limited I 25 percent of the grazing value.

Adrninistrativc costs represent expenses incurred b the Association which would otherwise be costs { the

Forest Service if there WC I1 Grazing Agreement. These costs have p1?iQrit OV any other credits against

the grazing value. Th6 include Administrative expenses incurred by Th Association for administczing the

tCI'1 of the Grazing Agreement. Examples inc lude of?ce rent, clerical he1P board meetings, of?ce

supplies, CU

Conservation practices represents expenses incuxred b) the Association in parfolmillg the required on-the-

ground range improvements, O other practices designed to enhance the productivity of the National

Grasslands. T116 include expenses incurred by the Association for the protection of natural ICSOUIO
from wild?re, in?ccts, noxious weeds, disease, and expenses incurred b the Association for speci?c

e?brts 1 demonstrats the merits and results of grazing management progzams O practices OI the National

Grasslands.

Conservation Practices Implementation

1 Annual P1" CC should be scheduled in aPProved allmment management P1ans

2 Emergency P1' 66$ may be aPP1'0ve by the Forest Service and the Association if: funds

8.1 available, i is determined that the Project is esssntial i0 ke6P livestock O the

allotment, and the Project C8 be completed durhag the current gmhlg SCES
? Proj K be completed each Y?i will be prioritized by the Forest Service and the

Association from the multbycax Pmgams contained in the AMPs and emergency \_/
PTO}

Dat Las Revised Febraaar 26 205 2 1 P 8 8 Q
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4 Forest Sen/ice responsibilities SI ? develop 8 listing of pro} scheduled for the current

W31 Pmvida teohr?oal designs? cost 6Stima4 and standards of constmction for

improvements. If funds 81 H available to Pmvide technical design and archeology, Th

Associa?on may contract for these. Forest Service will S?C1J light of W8 EZSEIIED in

cooperation with the Association; SSSU that work accomplished conforms I design

speci?cations and 85331 that PT0p6 allowances &1 made { the Association b auditing

PY?i?c records.
5 The Association will purchase and 206011 for the necessary supplies required $ complete

the annual CP program; administer the work listed in the annual CP pIOg1'g in 8 tim?ly

111311 ml- contracts, Association employees, O Association members; mamtain

KCCHI CO records of supp1i?s, ?qllipmcnt, and labor for each projgq involved in the

annual pr?grgm; and SCF 3 custodian of the funds derived from the grazing value

allowance and assessments made 1 Association members.
6 Completcd Pmjects aocepwd b3 the Forest Service and the Association will be credited

against the grazing value by the Forest Setvice.

7 An) changes in Projects under consmzction exceeding $500 must be 3PPf0ved b the

Forest Service.

Range Imgrovements O National Grasslands

Project work Plans 1111 be secured P1'i 1 construction of any improvements and all developments Placed

O National Forest Service lands.

Archeology surveys and sensitive, threatened, and endangered species inventories must be completed before

any HO construction of range developments. Forest Service will complete inventories.

Improvements and developments must be ( Forest Service standards and become the propem? of the

Forest Service unless otherwise stated OI the Pmject work Plan,

Copies ofall Pm} work P183 IIIU be furnishnd by the Forest Service. The signature of the

Associaiion president indicates aPPr0va1 of the P1an

Any major changes in g){iS?n developments will be mu?la- agreed upon b the Association and the

Forest Service.

All necessary developments will be kept in good repair 0 replaced. The maintenance will be done 1

standards agf?cd upon by the Association and the Forest Service and which will insure the full useable

Fif of the improvement.

In the CVC the Association members concerned 81 unable O unwilling { do necessary maintenance

work, it is the responsibility of the Pasture Director and the Board I insure maintenance is

accomplished.

Reimbuzscment of improvements when theta i 3 change of Association members in 8 allotment i t0 be

s??l?d between the parties concerned.

I MALNAGENERT PRACTICES

Fences and Car Passes

Dat Las Rcy??di Fcbruaa 25 301 25 EP E 2 ?
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il COZDI areas, the State fencing 12- applies where Lher SI livestock O bath side of ihe fence, unless
otherwise agreed upon.

Common p35Ul1 fence is maintained b? ?a Association Pence CI? ?1"iva* allotment fence
maintenance 1 the responsibility of Association member. Materials Wii be provided b3 the
Association, sxccip in Carson Colin?- Wher al expenses {U the Association members.

Saiting

No livestock salt should be placed closer than @ig,h1w 0 rods (440 yards/.25 miles) from an? water
development located O Association Administered lands, unless tenain O management needs dictate
othen>."is Association members will be encouraged ?[ locate salt 8 those points in the pastures where
insu?icicnt grazing 11 is apparent and ? ITIO salt around periodically 1 draw ca?lc $ the vazious H68
being zmder~use in order ? SCCU 8 IDO unifonn usage of the entire Pasture and reduce over-grazing
around watering facilities. The amount and location of salt i0 be piaced in OOIDIII P8- M63 will be
detexmmed b3 the Association and O 8 the P?sillre meetings.

112 Cutting

Allotments on which ha) cutting is permitted will be designated annually b) the Association and Forest
Service. A Permit issued b the Association is required p1'i I an) hay cil?illg Haying will only be
allowed O those allotments where it is aPPf0v?d in the AMP O i needed for administrative P11IP0se

A Members will have ?rst for I13 cu?illg permits_

B N0 lands will be selected for h8~ cutting which would interfere with the US of other lands for

Puqloses.

C Sites will D0 be cut more than OI1 (1) Yea out of TV <2)

D Ali ha) must be removed from the cut 818 by November 1

E No permits wili be issued for less than ten dollars ($ 0,00)-

F Applications for 118 permits BI due i the Association of?ce by lune 15 No applications will
be accepted a?cr June 15 Payment for estimated ZICI will be included with application for hil
cutting.

G Cut and leave haying advance aPPYO\/ of the Forest Service is required where the hay is I be

C and left O the site and used in the permitted grazing period; this requires I1 Payment.
Special haying Plans O exceptions may be provided for in individual management Plans O 8
C35 by C2. basis. This is for grazing Purposes 011 and C8I1l1 be stacked.

H. H8) I'HU be used for the member?s livestock and cannot be sold O traded.

The Association will furnish Th Forest Service with 8 list of members by whom hay P?rmitg WCI
requested, the kggj description of the 8I?8 i0 be hayed, and the Pmposed acreage of these H685 The Forest

Service will then prepare 8 supplemental bill T the Association, 8. the established T5 P6 acre, for all hay

T be cui and removed. An operator who hays O Association Administered Lands without ?rst securing 6 \/'

Dat Las Revised }'8brii3 26 3 ?3 26 I P 8 E
C
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1
mnnit from Th Association ?iii be charged 6 fe? 8 Zeas iripis the currsnt IZ for the type ofprivilegez

mvolved for the ZITIO 01 the Lmpermitted 11 and their grazing P?nnit 1'11 be revoked in whole O Part

An operator shall I1 sel O trade surplus fee darived from his CODIIEJEIISU iands that have been made
avaiiable b3 the permitted ha) cutting-

XV. ASSQCMTION ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIE8

Association Examination and 292152 8 of District Records Policy

A11 Association member O stockholder of the Grand River Cooperative Grazing Association (Association)

m& upon written notice gi?/6 to the Secrcta1y~Trcasurcr B least OI1 week in advance examine the books,
records of ascomlt, minutes cf the Board and/or 211 comnaittee & provided in this section.

1 No examination of any record, minutes O account of the Association ma) be performed b) 241 membcr

O stockholder, their Fig?n O their attorney unless supervised b 3 member of the Records and Files
Committee.

2. All requests for examination of the recerds, minutes, O 3CCOUl of the Association and requests for
production of copies thereof shall be subject { 8 search fee in the amount of Fifteen Dollars P6 hour
($15.00/11;. of search time with 3 minimum charge of $15.00. In the 6?/tin of 3 reqzges for production
ofa speci?c document I1 QOP O search charge will apply { the ?rst ?ve (5) Pages.

3 All requests for production of copies of any record, minutes, O EKCCO of the Association shall be
subject to 8 copy charge of Twenty -Five CQI P?r Page ($0.25/page) copied.

4 Ail direct examinations and the production of copies shall bc performed 3i any reasonable time
following the receipt of the written notice required here under. No such direct examination I10
production of copies will be performed except during regular Association business hours.

5 E?/Cr written notice required pursuant I this section shall state

8 the reasOI1( for the request for examination and/or production,
b. the GXQ document(s) bcillg searched for O the We and nature of the documents being searched

including 3 time frame I10 t0 exceed ?ve (5) y?afsr
C in the C88 of direct examination of the Association records, the nam<- of the perS011( who

wili be pcI'fOIH1?? the examination.

No search O ??PYiI1 of Association records will be allowed if the stated Purpose is I examine the personal
records of an other member O stockholder of the Association, unless the request COXI from an attorney in

fact O personal representative of the member O stockholder whose records 3I requested to be examined O
reproduced. An) document(s) requested for production which contains anil personal information O any other

member 0 stockholder of the Association will have such personal information redacted.

Policy O Distxibution of M eating Minutes

1 Monthly Board Meetings

C Meeting minutes EE taking dming the monthly Board meetings. Normally the minutes 2& kept

in the of?ce and EI 11 distributed ? the membership.

Q The membership CE g?t 3 c0P of the minutes by requesting them from their Pasture Dixecior O
by Stopping ?: the Association of?cs and getting 5 0019 from the Association secretary.

6 All Pasture Directors gfi 8 cOP of sash monthly meeting minute.

2 Association Annual Meeiiflg

Dat Las Revis'c Februar 26 3 33 27 I D 3 8 P
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{ Annual Meeting mimmis BI takilg dmfin the Annuaj Maeting and kept & the Association

o?ice.

6 Tbs previ011 yeafs meeting minutes HI available i the membership at the CUJ.'I. year? annual

m66Yi1

I The membership C2 g?f 5 copy of the annual meeting minutes by reqU3S'ZiI them from their

Pasture Director O by stoppi?g at the Association Q?ice and getting 3 c0P} from the Association

secretzzy.

Q All Pasture Directors g?t 2 QOP of the annual meeting minutes.

3 Special Meetings

G Special Meeting minutes EI taken during the Special Meeting and kept E the Association o?ice.

? The membership C8 get 3 COP 9f the special meeting minutes by requesting them ?om their

Pasture Director O b3 stopping at the Assqciation of?cc and gsfii- 8 copy from the Association

sccrctziy.

1 A1 Pasture Directors get 8 cOP of the special meeting minutes.

Note: Any change to the above pO1iC OI meeting minutes would have I be made b the Board O by the

membership at the Annual Meeting.

$5E 2 3 Ems
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 

In this brief, Appellant Michael J. Knecht will be referred to as “Knecht” 

and Appellees Gayle Evridge and Linda Evridge will be referred to as “Evridges.” 

Citations to the certified record as reflected by the Clerk’s Index are designated as 

“CR” followed by the page number.   

RESPONSE TO EVRIDGES’ STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Circuit Court’s Declaratory Orders were interlocutory rulings and 

could not be appealed until a final judgment issued ending litigation on the merits. 

Despite Evridges’ allegations to the contrary, Knecht’s notice of appeal and 

docketing statement clearly indicate that his appeal arose from the Circuit Court’s 

grant of partial summary judgment and “all of the declaratory judgment claims and 

issues.” CR. 2492. This Court’s denial of Knecht’s interlocutory appeal for lack of 

finality ratifies the intermediate nature of the Circuit Court’s Declaratory Orders. 

RESPONSE TO EVRIDGES’ STATEMENT OF FACTS  

All of the facts presented in Knecht’s brief were “stated fairly [] with 

complete candor” and are relevant to the “grounds urged for reversal.” SDCL 15-

26A-60(5). A detailed statement of facts was appropriate in this case because the 

claims at issue require a complete understanding of the sequence of events and 

issues presented. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. Jurisdiction to Determine the Validity of the Supplemental Lease 

Exists. 

 

This Court has jurisdiction to determine the validity of the Supplemental 

Lease agreement because Judge Macy’s Declaratory Orders were interlocutory 

and not a final decree.  Interlocutory orders are not appealable as a matter of right. 

In re Swanson’s Estate, 61 S.D. 371, 293 N.W. 361. And a final judgment was not 

entered until August 22, 2018. CR. 4238. As such, Knecht’s Notice of Appeal, 

filed on September 21, 2018, was timely, and this court has jurisdiction to 

determine the validity of the Supplemental Lease agreement. CR. 4360. SDCL § 

15-26A-6; See also Hiller v. Hiller, 2015 S.D. 58, ¶ 11, 866 N.W.2d 536, 540. 

(Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction is limited to appeals only from a final 

order or judgment.) 

Evridges’ allegation that the Orders issued after the declaratory action were 

final and subject to appeal is false. A declaratory judgment entered on certain 

issues in a case is not a final appealable order where issues decided are not 

separate and distinct from the plaintiff's basic claim, which has yet to be 

adjudicated.  See, e.g.,  Fetters v. U. S. Fire Ins. Co., 399 So. 2d 427 (Fla. 5th DCA 

1981). This action involves claims by both parties for breach of contract. 

Furthermore, the validity and enforceability of the contracts at issue are an integral 

part of the underlying action as a whole. Breach and damages arising from said 

breach cannot be decided without first assessing a contract’s validity. They are 
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undeniably interrelated. Because enforceability and validity of contract are not 

separate and distinct from a claim for breach and damages, a final order did not 

issue until Knecht’s basic claim for breach was resolved in its entirety.  Davis v. 

Farmland Mut. Ins. Co., 2003 SD 111, ¶ 18, 669 N.W.2d 713, 719. 

When an order or judgment fails to adjudicate all of the issues of fact and 

law involved in the case, but rather reserves further question or direction for future 

determination, it is deemed intermediate or interlocutory and is not appealable.  

Id.; Midcom, Inc. v. Oehlerking, 2006 S.D. 87, ¶11, 722 N.W.2,d 722, 725 (A final 

judgment must “finally and completely adjudicate all of the issues of fact and law 

involved in the case” on the merits). The Declaratory Orders did not resolve all of 

the issues of fact and law in this case. Instead, they erroneously decided a specific 

legal issue (validity and enforceability) and reserved the factual issues of breach 

and damages for further determination. See, e.g., Villines v. Harris, 362 Ark. 393, 

208 S.W.3d 763, 766 (2005) (Finding an order not final because the amount of 

damages in a dispute had yet to be decided and a later hearing would be conducted 

to accomplish that task); See also Production and Maintenance Employees’ Local 

504 v. Roadmaster Corp., 954 F.2d 1397, 22 Fed. R. Serv. 3d 1 (7th Cir. 1992) 

(Decision that fixes liability but not damages is not appealable despite the entry of 

an order, because such an order is not a final disposition of a claim.). Likewise, an 

order determining the legality of a contract but failing to ascertain factual issues 

such as breach and damages is not final because the underlying cause of action has 

not been resolved on the merits.  
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Evridges’ argument that the Declaratory Orders were final because “finality 

still inheres in a judgment or order where there is a question to be decided after 

judgment on the merits if it does not alter the order or moot or revise decisions 

embodied in the order” fails for two reasons. Midcom, 2006 S.D. 87, ¶15, 722 

N.W.2d 722, 727. First, the declaratory action did not end this litigation on the 

merits. There were still issues of fact to be determined. Second, issues that do not 

alter the order or moot or revise the decisions embodied in the order must be 

“collateral to” and “separate from” the judgment. Id. The issues of breach and 

damages in a contract claim are wholly related to a contract’s validity. Such issues 

remedy the injury giving rise to the action and cannot be tried independently. 

Accordingly, the Declaratory Orders were interlocutory rulings and could not be 

appealed until a final judgment issued ending litigation on the merits.  

Evridges allege that Knecht’s interlocutory appeal solely addressed the 

Circuit Court’s award of partial summary judgment for payments due on both 

leases but, once again, this is false.  Evridges’ Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment was based on the notion that the Supplemental Lease was a valid and 

enforceable contract. CR. 2299. And Knecht disputed the legality of the lease to 

resist that motion. CR. 2332. When the motion was granted in part, Knecht 

appealed the court’s award of partial summary judgment as well as its basis for 

such judgment. Knecht’s notice of appeal and docketing statement clearly indicate 

that his appeal arose from the Circuit Court’s grant of partial summary judgment 

and “all of the declaratory judgment claims and issues.” CR. 2492. This Court’s 
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denial of Knecht’s interlocutory appeal for lack of finality further ratifies the 

intermediate nature of the Circuit Court’s Declaratory Orders.  See South Dakota 

Dept. of Transp. v. Freeman, 378 N.W.2d 241 (S.D. 1985) (holding intermediate 

order on necessity of taking in condemnation action was not appealable as a matter 

of right, even though an adverse ruling would resolve case). 

II. The Issue regarding the Validity and Enforceability of the 

Supplemental Lease was Properly Preserved below. 

 

Evridges’ contention that Knecht waived his right to contest the validity 

and enforceability of the Supplemental Lease by failing to raise the issue is absurd. 

Throughout the entirety of this litigation, Knecht has consistently contested the 

validity of the Supplemental Lease. CR. 52, 73, 137, 299, 324, 327, 2166, 2196, 

2201-2202, 2331-2332, 2358, 2363-2364, 2392, 2398, 2410-2411. This Court has 

held “[t]o preserve issues for appellate review litigants must make known to trial 

courts the actions they seek to achieve or object to the actions of the court, giving 

their reasons. Action Mech. Inc. v. Deadwood Historic Preservation Com’n, 2002 

S.D. 121, ¶50, 652 N.W.2d 742, 755. Knecht did exactly that. His disapproval and 

objection to the validity of the Supplemental Lease is explicit in the pleadings and 

other documentation submitted to the Circuit Court.   

Before the court trial, in Knecht’s Objections to Defendant’s Motion for 

Bifurcated Trial and Motion for Speedy Hearing and Advancement on Calendar, 

he alleged: “[I] was told it was illegal for the Evridges to charge rent for the Grand 

River Summer Grazing Permits.” CR 52. His stated reasoning for this objection 
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was a letter from the Association indicating that “[u]nder no circumstances shall 

the second ‘Supplementary Agricultural Lease’ be in force nor shall Evridges 

receive any remuneration from this lease.” CR 52, 73.  That same letter was filed 

with the Court and referenced in support of Knecht’s objection to the 

Supplemental Lease’s validity in his Amended Complaint, Pretrial Submission, 

and Statement of Undisputed Material Facts in Support of Motion for Partial 

Summary Judgment. CR. 299, 324, 327, 1140. After the court trial, Knecht’s 

Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law included an ad damnum clause 

asking the court to find that Evridges were due no remuneration under the 

Supplemental Lease. CR. 2166. In response to Evridges’ Second Termination of 

the Lease, Knecht explained to the court that the Supplemental Lease not only 

violated the Association’s rules, but also the rules of the United States Forest 

Service, which is federal law. CR. 2196.  

Moreover, If Knecht’s objection to the validity of the Supplemental Lease 

was not clear to the Court from the statements referenced above, his Statement of 

Material Facts in Opposition to Evridges’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment 

surely resolves any doubt.  

The Supplemental Lease is unlawful and void from the beginning[.] … SDCL 

53-9-1 provides that a contract that is contrary to an express provision of law 

or policy of express law, though not expressly prohibited or otherwise contrary 

to good morals, is unlawful. See Commercial Trust and Sav.Bank v. 

Christensen, 535 N.W.2d 853, 858 (S.D. 1995) holding that relief is not 

generally granted under agreements that are unenforceable as against public 

policy and McKellips v. Mackintosh, 475 N.W.2d 926, 929 (S-D, 1991) 

holding that because “contract is void as against public policy it is unlawful 

and therefore, unenforceable under SDCL 53-9-1… The Supplemental 
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Agricultural Lease has been unlawful and void from the beginning, and no 

payments can be paid to Evridges under the unlawful Supplemental 

Agricultural Lease. 

 

CR 2331-2332, 2358. 

 

Even though Knecht did not state the specific provisions of federal law 

violated, his objections were “succinctly specific to put the circuit court on notice 

of the alleged error” because they informed the court of the action sought and were 

supported by sufficient evidence and reasoning.  Osdoba v. Kelley-Osdoba, 2018 

S.D. 43, ¶23, 913 N.W.2d 496, 503. Accordingly, this issue was properly 

preserved for review by this Court.   

III. The Supplemental Lease is Void as a Matter of Law 

Evridges confuse Knecht’s arguments in their response to his initial brief. 

They attempt to mislead this Court by transposing Knecht’s arguments into 

something they are not. Knecht did not argue the provisions in the Supplemental 

Lease are merely unlawful. Instead, he argues the Supplemental Lease is void as a 

matter of law because, as a whole, it violates several of the Association’s rules of 

management, which, in turn, violates 1) federal regulations, 2) the policy behind 

these regulations and; 3) public policy.  Law Capital Inc. v. Kettering, 2013 S.D. 

66, ¶10, 836 N.W.2d 642,645 (A contract contrary to an express provision or law, 

or policy of express law, is invalid and unenforceable). Such contracts may be 

held void or voidable. Warra v. Kane, 269 N.W.2d 395, 397. Void contracts are 

invalid and unlawful from inception.  Nature's 10 Jewelers v. Gunderson, 2002 

SD 80, 648 N.W.2d 804, 807. 
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The Association’s rules of management are a “set of policies, procedures, 

and practices developed by the Association for their use in administering livestock 

grazing” on federal land. CR. 869. These rules must meet certain criteria for 

approval by the U.S. Forest Service. 36 CFR § 222.7(a)(3)(iv). Upon approval, the 

rules of management are incorporated into and become a term and condition of the 

Association’s grazing agreement with the Forest Service.1 Any violations of the 

rules of management are considered violations of the terms and conditions of the 

grazing agreement. Id. Thus, violations of the rules of management are akin 

violating the very regulations that govern the grazing agreement.2 This fact is 

substantiated by the Association itself through correspondence addressed to both 

parties, which is discussed further in section D.  

A. The Supplemental Lease Violates Express Provisions of the Rules of 

Management  

 

 The Supplemental Lease violates several express provisions of the 

Association’s rules of management rendering it unlawful and void as a matter of 

law.  First, the rules of management expressly state that the Association “has full 

control of all leases and permits.” CR. 892. Therefore, any leases involving land 

attached to a grazing permit must first be approved. Before executing the 

                                                           
1 Eric Olsen, National Resources Division, Office of the General Counsel, U.S 

Department of Agriculture, National Grasslands Management, A primer. p.21 (1997), 

https://www.fs.fed.us/grasslands/documents/primer/NG_Primer.pdf (last accessed Nov. 

19, 2018). 
2 The Rules of management explicitly state that “the forest service is responsible for and 

retains the authority for the administration of grazing and all other uses on [federal] lands 

in accordance with applicable federal law.” CR. 873. 
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Supplemental Lease, Evridges presented the Association’s board with a lease 

proposing $30 cash rent per acre, which was rejected as too high. CR. 1837.  

Evridges then created two leases for the same ground; the Agricultural Lease at 

$28.55 per acre, and the Supplemental Lease requiring additional payment based 

upon a carrying capacity of 200 head cow/calf and six bulls. CR. 781, 787. The 

Supplemental Lease was secreted from the Association because it allowed 

Evridges to circumvent the rules by charging more rent than they could otherwise, 

and Evridges knew it was prohibited.3 This is a clear violation of the rule granting 

the Association full control of all leases and permits. CR. 892, 1837. The 

Supplemental Lease stripped the Association of its authority to govern all leases 

and instead put Evridges in the board’s shoes. Because violations of the rules of 

management are considered a violation of the terms and conditions of the grazing 

agreement, the lease violated 36 CFR § 222 and is void as a matter of law.   

 Second, pursuant to the Association’s rules of management, “all leases 

[involving grazing permits] ha[d] to be [filed with the] association office by March 

1st”. CR 893. During the August 31, 2015 trial, Evridges admitted that they were 

aware of this rule but neglected to follow it because they knew the lease was 

                                                           
3 36 CFR § 222 provides the Forest Service with authority to regulate grazing on federal 

land. This is the main purpose of the regulations and not “peripheral to the central 

purpose” as alleged by Evridges. Evridges’ Br. P.19. “The Chief, Forest Service, shall 

develop, administer and protect the range resources and permit and regulate the grazing 

use of all kinds and classes of livestock on all National Forest System lands and on 

other lands under Forest Service control.” 36 CFR §222.1(a). The Supplemental Lease 

usurps the Forest Service’s authority by allowing Evridges to create their own rules for 

grazing on federal land. This is a direct violation of the purpose and policy of 36 CFR § 

222. The Supplemental Lease is unlawful. 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=ac3321adb79a4e585775d2c277f32d9a&term_occur=1&term_src=Title:36:Chapter:II:Part:222:Subpart:A:222.1
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=0e021adadaf9e5614f61ef1ff96c6cc9&term_occur=1&term_src=Title:36:Chapter:II:Part:222:Subpart:A:222.1
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unlawful and would be rejected CR. 1751, 1752. Because the Supplemental Lease 

was not submitted to the association by March 1st, it violated an express provision 

of the rules of management which, in effect, violated 36 CFR § 222, an express 

provision of federal law. The Supplemental Lease is unlawful and void as a matter 

of law.  

 Third, the rules of management state that “[leases] cannot purport to assign 

or transfer a grazing preference” without prior approval from the board.4 CR. 892. 

However, the Supplemental Lease did exactly that. Evridges specifically told 

Knecht that the purpose or object of the Supplemental Lease was to provide him 

with access to the grazing privileges. CR. 2897. The lease also had no per acre 

cost but rather listed a carrying capacity identical to that of the grazing permit. CR. 

787. Furthermore, it was executed without the board’s authority several months 

before Knecht’s permit was approved. Because a lease cannot purport to assign or 

transfer a grazing preference without first being approved by the board, and the 

Supplemental Lease proceeded to do so, it violated an express provision of the 

rules of management and is therefore unlawful and void as a matter of law.  

 B. The Object of the Supplemental Lease is Unlawful  

 

                                                           
4 At trial, the executive director of the Association testified that a grazing privilege can in 

fact be leased, but only by the board, and only to someone that has previously been 

approved by the board (CR. 1536). The Supplemental Lease, which purported to transfer 

grazing privileges, was executed by Evridges (who are not board members) without prior 

approval from the board. CR. 1834. This is another clear example of Evridges’ self-

regulating grazing privileges on federal land in direct violation of the purpose and policy 

of 36 CFR § 222. 
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 A careful review of the Supplemental Lease clearly indicates the sole 

object of the lease itself is unlawful. Where a contract has but a single object, and 

such object is unlawful, in whole or in part, the entire contract is void. SDCL § 53-

5-3 (emphasis added).  “The object of a contract is the thing which it is agreed, on 

the part of the party receiving the consideration, to do or not to do.” Philbrick v. 

Landis 77 S.D. 90, 94, 86 N.W.2d 392, 394. As previously discussed, Evridges 

told Knecht that the Supplemental Lease provided him with use of their grazing 

permit. CR. 2897. The express provisions of the lease further confirmed this 

assertion because it identified a carrying capacity (rather than a price per acre) 

identical to that of the grazing permit. CR. 787. Its object and purpose was to 

provide additional rent over the amount allowed by the Association and to do so in 

secret.  Additionally, because the Agricultural Lease effectively provided Knecht 

with use of Evridges’ deeded acreage (while also including the grazing permit 

transfer on approval), it cannot be argued that the Supplemental Lease had 

alternative objects. That said, the lease’s sole object was to unlawfully assign or 

transfer a grazing preference in violation of the Association’s rules of management 

and 36 CFR § 222, an express provision of federal law. Accordingly, the 

Supplemental Lease is void as a matter of law. See Uhlig v. Garrison, 2 Dakota 

71, 2 N.W.253 (Dakota 1879) (Holding a contract for the lease of real property to 

be void where the object of the contract violated federal law.). 
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C. The Supplemental Lease Violates Public Policy  

 

“Public policy is that principle of law which holds that no person can 

lawfully do that which has a tendency to be injurious to the public or against 

public good.” State ex rel. Meierhenry v. Spiegel, Inc., 277 N.W.2d 298, 300. The 

Supplemental Lease was created solely to deceive Knecht and avoid federal 

regulations.  Its purpose was clearly against the public good and injurious to 

polices that aim to prevent harm to public land. 

 Evridges created the Supplemental Lease with knowledge of its 

invalidity. CR. 1837.  They then convinced Knecht to execute the lease and secret 

it from the grazing association to shield their wrongdoing and benefit financially. 

CR. 1356, 1752, 1753. It was therefore a contract in furtherance of Evridges’ fraud 

and unenforceable as against public policy.  SDCL § 53-9-3. Alternatively, the 

direct and indirect purpose or object of the Supplemental Lease is unlawful and 

contrary to the policy of express law. SDCL § 53-9-1. As mentioned above, the 

lease’s object – to transfer or assign grazing privileges without the board’s 

authority – was a direct violation of the Association’s rules and federal law. The 

lease was used to circumvent the Association’s limitation on the amount charged 

for leased acreage with grazing privileges. CR. 1752. Contrary to Evridges’ 

contention, a written provision in the rules of management specifying an 

acceptable amount per acre is not necessary. As specified in the rules, the 

Association “has full control of all leases and permits,” and their approval is a 

prerequisite to issuance of a grazing permit. CR. 892. More importantly, after 
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Evridges vetted the Association’s board to determine an acceptable amount of rent 

per acre, they knowingly created a second lease in direct violation of the rules 

which enabled them to charge more for rent. CR. 1837. That was indisputably 

wrong. Evridges further testified that they had “been leasing with multiple leases 

for 40 years” and it has become “customary” for members of the Association to 

execute two leases for the same ground. CR. 1752. Unfortunately, they were the 

ones that got caught. CR. 1753.  Furthermore, the attempt to circumvent the law 

by disguising the real intent of the contract under a valid agreement is unavailing 

when the contract is used to avoid public policy.  Neve v. Davis, 2009 S.D. 97, ¶ 

13, 775 N.W.2d 80, 83-84 (gambling debt not collectible); See also SDCL § 53-9-

3 (contracts that protect one from his own fraud void against public policy.) 

 This court must not ignore Evridges’ blatant disregard of the 

Association’s rules and its governing federal regulations. To do so would condone 

the intentional circumvention of established law through contract.  SDCL § 53-9-

1. It would also demonstrate to other Association members that violating the rules 

and laws governing those rules is of no consequence. This court must close the 

door to the unlawful practice of creating two leases for the same ground which has 

become customary among Association members. Upholding the validity of the 

Supplemental Lease is contrary to the public interest and inconsistent with sound 

policy and good morals. The Supplemental Lease is void as a matter of law. 

D. Reimbursement for Payments made on the Supplemental Lease 

is Required 
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As a matter of law, Evridges must not receive any remuneration for the 

Supplemental Lease because it violates the Association’s rules and federal law. 

This truth is confirmed by the Association itself through a series of letters 

addressed to both Knecht and Evridges.  In 2015, both parties received 

correspondence from the Association stating that “a violation of the rules of 

management between [Grand River] and the United States Forest Service … 

occurred” because the Supplemental Lease was not submitted to the Association 

by March 1st. CR. 866. Grand River further recommended that the parties operate 

solely under the Agricultural Lease agreement and terminate the Supplemental 

Lease. CR. 866.  A month later, Grand River indicated that “under no 

circumstance shall the second Supplemental Lease be in force, nor shall Evridges 

receive any remuneration from this lease.” CR. 798. The Association also 

explained that Knecht’s rent payments on the Supplemental Lease were in 

violation of their rules and to allow the payments to continue would constitute 

additional violations. CR. 2369.  

The Circuit Court was presented with this information on several occasions 

but ignored the Association’s clear determination that receipt of funds by Evridges 

on the Supplemental Lease violated federal rules governing the use of federal 

grasslands. CR 853. As a result, the Supplemental Lease was improperly validated 

by the Court requiring rent to be paid to Evirdges when no funds were due under 

the void lease. The Circuit Court abused its discretion by ordering the release of 

funds to Evridges because its ruling was based on an erroneous review of the law 
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or on a clearly erroneous assessment of evidence. Smizer v. Drey, 2016 S.D. 3, 

¶14, 873 N.W. 2d 697, 702. Evridges must be disgorged from the unlawful funds 

paid under the void Supplemental Lease.   

Given that the Supplemental Lease is unlawful and void, it cannot be 

enforced, and any payments made by Knecht under the void agreement must be 

returned. Although courts “generally do not grant restitution under agreements that 

are unenforceable on grounds of public policy” there is an exception to that rule. 

Commercial Trust and Sav. Bank v. Christensen, 535 N.W.2d 853, 859 (S.D. 

1995). Restitution may be granted for payments made under a contract that is void 

as against public policy to prevent forfeiture by party who is ignorant of technical 

rules or regulations. Id. When Knecht executed the Supplemental Lease agreement 

he was excusably ignorant of the Association’s rules. He had never been a member 

of the Association and had never grazed his cattle on federal land. CR. 1211, 1212. 

To his detriment, Knecht relied on Evridges intentional misrepresentation that the 

agreement was valid and necessary for use of their grazing permit. CR. 2897. 

Knecht then made payments on the unlawful lease under the mistaken belief that it 

was enforceable. CR. 799. Had Knecht known that the lease was unlawful, he 

would not have agreed to its terms. And it would be inequitable for this Court to 

allow Evridges to profit from Knecht’s erroneous belief in the legality of the void 

contract, especially considering that Evridges’ intentional misrepresentations are 

what led to such belief. Knecht brought suit and challenged the legality of the 
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Supplemental Lease lost and funds by Circuit Court order. Knecht must be 

reimbursed for the payments made under the void Supplemental Lease.   

E. Damage Award for 2016 must be Reversed and Remanded. 

 

Because the Supplemental Lease is void as a matter of law, a proper 

instruction informing the jury of that fact would have produced a different result. 

Instead, the Jury heard that Knecht terminated the Supplemental Lease for 2016, 

which prevented it from considering that the breaches of the Agricultural Lease 

were duties Evridges had under contract regardless of termination of the other 

lease. This error caused the jury to award no damages for the 2016 breaches. Dartt 

v. Berghorst, 484 N.W. 2d 891, 895 (S.D. 1992) (Instructions must give a full and 

correct statement of the applicable law.).   

Evridges wrongly allege this issue was waived because Knecht failed to 

object or propose an instruction on these grounds. The case presented to the jury 

did not include the issues because the lease at issue was terminated by Knecht 

when it should have been declared void ab initio. The record clearly illustrates that 

Knecht objected to Evridges’ attempts to admit Judge Macy’s Orders regarding 

the validity of the Supplemental Lease throughout the jury trial. CR. 3969, 4149. 

Furthermore, any attempt to propose an instruction to the contrary would be futile 

because the issue was decided by the Circuit Court’s interlocutory Orders and 

could not be addressed until this appeal.  The jury was instructed on an incorrect 

rule of law regarding these damages, and failure to object doesn’t waive the issue. 

Estate of Billings v. Deadwood Congregation of Jehovah Wit. 506 N.W..2d 138, 
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143 (S.D. 1993) (verdict resulting from palpable mistake of law on how to 

measure damages, new trial necessary).  

IV. Summary Judgment dismissing the Fraud and Deceit Claims was Error. 

 

Evridges’ allegation that Knecht failed to raise issues argued on appeal is 

false. While Knecht’s initial response to Evridges’ Motion for Summary Judgment 

may not contain such arguments, his Motion for Reconsideration certainly does. 

CR. 3022, 3028. Accordingly, Knecht’s arguments pertaining to his fraud and 

deceit claims were preserved below. 

A. Evridges owed a Duty to Knecht Independent of Contract. 

The Circuit Court erred in granting partial summary judgment for Evridges 

on Knecht’s fraud and deceit claims. No fiduciary or other relationship is 

necessary to establish a duty independent of contract. This Court has held that a 

party to a business transaction has a duty to disclose facts basic to the transaction. 

[T]he facts basic to the transaction analysis is best suited to cases in which 

the advantage taken of the plaintiff's ignorance is so shocking to the ethical 

sense of the community and is so extreme and unfair as to amount to a form 

of swindling, in which the plaintiff is led by appearances into a bargain that 

is a trap, of whose essence and substance he is unaware. Ducheneaux v. 

Miller, 488 N.W.2d at 913 (quoting Restatement (Second) Torts § 

551(2)(e)(cmt 1)).  

 

Lindskov v Lindskov, 2011 S.D. 34, ¶18, 800 N.W.2d 715. Evridges had a duty to 

disclose facts basic to the transaction that were 1) unknown to Knecht; 2) 

reasonably expected due to the nature of their agreement; and 3) not otherwise 

discoverable by reasonable care. Ducheneaux, 488 N.W.2d at 913. The true nature 
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of the Supplemental Lease was unknown to Knecht, and he believed it to be valid. 

Knecht would reasonably expect disclosure of the lease’s true object or intent 

because he sought use of the grazing permit and would not knowingly agree to a 

contract endangering that use or a contract in violation of law. The lease’s 

invalidity was not reasonably discoverable by Knecht because at the time of 

execution he had no knowledge of the Association’s rules and was not afforded an 

opportunity to learn. When Evridges and Knecht met to execute the contracts, 

Evridges “were set on wrapping things up that evening” despite Knecht’s lack of 

knowledge. CR. 1211.  

Had Evridges disclosed the truth about the Supplemental Lease instead of 

intentionally misleading Knecht to believe otherwise, this lawsuit would not be in 

front of this court. Nevertheless, Evridges had a duty to disclose material facts 

basic to the transaction and failed to do so. See Ducheneaux, 488 N.W.2d at 913 

(Failure to disclose material facts about inability to comply with law “deemed 

basic to the transaction”).  Knecht’s tort claims must be presented to a jury.   

B. Deceit and Fraud were Supported by the Evidence   

Pursuant to SDCL § 20-10-1(3), deceit is established by “the suppression of 

a fact by one who is bound to disclose it, or who gives information of other facts 

which are likely to mislead for want of communication of that fact; or a promise 

made without any intention of performing[.]” Fraud occurs by “the suppression of 

that which is trust by one having knowledge or belief of the facts; a promise made 

without any intention of performing it; or any other act fitted to deceive. SDCL 
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§53-4-5. And” [f]raudulent inducement entails willfully deceiving persons to act 

to their disadvantage.” Law Capital, Inc. v. Kettering, 836 N.W. 2d 642, 646 (S.D. 

2013).  

Again, Evridges had a duty to disclose the object and their true intent with 

the Supplemental Lease to Knecht and deceived him by failing to do so. SDCL 

§20-10-2(3). Had Knecht known the lease was unlawful and would not be allowed 

by the Association, he would not have agreed to its terms. See Ducheneaux, 488 

N.W.2d at 913 (deceit where material facts about inability to comply with law 

withheld). When Knecht questioned why the lease was to be secreted, Evridges 

willfully mislead him by stating they simply did not want people knowing their 

business. CR. 1356. Evridges further deceived and defrauded Knecht by failing to 

fulfill promises regarding performance on both leases which they had no intention 

of performing. CR.  1128.   

Before Knecht agreed to the Supplemental Lease, he inquired about the 

necessity of two leases and was told it was the only way Evirdges could lease their 

land. CR. 799, 1356. This was false, and Evridges intentionally misrepresented the 

nature and purpose of the Supplemental Lease to Knecht’s detriment. They knew 

the Association’s discovery of the Supplemental Lease would cause Knecht to lose 

his grazing permit but failed to inform him of that fact because they benefited 

financially from the agreement. CR. 799, 1356. That is fraud. Knecht’s claims of 

fraud and deceit were supported by the evidence and the Circuit Court’s dismissal 

of such claims must be reversed and remanded.  
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CONCLUSION 

For all these reasons, as well as those stated in Knecht’s other briefings on 

this matter, the Judgment must be reversed in part and remanded. 

Dated at Sioux Falls, South Dakota, this 22nd day of January, 2019. 
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